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We acknowledge and respect the traditional custodians 
of the lands where we stand today,
We acknowledge Elders past and present,
The pioneers whose toil inspires us still;
And those who gave their lives, that we may now,
On this past, a vibrant future build.
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Attachment 1: Financial Statements

Local Government Act 1993
Murray River Council’s annual reporting requirements are 
set out in the Local Government Act 1993 (the Act) (section 
428) and the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 
(the Regulation) (clause 217). This Report has been prepared 
in line with these requirements, fulfilling Council’s obligations 
under the Act. This Report, in total, covers the period from 1 
July 2021 to 30 June 2022.

© Murray River Council 2022

Published by
Murray River Council
PO Box 906 Moama NSW 2731
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    Murray River Council has vibrant, 
diverse and cohesive communities. 
     We are supported by strong local 
business and primary industries.       
     We value our beautiful waterways 
			   and natural surrounds.
						            Murray River Council Vision

“
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Mayor’s Message
with Cr Chris Bilkey

Two years of living with COVID and some 
unpredictable weather events make us very wary 
of making any predictions and plans, and those 
we do make have to be hedged with ‘ifs and buts’. 
Nonetheless, at Council, we have to make plans. 
The State Government demands it of us, and it 
makes good sense anyway. 

So we have long-term plans to construct, and from 
these we derive our medium-term plans and short-
term plans, as well as yearly budgets. The most 
important of these is our Community Strategic Plan 
(CSP) which we updated during this past year. It’s a 
ten-year look ahead to the key strategic directions 
we as a community want to pursue, and it is from 
this plan that all the others take their lead. 

In early 2022 we completed a period of extensive 
consultation to gather the community’s big, 
strategic ideas to help inform the development 
of this document. It’s not called a COMMUNITY 
Strategic Plan for nothing; it is driven by the 
community we serve. All this feedback led to the 
development of our new plan for 2022 to 2023 
along with the corresponding program of works for 
the next 4 years. This drives everything we do here, 
so it was great to get this important planning done 
early in the term of the new council. 

And as we talk about planning, what do you think 
is the biggest item in our expense column of the 
Council’s accounts? Employee salaries? Road 
maintenance? Water and sewer costs? No. It’s 
depreciation. And it reflects the success we have 

had through building the Council assets via grants 
and Council investment in our roads, sporting 
facilities, bridges and so on. Every time we build 
one of those we have to add an expense to our 
budget that reflects the expected maintenance cost. 
It has put our budget into deficit and represents a 
challenge for us to manage. So, another big project 
we commenced this year is a review of our assets 
to make sure they are properly valued (and that the 
depreciation figure is right), and whether the rates 
of depreciation are appropriate. It’s a big job, but it 
has to be done to get things right. 

Throughout the year, and indeed beyond, we have 
been looking at ways of offsetting these rising costs, 
and one of those ways is to generate income over 
and above those represented by rates, fees and 
charges. This is where our new Revenue Taskforce 
Committee comes in. This committee was also 
developed this year and is tasked with identifying 
ways of generating increased revenue to support 
the expenditure requirements of our communities. 
One option is to capitalise on some of our land 
assets by developing them for residential, business 
or industrial use, and that continues to be one of 
the areas we will focus on. 

So, as we reflect on the 21/22 year it’s interesting 
to note that it held the lowest of lows for our area 
with border closures and restrictions whilst also 
boasting some positive achievements too with local 
events, projects and awards. You’ll see some of 
these achievements in our highlights section of this 
report. 
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CEO

CEO Message
with Terry Dodds

The last year has been a mixed bag for council, 
the region, and beyond. Council is part of a wider 
community and was challenged no differently 
to the rest of the country as Australia exited the 
lockdowns as COVID rules changed. The challenges 
morphed from working from home and reducing 
potential personal contact to managing a runaway 
economy with the pressures that a lack of supply 
and increased demand (stimulus) caused. Many 
of our larger projects have had cost escalations of 
about 40%. Not only did we see prices change, with 
steel the main one, we saw contractors and sub-
contractors struggling to deliver. This was caused 
by the break in world-wide supply chains and a 
labour shortage. Regardless of this council still 
delivered our major projects and haven’t changed 
our long-term strategies. One such strategy was to 
finish retiring all our timber bridges by replacing 
with concrete. 

Some of the activity’s council does aren’t widely 
recognised. As the two other levels of government 
struggle to balance their budgets, wants, and 
needs, the pressure inevitably cascades down to 
the local government level. Add the fact that as 
Murray River Council is on the border with Victoria, 
often Victorian government policy changes affects 
us just as much as NSW changes. Whilst both 
governments have the best intentions, often due to 
a lack of understanding, communication, or other 
reasons, council is forced onto ‘defence mode’ to 
try to either stop something happening which will 
adversely affect us, or change some of the detail. 

Unfortunately, all governments (not just in 
Australia) have been and still are guilty of a lack of 

genuine collaboration when it comes to changing 
our lives. To that end Murray River Council has 
had to get on the front foot (too) many times 
over the last financial year. Council advocated to 
both the Victorian government and NSW regards 
changing the rules surrounding the Border Bubble. 
Council made a submission into the enquiry on 
Puppy Farms and the proposed land re-zoning tax.  
Council also, quite often and with much vigour, 
supported the Local Government Association of 
NSW in their endeavours to advocate on behalf of 
the whole industry. This was especially relevant and 
critically important regards the attempt by the then 
Planning Minister to take development contribution 
monies from councils and re-distribute as the State 
chose. Another strong advocacy role revolved 
around the condemnation of the new Planning 
Portal, which was supposed to ‘help’ us.

State governments of all political persuasions 
have similar dilemmas, that being they struggle 
to harvest and disseminate the vast quantity of 
information and differing circumstances in each 
region, or sometimes each council, in a timely 
manner; if at all. So therefore, there’ll always be 
a need for councils to protect our interests and 
advocate for the correct alignment of government 
policy. 

During 2021/2022 council was recognised by 
Macquarie University’s ‘The Voice Project’ for 
excellence in developing staff culture by being 
awarded the Change Challenge trophy. This was 
an enormous achievement for council, and a very 
proud moment for all, as only one other local 
government has ever won the ‘Change Challenge’. 
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Our framework
All NSW Councils are required to deliver their operations 
based on the Integrated Planning and Reporting (IP&R) 
framework. The framework allows Councils to draw together 
their various plans, strategies and reports, understand how 
they interact and get the maximum influence from their 
efforts by planning and taking a big-picture-view of the 
future. 

Each year, Council will report to the community on the implementation of the 
Delivery Program and the Operational Plan and Budget. The Annual Report 
includes Council’s Audited Report and other formal reporting as required by the 
Local Government Act 1993 (the ‘Act’).

State Plans & Strategies

JO Statement of Strategic 
Regional Priorities

Relevant Regional Plans                   
& Priorities

Community Strategic Plan

Other Council Strategies & Plans 
Examples include:

Disability Inclusion Access Plan
Local Strategic Planning Statement

Environmental Strategies

Resourcing Strategy
Workforce Management Strategy

Long-Term Financial Plan

Asset Management Strategy & Plans

Delivery Program

Operational Plan /                      
Yearly Budget

Annual Report

Community Engagement Strategy
May include Community                   

Participation Plan

Ongoing monitoring & review

Ongoing monitoring & review
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Workforce Management Strategy
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Operational Plan /                      
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Purpose 
The Annual Report is the key method for Council to maintain 
accountability and transparency with the community and is 
prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1993.

This Annual Report provides a comprehensive account of Murray 
River Council’s performance from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022, 
detailing progress made against the Operational Plan for 2021-22. 

The audited financial statements are also required to be included as 
an attachment to this report. 

It should be noted that all financial information, disclosed in this 
Annual Report are drawn from draft, unaudited results and is 
subject to review and adjustment as part of the audit process. 

Report structure 
This Annual Report includes highlights for the year, information 
on the region, Councillors and the organisation, as well as specific 
information required under legislation. 

Details on performance against the Operational Plan for 2021-22 
is detailed in our Delivery Report and is structured around the 
Community Strategic Plan (2017-2021) Themes:
•	 Sustainable Built Physical Environment
•	 Natural Environment
•	 Social Wellbeing
•	 Economic Growth
•	 Leadership and Governance

About this report
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Our region, our community
Murray River Council covers an area of 11,865 square kilometres, is home to approximately 12,373 
residents and is one of the fastest growing regional centres in NSW. 

The main population centres include Barham, Mathoura, Moama, Moulamein, Murray Downs, Tooleybuc 
and Wakool. Other vibrant villages include Bunnaloo, Goodnight, Koraleigh and Womboota. 

The area offers a remarkable and diverse natural environment, including irrigated and dryland 
agriculture, majestic sweeping plains, magnificent stands of Red Gum forests, and is almost totally 
surrounded by the mighty Murray River and its tributaries.

Murray River’s natural assets continue to attract locals and visitors alike, forming the backdrop to many 
recreational activities. With tourism, industry and an idyllic rural lifestyle, Murray River continues to 
grow and prosper.
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Our Councillors
Murray River Council sits in the Federal Electorate of Farrer and the State Electorate of Murray. 
Three Councillors are elected from each of the three wards that make up the municipality:

•	 Moama Ward - taking in the township of Moama
•	 Greater Murray Ward - taking in the area of the former Murray Shire, minus Moama
•	 Greater Wakool Ward - taking in the area of the former Wakool Shire.

M
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ard

MAYOR
Cr Chris Bilkey 

Cr Kron Nicholas Cr Thomas Weyrich Cr Geoff Wise

Cr Dennis Gleeson Cr Neil Gorey Cr Ann Crowe
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Cr Nikki CohenDEPUTY MAYOR
Cr Frank Crawley
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The image below outlines Murray River Council’s organisational structure. 

This updated structure was adopted in the 2021/2022 year, with directorates and business units aligning 
with the strategic objectives in our new Community Strategic Plan: 2022-2032.

Our progress towards implementation of these strategic objectives, along with our projects and 
programs of works is now noted in our Monthly Operational Reports (published in the Council Meeting 
Agenda), via the business units outlined below.

Our organisation 

Office of the CEO

Infrastructure 
Directorate 

Planning & Environment 
Directorate 

Community & Economic 
Development Directorate 

Corporate Services 
Directorate 

Strategic Assets 

Business Intelligence 

 Finance

Governance & Risk 

Water, Waste Water & 
Sewerage Services 

Works

Plant, Fleet & Stores 

Major Projects

Buildings & Facilities

Waste & Compliance 
Services 

Planning Services Economic Development 
& Tourism 

Customer Service

Community Services

Property & Procurement

 Parks, Gardens, Open 
Spaces and Biosecurity

Building Services 

People, WHS & Wellbeing 

 Organisational 
Development

Community Engagement 
& Communication

 Information Technology 
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Community 
engagement about 
our plans & services

What we do
In the 2021/22 year, Murray River Council had five key business areas, including the Office of the CEO, 
Infrastructure Directorate, Planning and Environment Directorate, Corporate Services Directorate and 
Community and Economic Development Directorate.

We have staff based in offices and depots at various locations including Barham, Moama, Mathoura 
Moulamein and Tooleybuc. 

We provide We manage

Waste management 
& recycling

Pet registration & 
animal control

Licensing & regulatory 
services

Tourism & economic 
development

Youth programs

Community servicesLibrary services

Events and facilities

Assessment 
of residential 
& commercial 
development

Water & sewer 
services

The local road 
network

The local bridge 
network

Playgrounds

Footpaths, walkways 
& bike tracks

Parks, gardens                    
& open spaces

Waste management 
facilities

Weeds and local 
biosecurity

Sporting grounds & 
pools

Cemeteries

s
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Purpose
The purpose of this report is to provide an 
overview of the activities of the Audit, Risk & 
Improvement Committee in 2021-2022.

Background and new committee

Murray River Council’s (MRC) Audit & Risk 
Committee (A&RC) commenced its second 
term from the induction of the new Council in 
December, 2021. The inaugural committee ran 
from mid-2018 until then.

There were several changes associated with the 
committee’s second term, notably:

•	 Membership changes – Suzanna Barry 
and Jean Sutherland were welcomed as new 
independent members of the committee, 
replacing Frank Crawley and Jodie Morgan. 
Councillors Frank Crawley and Kron Nicholas 
were welcomed as the councillor members, 
taking over from Councillors Nikki Cohen and 
Neil Gorey. Richard Ham remained as the 
independent chair for a second term.

•	 Internal Auditor Change – the internal audit 
function during the committee’s first term was 
outsourced under contract to RSD, a specialist 
audit firm based in Bendigo, Victoria. The 
internal auditor role was re-tendered at the end 
of RSD’s term and Centium, a Sydney based 
audit firm was contracted to fulfill the role. It 
will be recalled that Centium reported on the 
Murray River Energy Project. Centium’s Penny 
Corkhill is their director who manages internal 
audits and attends MRC audit meetings.

•	 Stephen Fernando was welcomed as the 
newly appointed Director, Corporate Services 
at MRC and settled in as a key member of 
management and link with the audit committee.

•	 Under State government guidance, during 
2022 MRC’s Audit & Risk Committee became the 
Audit, Risk & Improvement Committee (ARIC), 
thereby adding more focus to the committee’s 
scope of inquiry relative to risk management, 
compliance and process improvement.

•	 MRC’s internal audit charter was reviewed 
with minor updates made.

A big thank you is extended to Frank, Jodie, Nikki 
and Neil for their contribution to the committee 
during its first term, also to Councillor Ann Crowe 
and former councillor Gen Campbell, who were 
Council’s initial representatives on the committee.

Notwithstanding some change, the functions of 
MRC’s ARIC remain essentially the same as during 
its first term. ARIC has no executive or decision-
making powers, it has a purely advisory role to 
Council and Council management, with powers of 
recommendation only. 

NSW State Government/Office of Local 
Government requires ARICs to review and provide 
independent assurance and assistance to Council 
by way of policy and process improvement 
across a range of Council operations covering 
compliance, risk management, fraud control, 
finance, governance and external accountability.

Committee Membership

Since the last annual audit committee report in 
early November 2021, MRC’s audit committee has 
held one meeting on 10/11/21 of the previous 
committee and, four meetings of the new 
committee as follows:

Audit and Risk Committee Report
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Attendance

Members Meeting dates
05/07/2021 09/08/2021 10/11/2021 07/02/2022 09/05/2022

Independent Member/Chair - 
Richard Ham a a a a a

Independent Member - 
Frank Crawley a a a

Councillor - Frank Crawley a a
Independent Member - 
Jodie Morgan a a a

Councillor - Nikki Cohen a a a

Councillor - Neil Gorey a a a
Independent Member -              
Suzanna Barry a a

Independent Member -    
Jean Sutherland a a

Councillor - Kron Nicholas   a a

I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
all committee members for their involvement 
in ARIC and for their support to Council in 
addressing the risk management and other 
matters that have come before ARIC in 2022.

Special mention must be made of Sandra 
Gordon’s diligence and considerable effort 
expended in supporting and managing ARIC 
matters through various stages with Council staff, 
Centium’s audit staff and the committee. It is 
interesting that it is only when you have worked 
with Sandy that you appreciate fully the range of 
matters/accountabilities she covers in her role as 
Manager, Governance & Risk. Well done Sandy 
and thank you for your work with ARIC.

Both Sandy and Kris Kershaw, Manager Finance, 
have provided excellent input and support to 
ARIC – their open communication and follow-up 
on matters raised by ARIC members has been 
exemplary. Thank you Kris. ARIC is grateful for 
your efforts.

Matters addressed

At each meeting, ARIC reviews progress in 
relation to recommendations made in previous 
internal audit reports, including Procurement 
& Accounts Payable, Developer Contributions, 
Staffing, Project Management and Murray River 
Energy reports. 

Other matters addressed in 2021-2022 have 
included:

•	 Finance & Accounts. ARIC monitors and 
reviews regularly MRC’s financial statements, 
budgets and Audit Office/external auditor 
letters. Several key aspects have been raised 
for consideration: the extent of the high 
depreciation charge following government 
grant expenditure on new assets in MRC and 
the revaluation of fixed assets, the negative 
impact this is having on Council’s net income/
loss position, the additional funding required, 
the extent cost recovery and “user pays” plays in 
Council’s funding and, the deterioration in some 
key MRC financial ratios monitored at State level 
for all councils in NSW.
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•	 Clarification and documentation of MRC S355 
committee and subsidiary bodies’ roles, assets, 
liabilities and responsibility for income and 
expenditure on facilities has been raised for 
management’s attention.

•	 Internal Audit - Waste Management & 
Landfill. This report was completed by RSD 
and reviewed by ARIC with MRC management. 
ARIC commented on aspects of the Waste 
Management Strategy that were outlined by 
management.

•	 Internal Audit - Development Services. This 
was Centium’s first report reviewed by ARIC.

•	 The resolution of outstanding Murray River 
Energy issues and consideration of ongoing 
aspects with the Office of Local Government 
investigation.

•	 Investment Policy Review. Several 
recommendations were made to Council 
regarding its Investment Policy.

•	 ARIC reviewed and recommended to Council 
that its Economic Development Assistance 
Policy be reviewed/updated urgently and cross 
referenced to its Community Strategic Plan and 
the Project Management Framework.

•	 The Moama Pre-School and Bridge Arts 
project proposals were recommended for 
further work and review in the light of changing 
conditions. The 2021 Moama Lights outcome 
was reviewed.

•	 Council’s Risk Management Policy, Plan & 
Procedure was reviewed with the observation 
that given MRC’s lengthy exposure to the 
Murray River and the river traffic coming from 
Victoria, there is a major risk to the Murray’s 
banks and to water quality which Council should 
consider actively addressing at State level.

•	 Cyber Security and the implementation of 
the new software system Tech One at MRC.

Concluding remarks

MRC’s ARIC continues to fulfil its role as a “fit 
for purpose” (audit, risk and improvement) 
committee of Council.

Pressures on councils (in addition to normal day 
to day operations) continue to build and MRC is 
no exception. Development pressures, security, 
compliance and resourcing issues, climate and 
energy changes, all require consideration and 
attention, including risk assessments and the 
preparation of risk mitigation strategies with 
associated and appropriate plans, policies and 
procedures as well as funding. 

MRC’s ARIC is, and will continue to be, involved in 
addressing and negotiating the best way forward 
to help Council meet the pressures ahead. 

Richard Ham,
MRC ARIC Chair
13/10/22



Murray River Council 21/22 Annual Report18

Year in Review         
          The highlights
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Introduction of online cemetery 
records 

Earlier this year, Council launched its new digital 
platform for the management of cemetery data, 
with a view to increasing the service levels to the 
community and creating internal administration 
efficiencies.

The project saw the implementation of 
digital cemetery records for all 6 operational 
cemeteries including Barham, Mathoura Lawn, 
Mathoura Pioneer, Moama, Moulamein and 
Tooleybuc. 

This includes drone aerial surveying to create 
high resolution images, along with ground 
surveying to capture GPS co-ordinates and 
information relating to each known grave.

With the ability to visit the Murray River Council 
cemetery map online, it’s no problem for visitors 
to find graves themselves by accessing the 
database, easily, from anywhere and at any time. 

Where previously, families and other visitors to 
the cemeteries were not able to see plots they 
may have been interested in over a phone call, 
they’re now able to access a highly accurate map 
that offers a stunning visual representation of 
the cemetery’s grounds and details of every plot 
within.

-This project also received an Award at the 2022 
Local Government Awards in August: ‘Winner, 
Reporting to Your Community’ category. 

Moama Lights awards

The inaugural Moama Lights event received 
several award nods during the 2021/22 financial 
year.

An immersive sound and light trail showcasing 
the story of Echuca Moama, the event featured 
light installations and projections at Moama’s 
Horseshoe Lagoon, including theatrical fog, 
strobe and cutting-edge moving light technology. 

Running from the 8-22 May 2021, the event saw 
over 15,000 tickets registered with visitation 
from all states and territories across Australia. 
The second event in August 2022, saw almost 
twice as many attendees.

Award recognitions include:

•	 Winner of the ‘Economic Development 
Initiatives - Regions Under 15,000 Residents’ 
category at the Economic Development 
Awards for Excellence.

•	 Finalist in the 2021 National Economic 
Development Awards for Excellence 

•	 Bronze award in the ‘Festival and Events’ 
category of the NSW Tourism Awards

•	 Winner of the ‘Innovation and Special 
Events’ award category at the 2022 Local 
Government Awards (awarded in the 22/23 
year)
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FOGO implementation

Late 2021 and early 2022 saw a lot of behind-
the-scenes planning for the implementation of 
the new FOGO (Food Organics Garden Organics) 
service across the council.

The 3-bin Food Organics Garden Organics 
system was introduced to provide residents with 
more options for separating their waste, with 
the aim of improving recovery rates, increasing 
organic material diversion from landfill and 
reducing processing costs.

As well as a new green bin and kitchen 
benchtop caddy, residents were to receive some 
household information materials so they know 
what to put in each bin and how the collection 
service will work.

The Waste Team dedicated a large amount of 
time and resources to ensure the program was 
ready to launch on July 1, 2022.  

Community Strategic Plan 
development

In February 2022, we spent a week travelling the 
Council area holding consultation sessions with 
the community to capture ideas and feedback to 
help us develop our new Community Strategic 
Plan.

We also opened a range of online tools and 
feedback methods so that our residents could 
share their projects and suggestions.

We had over 200 people turn up to the face-
to-face sessions and collected 1017 ideas. This 
ranged from the very easily addressed to the big 
picture suggestions. 

The new ten-year plan was developed on the 
back of this consultation and was adopted in 
April 2022. 

All ideas submitted were also collated to form 
projects and programs of works in the 4-year 
Delivery Program and Yearly Operational Plans. 
These were adopted in June. 

Launch of TechnologyOne

One of Council’s most important internal 
projects was the stage-one delivery of the new 
TechONE Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
system. 

Stage-one saw the implementation of a single, 
integrated software approach to manage day-
to-day business activities, such as accounting, 
procurement, order management, inventory 
management, labour, work schedules and 
payroll. 

This was a big step for the organisation as 
TechONE has tied together various business 
processes and enabled the flow of data between 
them. Stage-two - which relates to customer 
management - is continuing to be configured. 
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Meninya Street Precinct Project 

Council formally launched Moama’s Meninya 
Street Precinct redevelopment in late 2021, 
after appointing a project manager and local 
community committee to oversee the delivery of 
the project.

Since then, the project has continued with much 
momentum including the development and 
public display of the concept designs for the 
precinct. 

The Meninya Street Precinct Project is one of 
Council’s largest projects that aims to transform 
the heart of Moama into a vibrant precinct of 
social and economic activity.

Focusing on increasing pedestrian activity and 
economic development within Moama, the 
project also aims to improve safety, accessibility 
and visual appearance of the streetscape.

It will be a multi-year project to be delivered as 
funding opportunities arise.

Revenue Taskforce Committee

Council established a Revenue Taskforce 
Advisory Committee to provide advice on 
options to generate increased revenue to 
support services and expenditure.

The Revenue Taskforce Advisory Committee will 
operate for a twelve-month period, report to 

council monthly and deliver a final report at the 
end of its tenure with recommended directions 
to support increased revenue.

The Committee comprises membership of the 
Mayor and representative councillors from all 
three council wards.

The Committee is also supported by Council 
administration, led by the new, temporary 
position of Director Special Projects.

While council is continues to implement a 
program of improvement in its business 
operations, the Revenue Taskforce Advisory 
Committee is focusing on the need to identify 
ways of generating increased revenue to 
support the expenditure requirements of our 
communities.

New corporate website

In November 2021, council launched a new and 
updated corporate website.

Content for the new website was totally re-
written to ensure accuracy and a fresh approach 
and the design offered a more user-friendly 
experience with improved navigation and 
functionality.

Created with the user experience in mind, our 
site introduced updated features to ensure 
customers can find the information they need.

ROOFTOP BAR 
PHOTO SIMULATION
Prepared For: Murray River Council

Prepared By:  Thomson Hay Landscape Architects
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Building and Development 
Checklists

The Development Services Team produced a 
suite of development and building checklists to 
guide the community through the application 
process on the NSW Planning Portal. 

The comprehensive checklists and supporting 
information sheets were developed to assist the 
applicant through all the steps and necessary 
information needed when lodging applications 
online.

Online lodgement became mandatory in all NSW 
councils from July 1, 2021.

Staff developed the tools to not only ensure 
customers know what to prepare and the steps 
involved, but to also help alleviate delays in the 
overall process.

Mobile Library and Service Centre

Council established its own mobile library and 
service centre, which was delivered at the end of 
2021.

Council was awarded funding under the 
2019/2020 Public Library Infrastructure Program 
to invest in a mobile library truck, which will offer 
access to services for residents in our remote 
communities. 

So far the centre has been very well received by 
our communities. 

The mobile library offers: 
• Library services 
• Access to council services and information 
• Access to online government portals 
• Community information. 

The mobile library visits the communities of 
Murray Downs, Wakool and Tooleybuc on a 
fortnightly basis.

Continual Management of Change 
framework 
 
In 2021 Council started working in accordance 
with the continual management of change 
framework. 

This has thus far encompassed the introduction 
of an accountabilities framework, revised 
organisation structure to create stronger 
customer focus, and the introduction of Monthly 
Operating Reports. 

This is all in the aim of achieving our 
goals of Purpose, Alignment, Clarity, Trust 
(empowerment), Measure, Manage, Improve and 
Celebrate.

-This project also received an Award at the 2022 
Statewide Mutual Risk Management Excellence 
Awards: ‘Winner, Strategic Enterprise Risk 
Initiative’ category. 
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Timber bridge replacement

In exciting news for those that regularly utilise 
our transport routes, the 21/22 year saw council 
award the contract for the replacement of all 
remaining timber bridges in the municipality.

This was a great achievement after years of 
gradual replacement thanks to behind-the-
scenes planning and grant applications from our 
Infrastructure Team.

Smart water meter finalisation

To help conserve our water resources, Council
undertook a council-wide smart water meter
installation program; replacing outdated 
manual-read water meters with new,
automatic devices on filtered and raw water
services. The project hit finalisation stage in early 
2022. 

This project has made a significant contribution
to our water security by reducing water loss
caused by leaks and encouraging community
awareness around water usage at properties. It
is also assisting council in managing our water
supplies to meet growing demands now, and 
into the future.

Border Advocacy campaign 

In July 2021 – during another round of local 
border closures - Council led a border advocacy 
campaign focused on changing the border to a 
‘green zone’ and working with governments to 
develop sustainable, longer-term solutions for 
border communities.

Council didn’t criticise government, rather 
encouraged them to work with local leaders 
to develop a strategy that encompasses more 
practical economic options when faced with 
restrictions resulting from COVID-related 
outbreaks.

A key part of the advocacy initiative was 
to generate media coverage to ensure the 
economic importance of the region became 
apparent. To achieve this outcome, Council’s 
communication campaign targeted mainstream 
media in Melbourne and Sydney, with local 
businesses sharing stories of the impact of the 
enormous economic hit the region had taken.

Council also worked to connect State 
Governments with local leaders to develop 
a strategy permitting Victorians to cross the 
border to save local businesses and jobs.
This was about offering solutions (on either 
side of the border), so governments could have 
confidence in keeping the region green going 
forward.

-This project also received an Award at the 2022 
Local Government Awards in August: ‘Highly 
Commended, Excellence in Communication’ 
category. 
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Promote a Sustainable                     
Built Physical Environment

         
We want our built and physical 
environment to be well planned, 
connected, and safe, and designed to 
support our communities, industries 
and businesses.
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1.1.1  Support each township to develop their unique character. 

Action Result 

Encourage community 
groups to undertake 
projects that promote 
heritage and identity 
 

Increased attendance in 2021-2022, by staff, at Section 355 meetings 
and other committees of Council.  Council has 26 Section 355 
committees spread across the LGA.   
Attended meetings of community groups such as Barham Consolidated, 
Moulamein Community Development Inc, Tooleybuc Piangil Action 
Group, Moulamein Menshed, and the like. 
Council staff have assisted with the following projects: 
Moulamein Heritage Village 
 During 2021/2022 Moulamein Community Development Inc secured 

funding to commence Stage 2 of the construction of the heritage 
village and associated works. 

 $95,000 construction of amenities block (Drought Communities 
Program Tranche 2)  

 $50,000 construction of shed to 
 house and display large vehicles 
 and  equipment (Drought          
 Communities  Program Tranche 2) 
 $149,930 reconstruction of Werai 
 Horse  Stables and Moolpa 
 Blacksmiths shop. 
 
 
 

Mathoura Timber Heritage Walk – Stage 2 was completed 

 
Wakool Men’s Shed 
A volunteer committee formed to commence a new Men’s Shed charter 
in Wakool.  $20,000 secured through Drought Communities Program to 
fit out a shed on the Wakool Recreation Reserve to meet and carry out 
activities under the new charter. 
Backroads Trail 
The Backroads Trail Committee started work on a series of podcast 
episodes to tell the stories of the people and the places that make the 
Backroads Trail region what it is. This was assisted by a Community 
Grant from Murray River Council. 
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Friends of Old Moama  
Is working with the Echuca Moama Family History Group which is now 
operating from the historic Old Telegraph Station in Chanter Street 
Moama. The FoOM continues to work closely with Council to ensure the 
OTS and Captains Cottage are preserved and utilised. 
Moulamein Heritage Village 

Stage 1: 
The ‘Jeraly’ Woolshed has been 
relocated and rebuilt. The Old 
School has been relocated and 
renovated and the public toilets 
and shower block have been 
completed. Solar farm has been 
installed. 
Stage 2: 
Has commenced and will involve 
completing fencing of the village, 
relocation and rebuilding of the 
‘Werai Stables’ and construction 
of an open shed for display of 
heritage artifacts.  

Meninya Street 
Redevelopment Project 
 

Meninya Street Precinct Project Concept Designs were developed and 
placed on public display.   
Very positive feedback from the community and some proposed 
changes have been received to the streetscape to encourage pedestrian 
and business activity in Moama. 
Development of 3D Video Animation Renders are underway to provide 
a fly through experience of the proposed changes to the streetscape of 
Meninya Street. The video animation is on track for completion in 
October 2022. This Video Animation will showcase proposed changes 
including landscaping, lighting, road design and safety changes. The 
project will soon commence collaboration with external service providers 
and civil design firms to commence the development of engineering 
designs for the project to support construction.   

1.1.2  Provide, maintain and improve safe, accessible footpaths, cycle and walking tracks. 

Action Result 

Provide, maintain and 
improve adequate footpath 
systems 

Council has currently successfully completed 1,327m of new and 
maintained footpaths in the 2021/22 Financial year exceeding the 490m 
objective. 

Provide facilities for safe 
cycle usage 
 

Murray River Council has successfully exceeded the objectives of the 
annual Operating Plan for the installation of walking/cycling paths within 
the LGA.  
Council has expended $140,000 on further cycle/walkway upgrades in 
the financial year of 2020/21 boosting footpath and cycle path amenities.  
Some of the projects have included: 
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 Murray Downs Drive footpath - replaced the existing 800 metre gravel 
footpath with a new hot-mix path. 

 Conargo Street Mathoura – extension of the current path by 800 
metres. 

 24 Lane Moama – hot mix on the bike path. 

1.1.3 Identify and preserve heritage buildings, historically and culturally significant sites, 
including Aboriginal sites.  

Action Result 

Continue maintenance for 
heritage identified buildings 
 

Old Telegraph Station. 
Rising damp issue had been identified at the Old Telegraph Station. A 
Damp proof course has installed. 
A Drainage investigation has been undertaken and the design work has 
been completed.  In consultation with the Friend of Old Moama the 
removal of two Silky Oak trees have been undertaken. 

 
Old Captains Cottage 
Installation of picture hanging rails complete to enable the display of 
historic photos. 
Scoping of works completed to refurbish the old shed and toilet at the 
rear of the property. 
Old Court House Moulamein 
Promaster System to be installed to increase security and provide 
greater access to Council employees and contractors. 

1.2.1  Develop long-term plans for maintenance and construction of town streets and the rural 
road network  

Action Result 

Maximise grant funding for 
roadwork  
 

Murray River Council have delivered a range of projects with funding 
from Fixing Local Roads, Fixing Country Roads, Local Road and 
Community Infrastructure Program, Fixing Country Bridges and Roads 
to Recovery Program. 
Murray River Council continue to review available funding to assist with 
various projects. 

Bridges are trafficable and 
maintained to local 
standards 
 

Murray River Council has continued its previous progress to replace and 
maintain bridges within the local government area including the 
replacement of timber bridges. 
Murray River Council recently completed the construction of: 
 Rangemore Road / Jimaringle Creek Bridge,  
 Swan Hill Road / Yarrein Creek Bridge and  
 Rangemore Road / Jimaringle Creek Bridge. 
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 Moulamein-Barham Road (MR319)/Edward River Bridge  
 Nacurrie Road North / Middle Creek Bridge  
 Nacurrie Road South / Merran Creek Bridge  
 Drysdale Lane / Merran Creek Bridge,  
This exceeded the annual requirement of one timber bridge replacement 
per year. 
Works on the removal of the final timber bridges have commenced: 
 Sandys Bridge Road / Barber Creek Bridge,  
 Frasers Road / Maurrain Yarrein Creek Bridge and  
 Tooranie Road / Yarrein Creek Bridge. 

Central Murray Regional 
Transport Strategy 
 

The Central Murray Regional Transport Strategy was delivered in 
January 2019 – with Swan Hill and Tooleybuc Bridges listed as the top 
two projects out of the top 15 agreed projects for advocacy for Balranald 
Shire (NSW), Buloke Shire (VIC). Gannawarra Shire (VIC), Mildura 
Rural City (VIC), Murray River and Swan Hill Rural City Councils (VIC) 
and Wentworth Shire (NSW). 
Lobbied for State and Federal Governments to progress the consultation 
and realignment of the Swan Hill Bridge, including advocating for the 
NSW Heritage Council to take the existing bridge off its register 
 Swan Hill Bridge is progressing with an increase in steering group 

meetings with Transport NSW, Transport Victoria and Swan Hill 
Council. 

 Tooleybuc Bridge is being updated with the potential of a temp bridge 
in place during maintenance.  

 

Conversations and actions are escalating in regarding to privately 
owned irrigation corporation bridges under Council and Transport for 
NSW managed roads. 
Contributed to the delivery of the RAMJO Regional Freight Transport 
Plan (Nov 2021) for Government advocacy. Of the MRC actions 
recommended, all three are completed.   

Improve road user safety 
by improving road 
conditions and modifying 
driver behaviour  

Under the Safer Roads Program, Council received funding for three 
projects. Council successfully completed the final project in March. 

Provide and improve 
adequate street lighting 
 

Submissions currently with Essential Energy have been reviewed and 
agreement forms are being prepared. From the return of the 
agreements, Essential Energy will undertake works within 90 days. 

Implement and maintain 
Asset Management 
Software 
 

Working with TechnologyOne Project implementation team, Council has 
imported the Asset data into the Technology One assets module. 
Network asset categories such as water, wastewater and stormwater 
have been imported at parent level.   
Updated asset information, including child asset details, from the 
2021/2022 revaluation will be imported following audit signoff.  
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Implement and maintain 
GIS software 
 

Working with TechnologyOne Project implementation team Council has 
implemented a new mapping platform, Intramaps.  This has been 
deployed and is now being used by Council.   
All current asset data has been added to the mapping system and  
historic asset data has been reviewed and updated as part of the 
2021/2022 revaluation process.  
Works are currently underway to ensure property data is linked and 
updated daily from LPI and rating systems.  

Undertake and document 
the location, dimensions, 
condition, risk and cost of 
the Council Road network 
 

Field inspection and condition assessment of all road assets was 
completed as part of the 2020/2021 revaluation process. Condition 
assessment completed. All current asset data has been added to the 
mapping system and historic asset data has been reviewed and updated 
as part of the 2021/2022 end of year process.  
Asset management plan update underway.   

Undertake and document 
the location, dimensions, 
condition, utilisation, risk 
and cost of the Council 
Building & Open Space 
Assets. 
 

Field inspections, condition assessment, community consultation 
completed and revaluation process complete.  Draft works programs 
and asset management plans completed.  Masterplans complete.  
Draft Plans of Management currently being completed. Consultation 
with Crown Lands underway. Public and staff consultation resumed after 
easing of COVID restrictions.  
Parks and Open Spaces survey conducted from December to January 
with 627 responses received.   
Community Buildings survey conducted over March with 123 responses 
received.  Operational Buildings survey conducted over April-May with 
39 responses.   
Draft long-term management and rationalisation plans created for 
Buildings and Parks with Councillor workshops scheduled for July – 
December 2022.   

Undertake & document the 
location, dimensions, 
condition, utilisation, risk & 
cost of the Council Office 
Equipment, Furniture & 
Fittings and IT Equipment.  

Field inspection, condition assessment and revaluation of Office 
Equipment, Furniture & Fittings and IT Equipment complete. Asset 
management plan update underway.   

Undertake and document 
the location, dimensions, 
condition, utilisation, risk 
and cost of the Council 
Water, Sewer and 
Stormwater Assets  

Field inspection and condition assessment of Water, Sewer and 
Stormwater assets completed. All current asset data has been added to 
the mapping system and historic asset data has been reviewed and 
updated as part of the 2021/2022 end of year process.  
Asset management plan update underway.   
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Maintenance grading               Compaction testing of base layer at  
    Centre Road, Moama 

 
Completed seal at Speewa Road, Speewa. 

Highlights: 
 Completion of Speewa Road and Hollins Lane projects 
 Completion of over $1million of regional road reseals across the LGA. 
 Completion of shoulder grading on various sections along Cobb 

Highway and Yanga Way for TfNSW. 
 Maintenance grading in various areas across our 1,920km of unsealed 

road network, with an emphasis of bus routes. 

1.2.2 Enhance and advocate for road and rail freight links to major centres, hubs and ports. 

Action Result 

Investigate possible 
opportunities to develop 
airport freight links  
 

Airport study has been cancelled as per Council decision in 2021. 
Economic Development Support key strategies – Regional Economic 
Development Strategy (2018-2022) Enhance market access and 
competitiveness for the agriculture and food product manufacturing 
sectors through strong transport infrastructure 
Freight and airport infrastructure: investment into infrastructure to bolster 
and leverage the Region’s agriculture and food production sectors Road 
infrastructure: upgrades and improvements to key roads and bridges to 
improve efficiency, reduce the impact of heavy vehicles, travel times and 
time to market 

1.3.1 Plan and advocate for key river access areas including boat ramps, wharves and 
bridges (Barham, Moama, Murray Downs, Tooleybuc) 

Action Result 
Explore opportunities for 
boat ramp redevelopment The drafting of the MRC Waterfront Strategy has commenced.  
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 The strategy will investigate a pilot riverfront area within Barham with the 
goal to provide consistency and guidance for the planning, development, 
and conservation of waterfront environments within Murray River 
Council.  
The Strategy seeks to streamline the currently cumbersome assessment 
process while also producing general outcomes and assumptions which 
can be applied to similar waterfront landscapes throughout the LGA.  
The Waterfront Strategy will be used both to justify legislative change for 
waterfront/riverfront land and inform future strategy about site specific 
projects.  
The final strategy is aimed to be completed and adopted by Council by 
the end of August/September 2022 however this timeline may be revised 
as the project progresses.  
Grants for Boat ramp funding are being explored in strategic locations 
around the Murray River Council area based on demand data.  
Murray Downs is the next area that will see a new Boat ramp install over 
the next 12-24 months. 
Council will investigate the need for another boat ramp close to the 
township of Moama over the next few years. Demand for this facility is 
not yet known. 

1.3.2 Develop long term planning controls to address increasing demand for river frontage 
lifestyle blocks, farm subdivisions and small rural lots, new industrial land for 
development in towns 

Action Result 

Section 94/A Plan Review 
(Now Section 7.11 and 7.12) 
 

Development contribution plans have been drafted, however a few 
delays in other projects (CT Management) and proposed changes to 
relevant Development Contribution legislation have prompted a pause 
to such plans. 
Consideration of only establishing a Section 7.12 plan (percentage 
based) development contribution plan as this may provide greater 
benefits to the Council and community alike. 

Local Environment Plan 
Development Control Plan 
 

Murray River Local Environmental Plan 2021 was drafted to consolidate 
the two current LEPs – Murray Shire and Wakool. This LEP did not 
propose any changes which required strategic justification and was 
merely a merger of the two existing LEPs. This draft was approved by 
Council to be sent to State Government for finalisation as a Council wide 
LEP.  
Council has not received a Gateway Determination from DPE based on 
outstanding information and justification required for it to progress. This 
LEP has been paused to enable significant strategic projects to be 
undertaken which will justify more meaningful changes in a new LEP.  
Staff are undertaking changes to the two existing Development Controls 
plans to provide clearer guidance and improved planning outcomes. 
Preliminary work has been undertaken and this project is set commence 
in the new financial year. Changes to the development controls effecting 
MRC will be a team effort between our Planning, Building, and 
Engineering teams. 
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Proposed amendment of the Murray LEP 2011 SP3 Tourism zone Land 
Use table in the Murray LEP 2011 to include recreation facilities (outdoor 
and recreation facility (major).  

 

Planning 
Certificates 
issued  

A Planning Certificate gives information on the 
development potential of a parcel of land including the 
planning restrictions that apply to the land as at the date 
certificate is issued. All NSW Contracts for the sale of 
land should include an up-to-date Planning Certificate 
issued by Council.   
MRC issued 1066 Planning Certificate for 2021-2022.     

Information 
Certificates 
issued 

This certificate issues specific property information and 
can include to DA/CDC/CC applications, plans and 
determinations, Final Occupation Certificates, Building 
Certificate Consents, Home Warranty Insurances, 
Works as Executed Plans, and Private Sanitary 
Drainage Plan.  
MRC issued 207 Information Certificates for 2021-
2022.   

GIPA 
Applications 

Application for formal access to government information 
under the Government Information (Public Access) Act 
2009 (GIPA Act). 
MRC issued 1 GIPA Formal Application for 2021-
2022.    

Planning 
enquiries 
taken  

Planning staff provide advice and assistance in the 
application of planning legislation and development 
controls applying in our Council area.  …. 

Subdivision 
Works 
Certificates 
issued 

A Subdivision Works Certificate is required prior to 
commencing any approved subdivision work.   
MRC issued 19 Subdivision Works Certificates for 
2021-2022.  

Subdivision 
Certificates 
issued  

A Subdivision Certificate certifies that a plan of 
subdivision has been completed in accordance with all 
the relevant development consent conditions.  
MRC issued 17 Subdivision Certificates for 2021-
2022  

4.2A 
Applications  

This application assesses whether a dwelling house may 
be permissible with consent and considers all 
requirements of Clause 4.2A of the respective current 
and former Local Environmental Plans.  …. 

Tree removal 
applications  Application to prune or remove a tree from private land  
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Compliance 
matters  

Planning, Building, and Compliance staff work together 
to investigate alleged breaches to development consent 
and legislation enforced by Murray River Council. …. 

Strategic 
Projects  

Projects and strategy undertaken and/or managed by 
Council for land use planning and development. ….. 

Legislative 
review  

Review of NSW legislation governing strategic direction 
and development assessment. 

 

 

Development Application Fact Sheets & Checklists  
Development Services have developed a series of checklists to assist 
applicants when submitting DAs, CCs and other applications via the 
ePlanning Portal.  
Our checklists have been benchmarked against the minimum legislative 
requirements as per The Secretary’s requirements. Additional 
requirements have been to ensure a merit-based, full and diligent DA 
assessment.  
These checklists are now under review to reflect the legislation reforms 
from March 2022. The checklists will be refined in accordance with the 
Approved Form outlined in the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation 2021. A number of new checklists have also been identified 
to be created to support other land uses. Additional exempt and 
complying development fact sheets from DPE have been linked on 
Council’s website.  
Duty Development Services Officers 
Council has established a system of having one of the DS staff to be on 
duty and available to the public for enquiries.  The Officers main function 
is to direct customers to relevant planning policies and provide 
preliminary advice on planning related inquires associated with 
properties.  

Infrastructure Contributions Plan 
Council continues to work with the appointed consultants to finalise the 
plan. Current legislative reforms to the Environmental Planning & 
Assessment Regulation 2021 and significant cross over with other 
Council projects are impacting the completion of this plan. 
Workshop with the DPI and University of Sydney 
The Department of Primary Industries is involved in a project with the 
University of Sydney to better understand the drivers and impacts of 
changing patterns of rural land ownership. Murray River Council hosted 
a session on 23 March 2022.  
Employment Lands Zoning reform 
The NSW Department of Planning and Environment (DPE) has 
developed a document on the translation of existing Business and 
Industrial zones into the new ‘Employment’ zones. . For Murray River, 
this involves new zone names for current business and industrial zones 
with not a lot of fundamental changes in respect to the land use tables. 
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However, some areas, such as Business Parks, may have additional 
uses permitted. There will also be some work undertaken on what will 
be permissible in the new Meninya Street precinct to strengthen its role 
as a commercial hub, in line with the Action 2.6 of our Local Strategic 
Planning Statement. The new zones coming into force on 1 December 
2022.  
Draft Riverina Murray Regional Plan 
The Regional Plan is a 20‐year land use plan with a focus on the next 5 
years. The Plan applies to Murray River Council (together with all other 
local government areas within the Riverina Murray region) and is 
currently being reviewed/renewed by DPE. The review of the existing 
Regional Plan 2036 (released in 2017) has provided an opportunity to 
consider the changes experienced in the region in the last 5 years, the 
challenges ahead and possible responses for the next 5 years. Planning 
staff took part in workshops facilitated by DPE in 2021 to provide MRC 
specific feedback about the things that should be addressed in the 
Regional Plan. It is anticipated that the draft Regional Plan will be on 
exhibition for 6 weeks during August - September 2022.  

1.3.3 Provide public facilities suitable for residential and visitor use (toilets, community 
halls). 

Action Result 

Continue maintenance of 
current public halls for public 
use 
 
 

 Painting works completed at the Noorong Public Toilets and Rest 
Centre in Barham to match in with the style of the new Barham 
Community HUB. 

 Promaster Key system and new doors installed at the Caldwell Hall 
to increase security and provide greater access to Council employees 
and contractors. Timber roof trusses painted. Installation of Whirly 
Birds (roof ventilation) and three new doors for security upgrades. 

 Womboota Hall to receive the same. Plumbing repairs to kitchen.  
 Moulamein Hall electrical repairs / safety check post stormwater 

inundation, structural assessment and kitchen roof repairs carried 
out. 

 Noorong Hall structural repairs to verandah post (termite damage). 
 Mathoura Hall storm water leak investigated and repaired. 
 Bunnaloo Hall replacement of cracked / broken tiles and install 

measures to mitigate rodent infestation. Sewer pump replaced. 
 Goodnight Hall maintenance work including new skirting boards to 

kitchen, timber sill at kitchen entry door, replace broken window 
panes and plumbing repairs. 

1.3.4 Plan for, improve, and maintain town flood levees. 

Action Result 

Moulamein Floodplain Risk 
Management Study & Plan  

 

Project completed on time to specification and within approved budget. 
 

Barham township, River 
Estate and Jamieson 

Given the 2022 flood events, Council will continue to rely on expert 
advice contained in various Floodplain Management Reports prepared 
by experts in line with the Floodplain Development Manual and the 
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Levee Upgrade Detailed 
Investigation and Design 
 

Flood Prone Land Policy guide for local government for managing flood 
risk in their communities.  
Council has submitted an application for funding for construction for 
upgrade of the River Estate Levee under the NSW Floodplain 
Management Program.  

Echuca-Moama Floodplain 
Risk Management Study 
and Plan  

Delays with calibration modelling due to the complexity of the project. 
Council is giving priority to getting the project right than rushing delivery. 
Additional information available on the main calibration event of 1993 
has allowed for the Calibration Report to be completed and the project 
progressing to the next stage. 
Consultant has now been provided with detailed terrain information for 
both eastern and western side of the railway line enough to finalise the 
calibration and progress the project to the Design Event Flood 
Modelling Stage (projection of events like say 1 in 100 flood model, also 
known as 1%AEP etc).  
Realistic projection is that the Echuca-Moama Flood Study could be 
completed 30 June 2023 and the Echuca-Moama Floodplain Risk 
Management Study and Plan June 2024.  

1.3.5 Encourage greater housing choice and development to meet our changing population 
needs. 

Action Result 

Independent DA assessment 
system maintained 

Statistics as at October 31 2022 
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DA Determinations: 
Retention and recruitment issues of staff in the Planning and 
Environment Department is having ongoing effects on our DA 
determination statistics. MRC are working together to ensure these 
determination times improve. The implementation of a prioritisation 
system for a targeted weekly approach to DA assessment appears to 
be having a positive impact in our determination rates for DAs.    
A Development Services Restructure is proposed for implementation 
early 2023 which includes new positions such as a Local Approvals 
Officer and Parra Town Planners. This implementation long with the 
introduction of new software (BCS & TechOne) and new internal 
procedures and processes will assist Council in creating fast track 
processes within the team, improve overall assessment times, reduce 
delays and reduce staff turnover. 

Total Applications Outstanding:    71 

No. Application within Target:    44 

No. Applications missed Target:    27 

% of Applications within Target:    62% 

Average Elapsed Calendar Days:    233.42 

Average Calendar Stop Days:    186.31 

Average Adjusted Calendar Days:    47.11 

Implement action plan for 
low-cost housing in Moama 
and Mathoura 
 

The Murray River Residential Housing Strategy is currently underway. 
This strategy will investigate supply and demand of residential zoned 
land, changes to our demographics, population projections, 
infrastructure delivery and other factors relevant to us planning for our 
housing needs into the future.  

The Strategy will also inform potential options to incentivise the 
development of existing residential zoned land, or (depending on your 
perspective) disincentivise the delay of development after rezoning.  
Including back-zoning land which has sat stagnant/undeveloped for 
years since it's rezoning, and rating options which would see 
undeveloped residential zoned areas being rated on the potential lot 
yield, rather than as a singular lot.  

The Residential Housing Strategy will investigate and plan for the ‘what’, 
‘where’, ‘when’, ‘how’ and ‘why’ in delivering a range of housing choices 
to meet the changing needs of our growing community.   

Public Consultation closed on 15 November 2021. A Draft Housing 
Strategy was aimed to be presented to Council in February 2022. In 
early January we were advised that the 2021 ABS Census data would 
be released to us in June 2022. Given that the 2021 census data 
provides a crucial baseline for the Housing Strategy and the Populations 
Projections (which link into this Strategy) we have elected to delay the 
drafting of the Residential Housing Strategy until the updated census 
data can be factored in. With the level of change experienced in the 
preceding two years for housing, population change, births, and deaths, 
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it would be illogical to base the Housing Strategy and subsequent 
planning outcomes off outdated 2016 data. The public consultation 
phase of the House Strategy is now expected to be undertaken in late 
August 2022. 

 

 

 

 

1.4.1 Plan and develop long-term Integrated Water Cycle Management Strategy taking into 
account   climate change, water security for towns and industry (including 
agriculture), sustainable demand and growth, and the natural environment. 

Action Result 

Implement updated water 
meter system 
 

Smart meter project rollout is 99% completed, leaving the final difficult 
meters for Council to complete in-house. Online access to real life 
water usage (MiWater portal) will be made available to all residence 
from October 2022. 
Smart meter installation is complete at Wamba Wamba, Murray Downs 
for the Department of Planning & Environment  
Raw water smart meters are being installed in the towns and villages 
where this service is available. 

Council is currently working through the Integrated Water Cycle 
Management Strategy. This is a large piece of work. An Issues Report 
has been completed, and Options Report is in draft form. Priority risks 

have been identified, communicated, and 
acknowledged by the NSW State 
Government. Council is seeking NSW 
Safe and Secure Water Program funds.  

Council has completed the digitalising of 
the remainder of our filtered water 
standpipes. This will improve Council's 
billing, control over access, and ensure 
water is accounted for.  This work is vital 
in the unlikely event of issues with the 

water quality. These standpipes become critical infrastructure during 
droughts to help deliver safe drinking water to rural communities when 
there is insufficient rainfall to keep the tanks full.  

Continue water wise 
initiatives 

Community Awareness of Program is on-going. Our website has been 
updated under “Our Services” – Water Efficiency, Water Education 
and Tips 
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Implement best practice 
guidelines 
 

Council continually improves process and procedures by utilising a 
range of best practice guidelines. (Water Services Association of 
Australia and Water Directorate). 
Council has adopted a Drinking Water Quality Policy.  A Safe Drinking 
Water System has also been developed – this is a series of documents 
that support the Policy. 
These documents review, prioritise and build improvement plans to 
ensure water quality protection into the future. The system Critical 
Control Points (CCPs), with alerts and escalations have been reviewed 
and refined with support from NSW Health. 

 

2021-2022 Highlights: 
 completed modifications to the filtered water tower in Barham to 

install a new manifold allowing a booster pump to increase the 
Barham township water pressure for critical maintenance works to 
be undertaken.  

 staff completed training in Liquid Trade Waste Regulations. This will 
ensure compliance with industrial businesses being inspected by 
council staff and assessed for Trade Waste being discharged into 
council sewerage network.  

 installed a ladder guard to Barham’s Raw Water Reservoir to 
prevent access by unauthorised persons.  

  
Photo 1: Maintenance has began   Photo 2: Raw Water tower 
around all towns to “flush” out the   in Moama drained and mains 
leading up to summer to improve  cleaned out 
water quality.  
 Maintenance of the Storm Water Retention Basin in Moama has 

been undertaken 
 A Process Assessment report was finalised on recommendations 

for the Moama WTP upgrade 
 A concept design proposal prepared to decommission the ailing 

trickle filter WWTP in Barham and revert over to an oxidation pond-
based plant.  

 A report developed on Hydraulic modelling to ascertain current and 
future water demands on Barham. This will provide important 
information for the augmentation of water pressure boosting. 

  
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 Community consultation with Koraleigh residence undertaken for 
the proposed construction of a raw watermain network within the 
township. 

 Site inspections on newly constructed sewer & water infrastructure 
as part of developer funded subdivisions have been completed. 

 The part renewal of the Raw Water supply main from the Edward 
River to the Moulamein Reservoir is now 60% complete and 
expected to be finished in early July.  

 Moulamein filtered water standpipe has been repaired and 
converted over to ground operation to eliminate any further chance 
of accidental damage 

 All water and wastewater pumping stations in Moulamein have been 
converted over to a common telemetry communication system to 
facilitate remote access, streamline operations and control and 
simplify fault alarming. 

 Maintenance of the Echuca Street & Kiely Road Storm Water 
Retention Basins in Moama is 90% complete. This will see an 
increase in holding capacity, improved access for maintenance and 
the implementation of erosion control.  

 The recent demand analysis and operation systems review of the 
Moama Water Filtration Plant indicates that the existing 
augmentation of the existing WFP will be very significantly cheaper 
than the construction of a new WFP. 

1.4.2 Provide, manage and maintain effective and appropriate sewerage treatment services. 

Action Result 

Increase wastewater 
capacity to incorporate 
growth in townships 
 

The Integrated Water Cycle Management Strategy is examining 
service levels. 
Additional land will be required to be purchased to cater for increased 
growth and demand in Barham, Murray Downs and Moama. 

1.4.3 Provide environmentally sensitive storm water collection and discharge systems 
appropriate to community needs. 

Action Result 

Provide and improve 
adequate drainage systems 
 

Council has been working to incentivise stormwater reuse and an 
alternative raw water supply in-lieu of river water and funded 
stormwater collection in rapid growth areas including Moama’s 
Perricoota Road drainage basin.  
This water is now being used to irrigate green spaces, as per the long-
term Stormwater Management Plan.  

 
Purchase of a new hydro excavation unit to 
carry out non-destructive digging around 
sensitive underground assets 
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1.4.4  Provide, manage and maintain effective and appropriate waste management systems 

Action Result 

Implementation of waste 
management strategy  
 

Waste Management Strategy implementation is progressing as 
planned, the Action Plan has been reviewed and refined to meet 
changes in the industry. This has also informed the development of a 
10 Year Capital Program for waste management. 

 
 
 

2021-2022 Highlights 
 Murray River Council and Gannawarra Shire are working together to 

explore options for waste management in the Barham and 
Koondrook townships. A long running agreement between Council’s 
dating back to early 1990 has been in place to share the cost of the 
Barham Transfer Station.  

 Officers made comment on the IPART Waste Peg proposal. IPART 
proposed setting a “peg” for rate increases that Council would have 
to adhere to regardless of the communities needs, services 
standards and capital requirements. 

 MRC has been working closely with Tomra Cleanaway CEO to 
discuss issues associated with the Moama Reverse Vending 
machine. Tomra Cleanaway are the Return and Earn network 
operator. Options have been explored for Council to be involved in 
a solution for residents with bulk volumes of containers. Council 
subsequently approved the development of an Automated Depot to 
receive bulk containers. 

 ‘My bin day’ search function on Council’s website is successfully up 
and running so residents can search for their address and see when 
their next collection will be. 

 A Landfill Risk Assessment project was completed. The report 
produced sets priorities for which landfills present the greatest risk 
to the environment and Council. This informs the 10 year waste 
capital program and which order projects, including landfill 
rehabilitations should be implemented. 

 Council Officers have been working closely with the NSW EPA on a 
range of items including the 10 year waste capital program.  

 The Food Organics Garden Organics (FOGO) rollout has now been 
completed with all eligible residents supplied a 240L green lidded 
bin and 7L kitchen caddy and introduction packs. Collections 
commenced on 1 July 2022 for the new service.  
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 A power upgrade project at Moama landfill was completed. This 

work included locating current power, installing larger cables, new 
transformer, new switchboard and connection to site hut and shed. 
This is a critical component to ensure upgrade projects can be 
implemented. 

 Construction plans for landfill cell 5 and a leachate management 
system were completed. 

 The results of an audit of kerbside bin contents was undertaken. This 
demonstrated very low levels of contamination in the organics bin 
(<1%), moderate contamination of the recycling bin (11%) and 
opportunities to move materials from the waste bin into the recycling 
and organics bin. The audit will be undertaken again in 12 months 
to measure the impact of introducing FOGO. 

 A transfer station upgrade project was completed. This developed 
plans for improving each site to ensure materials are stored and 
handled appropriately and services levels improved for the 
community. The outcomes inform the 10 year waste capital program 
and which order these, and other projects, are implemented. 

 A new site hut and toilet have been delivered to Cummeragunja 
transfer station and a safety railing has been installed. This was 
funded by NSW Health and implemented by Council. 

 Council entered a group procurement contract with TRY 
GreenWaste Recycling for mulching services. RAMJO lead the 
process with all Murray and Riverina Councils taking part. 

 Mandalay, a leading waste management system and weighbridge 
software company, have been engaged to explore options for a trial 
at smaller waste facility to track waste and recycling materials. 

 Officers developed a submission to the Victorian Governments 
container deposit scheme draft regulation and regulatory impact 
statement. This was important in ensuring the Victorian scheme 
compliments the current scheme in operation in NSW and does not 
undermine Council’s plans to build an Automated Depot at Moama. 

 Officers have been working with Vision HQ, a company that has 
technology that can be mounted on waste collection vehicles to 
assess road conditions and bin contamination. 
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 5 Mile Moama joint venture with National Parks and MRC, fencing 
to exclude illegal dumping and camping from river, Council signage 
restricting camping / overnight parking in public place.  

 
Concrete crushing being 
undertaken at Moama Waste 
Management Facility during May, 
approximately 1,500 tonnes 
 
 
 

 

 
 

249,089
106,425

45,057
2,568
950
959
18
152
1,063
511
45

Kerbside waste collections - whole LGA
Kerbside recycle collections - whole LGA

Kerbside green waste collections  - whole LGA
Waste tonnage - Waste

Waste tonnage - Recycle
Waste tonnage - Green

Number of Council bins supplied for community events
Total Missed Services

Number of bins repaired
Number of new or additional services

Number of stolen bins
Waste Services 2021/22
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Promote a Natural Environment
       

We value our natural environment and 
expect it to be accessible, sustainable, 
managed, and healthy.
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2.1.1 Protect the water quality, aesthetic and environmental values of the Murray River, 
other waterways, and environs through consistent and aligned local and regional 
plans. 

Action Result 

State of Environment 
 

Projects completed: 
 Picnic Point beach upgrade 
 Murray Downs foreshore boat ramp and associated works  
 Moama Foreshores Development - Horseshoe Lagoon shared 

bridges and riverside retaining walls 
 Moama Foreshores Development - beach amenities block (including 

water, sewer and electrical service connections)  
 Barham Riverside Park Development 

2.1.3 Encourage and develop community and neighbourhood initiatives to enhance and 
protect the natural environment. 

Action Result 

Develop & maintain 
Strategic Plans & Planning 
instruments to ensure 
development occurs in an 
environmentally 
sustainable coordinated 
manner 

The Council-wide Local Environmental Plan (LEP) is on pause due to 
other strategic priorities and is included in Year 2 under the Community 
Strategic Plan. The review of Development Control Plan (DCP) is being 
discussed with the planners and building surveyors with a view to update 
the plans and creation of a single Council wide DCP in the new financial 
year. 

2.1.4 Increase community awareness and education about the value of the natural 
environment. 

Action Result 

Implementation of waste 
strategy advertising program 
 

“My bin day” search function on Council’s website is successfully up and 
running so residents can search for their address and see when their 
next collection will be. 
Major infrastructure at Moama Landfill and other facilities to initiate a tip 
shop/ resource recovery process is delayed due to infrastructure yet to 
be established for this operation. Once this is established, advertising 
campaigns can be implemented to promote reuse of unwanted 
household items    

FOGO – Food Organics Garden Organics household education material 
developed in preparation of FOGO rollout in July 2022.  

 

Council’s Underground Petroleum Storage System (UPSS) Register has 
been created and data is currently being collected regarding the status 
of each system. Once completed this register will be used to monitor and 
improve the risk management and mitigation strategies of each system 
to protect the environment and public health within the area. 

2.1.5 Manage and control pest plants and pest animals.  
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Action Result 

Continue implementation of 
noxious weeds program  
 

Weed Action Plan (WAP) agreed targets met.  
Biosecurity Information System (BIS) monthly report were completed on-
time each month. 1227 BIS points mapped and reported to DPI in the 
2021-2022 period.  

 
 

Top 10 target species for the year:  
 Horehound,  
 African Boxthorn, 
 Silverleaf Nightshade, 
 Spiny Burrgrass, 
 Bridal Creeper, 
 Sweet Briar 
 Bathurst Burr, 
 Prickly Pear, 
 St. Johns Wort, 
 Khaki Weed. 
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Current Biosecurity threats within MRC boundaries.:  
 Cape Broom, 
 Boneseed, 
 Coolatai Grass, 
 Hardhead Thistle, 
 Mexican Water Lily, 
 Castor Oil Plant. 
Of this list, Cape Broom and Castor Oil Plant are new weeds found in 
MRC this year.  
With professional monitoring and control techniques, these above-
mentioned species should be able to be eradicated from their current 
known locations over a number of years.  
 Other Threats.  
 Weeds entering the MRC from other areas, such as Coolatia Grass 

within Balranald Council near our council boarder at Kyalite. 
 Weeds coming from Victoria, who have difference biosecurity 

legislation and requirements to NSW.  
Field days and Education. 
MRC biosecurity staff held on-site field days for Cape Broom and 
Boneseed to help staff and other agencies identify these weeds around 
our Local Government Area (LGA). 
Biosecurity Staff undertook the following training: 
 Prohibited Matter training  
 Grass ID Training 
 Iconyx Training 
 Telehandler Competency training. 
 
Aerial Mapping added to weed mapping tablets, marking them more user 
friendly by able to distinguish landmarks on the devices whilst working 
offline out in the field and office.  
Locust control undertaken in 
conjunction with Murray Local Land 
Services (MLLS) compliance 
requirement. 
MRC biosecurity team helped DPI 
investigate the potential threat of 
Tropical Soda Apple weed spread 
throughout NSW via cattle. 12 properties were inspected and no Tropical 
Soda Apple was found.  
Weed Risk Assessments meetings completed with other Murray LLS 
region councils. These risk assessments will help determine which 
weeds end up in the Murray LLS Weed Strategic Plan 2023-2028. 
MRC received funding to address Boneseed, Cape Broom, Khaki Weed 
and Spiny Burrgrass throughout our region. This funding to be used in 
the 2022-2203 period.  
Murray River Council were contracted to control Boxthorns and Sweet 
Briar at LLS RAMSTAR sites within MRC LGA. 
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This project seeks to reduce the risk of spread of the weed into the 
neighbouring NSW Central Murray Ramsar site. 
This project is a continuation of ‘MY01453’ and ‘MY01832’ 
Cummeragunja boxthorn control projects, which MRC was involved in 
the previous year. 
The ‘Cummeragunja’ site incorporates initial control (stage 4) and follow 
up (stage 1,2, & 3) control service outputs, involving both pulling and 
hand spraying techniques to control African Boxthorns.  
The ‘Ulunja’ site is an initial control, using both pulling and hand spraying 
techniques to control African Boxthorns. 
The ‘Little Forest’ site is an initial control, using hand spraying to control 
Sweet Briar. Not all plants were accessible, due to environment water 
flows being undertaken in the control area.  
The ‘Weria Forest’ site is an initial control, using hand spraying to control 
Sweet Briar and African Boxthorns. 4 hours included spraying Sweet 
Briar from a boat, as land access was limited due to dense bushland and 
flooding.   
Cummeragunja time breakdown & 
 treatment area. 
 Pulling – 119 hours 
 Spraying – 59.5 hours 
 Admin – 14 hours 
 570ha treated.     Horehound 

 

Ulunja time breakdown & treatment area. 
 Pulling – 8.5 hours 
 Spraying – 25.5 hours 
 Admin – 6 hours 
 44ha treated. 

     
      Telehandler removing boxthorn  

Little Forest time breakdown & treatment area. 
 Spraying – 93.5hours 
 Admin – 8 hours 
 228 ha treated.   

     
Weria Forest time breakdown & 
treatment area. 
 Spraying – 8.5 hours   Pricky Pear 
 Admin – 4 hours 
 40 ha treated (estimated) 
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Ensure adequate animal 
control measures are in 
place 
 

The Compliance Department have implementation of the use of drones 
to investigate properties for breeches of legislation and to alleviate 
dangers to employees when exercising powers of entry. Accreditation 
has been achieved through the Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA) 
by MRC employees to allow the legal operation of the devices. 
Additional risks have been addressed in the compliance team  related to 
safety and gathering of evidence. Body cameras have been purchased 
and dash cameras have been installed in Ranger vehicles to reduce the 
risk. 

Companion Animal Breeding Policy 
Following extensive work by Council’s Strategic Planning Team, the 
updated version of the Companion Animal Breeding Policy was adopted 
at Council’s October Council Meeting.  
Since adoption of the Policy, there has been a Parliamentary Inquiry 
called, led by the NSW State Government regarding animal breeding 
legislation in NSW. Council has provided information to the State 
Government for consideration as part of the Inquiry. 

 

 
 

Food Premises 
inspections 
 

Introductory visits have taken place at food premises throughout the 
municipality to introduce and provide the contact details of the 
Environmental Health Coordinator (EHC). Proprietors and staff have 
been advised that food safety inspections will now be completed by 
Council’s EHC rather than a contractor and they are welcome to contact 
the EHC at any time with food safety queries.  
These introductory visits were a great step in building the foundations of 
a good professional relationship with local businesses which will be 
beneficial in attaining and maintaining compliance with the food act and 
food standards code. 
The EHC has been progressively undertaking site visit to food premise 
clients to inspect their premisses and food handling to ensure 
compliance with food acts and codes. 

82

31

62

14

26

322

Number of dogs & cats held overnight in
MRC Pound facility

Number of dogs surrended

Number of dogs impounded

Number of domestic cats surrended

Number of domestic cats impounded

Number of feral cats trapped

Animals - 2021/22
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“Scores on Doors” program has been adopted by Council and will 
highlight excellent food hygiene standards in food businesses across 
Council.  
The inspection program has commenced, and the Scores on Doors 
Program has been enthusiastically embraced by proprietors, staff and the 
community. 

 
The EHC has also worked with businesses where non-compliances were 
identified during their inspection. Previously non-compliances, identified 
during inspections completed by a contractor, have not been followed up 
and had become an ongoing issue. The EHC has provided education and 
advice to businesses and completed follow up inspections to ensure all 
non-compliances are addressed and the business is competent and able 
to achieve compliance moving forward. This has resulted in a high level 
of food safety compliance. 
The EHC is also developing food handler hygiene and food safety training 
to be offered free to food businesses within Murray River Council. The 
aim of this is to support businesses in equipping their staff with the 
appropriate knowledge, build stronger working relationships with food 
businesses and nurture a positive food safety culture within Murray River 
Council. 

2.2.1 Plan for and create a network of walking and cycle paths connecting our natural 
environments and our townships. 

Action Result 

Provide facilities for safe 
cycle usage  
 

Murray River Council has successfully exceeded the objectives of the 
annual Operating Plan through the installation of walking/cycling paths 
within the Local Government Area.  
Council has currently successfully completed 800m of new cycle paths 
in the 2021/22 Financial year exceeding the 200m objective. 

Council will continue to progress expanding facilities for safe cycle usage 
within the Local Government Area.  
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Enhance Social Wellbeing 
       

We want to have services and facilities 
that support an active, healthy and 
diverse rural lifestyle, and help us 
celebrate and enjoy our rich cultural 
heritage and connected communities.
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3.1.1 Identify and advocate for meeting current gaps in medical and health services. 

Action Result 

Maximise grant funding for 
health care services 
 

Community Services have signed funding agreements for both 
Department of Health and Ageing Funding and Transport for NSW for 
the 2022/2023 period. 
 The Department of Health funding of $574,757.38 provides 

Commonwealth Home Support Programs (CHSP) to clients over 
65yrs and includes a transport component. 

 Transport for NSW funding of $412,002.02 provides some CHSP 
transport as well as Community Transport (CT) for residents who 
are ’Transport Disadvantaged’, no age criteria.  

3.1.2 Support the attraction and retention of health care providers.  

Action Result 

Support, attract and retain health 
care providers 
 

Work with the community and Murrumbidgee Local Health District 
(MLHD) to identify GP shortages and develop a strategy to attract and 
retain GP’s.  
MRC may need to consider provision of housing and even long day-
care services.  

3.1.3 Lobby for and support the upgrade of regional health facilities. 

Action Result 

Lobby for the upgrade of regional 
health facilities 
 

Barham has a new multipurpose health centre that services Barham, 
Wakool and Moulamein.  
Tooleybuc, Koraleigh and Murray Downs rely on Swan Hill and Moama 
relies on Echuca District Health for medical services. 
As Moama’s population increases to being the most populous centre 
in the southwest, the NSW government will need to review medical 
service provision in the region. 

3.1.5 Plan for, provide, maintain, improve, and encourage access to sporting facilities, 
recreational grounds, parks and gardens, natural bushlands to create active and 
passive environments for enjoyment of residents and visitors.  

Action Result 

Provide continued maintenance 
of sporting facilities, parks & 
gardens and recreation  
reserves 
 

Continuing to provide amenities and park facilities to the public with 
high levels of service within budget constraints.  

Scheduled cleaning of public toilets with rubbish removal and park 
inspections adding to the cleanliness and appearance to the parks and 
open spaces. 

Continuing to provide horticultural service delivery to Council parks, 
gardens, recreation reserves, sport fields and cemeteries within budget 
constraints. 

General operational activities include mowing, street tree planting, 
pruning, spraying and mulching.  
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2021-2022 Projects 
Project Title Comments 

Barham 
Recreation 
Reserve  

 Internal road upgrades  
 Community BBQ installation 
 Upgrade/renovation of existing toilet amenity 
 Installation of filtered water stations 
 Installation of ground seating 
 New entry from Parkman Avenue 
 Carpark and internal solar lighting 

Barham Riverside 
Park 
Development 
– Stabilisation of 
Riverbank  

Approved and funded works complete.  Full 
project scope to be delivered in stages over the 
coming years subject to funding. 

Moama 
Recreation 
Reserve - Zone 2 

Project completed with inclusion of new access 
road to improve safety and installation of sports 
field lighting, car park upgrade, field extension 
and female change facilities. (Eddy Oval)  

Moulamein South 
Recreation 
Reserve 
Playground 

Pedestrian crossing and lighting Installation.   

Tooleybuc - 
Mensforth Park 
Upgrade  
Stage 2  

 Irrigation and furniture installed  
 Concreted footpaths and edging completed.  
 Flying fox and shelter installed.  
 Landscaping, tree planting and turf installation 

completed. 
 Furniture installed 

Moulamein - 
Howard Park - 
Upgrade existing 
park facilities  

 Renewal of playground 
 Installation of shade structure   
 Upgrade of automatic irrigation system 
 Fence installation 
 Shelter & BBQ installation 
 Concrete footpaths 
 Landscaping and turf installation 

Moulamein 
Centennial 
Reserve 

 Renovate existing administration, catering and 
toilet building. 

 Construction of Multi-purpose shelter. 
 Project complete. 
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Wakool Bowls 
Club 

Wakool Bowling Club 
received a grant of 
$350,000 through the 
Drought Communities 
Program. The original 
project was to renovate 
the building & remove 
termite affected parts. 

The termite damage was so bad the building was 
demolished and a completely new building 
constructed on time and within budget. Funding 
was also attracted to upgrade the green lighting to 
LED and build a new equipment shed.  

Wakool 
Recreation 
Reserve 

 Installation of solar lighting along driveways 
 Upgrade of power heads 
 Installation of automatic irrigation system on oval 
 Installation of LED lighting around bowling green 
 Construction of storage shed 
 Installation of RV dump point & signage 
 Upgrade of entry. 
 Court line marking 
 Renovation of existing amenities 

Winbi Park -
Moama 

Landscaping of natural open space to include 
irrigation, walk paths and turf. 

Moama Botanic 
Gardens 

Commencement of Stage 5 - 
Construction of rock walls and 
mounds.  
Works ongoing. 

Murray Downs 
Streetscaping Completed 

Picnic Point 
Beach upgrade  

Project completed on time to specification within 
approved budget. 

Murray Downs 
Foreshore Boat 
ramp and 
associated works  

Boat ramp project on course.  
 Survey completed.  
 Geotechnical Investigation completed. 
 Architectural Concept Design completed.  
 Draft Review of Environmental Factors complete.  
 Community consultation meeting was held and 

the design was endorsed  
 Concept design for boat ramp, access and exit; 

and car parks and roadworks completed.  
 Preliminary Drawings completed.  
 Tender Drawings and Specification ready to go 

to tender for construction.    
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Moama 
Foreshores 
Development – 
Horseshoe 
Lagoon Shared 
Bridges  

Bridge structure complete. Ancillary works and 
dismantling of the temporary access bridge will 
have no impact on Moama Lights  

 
Moama 
Foreshores 
Development – 
Beach Amenities 
Block  

Amenities block delivered, installed and open. 
Sewage discharging by gravity into ground tank. 
Power connection about six weeks away, when 
turned on, it will then power the pump for the 
sewer rising main.   

Moama 
Foreshores 
Development – 
Riverside 
Retaining Walls  

Scope within approved budget scheduled to be 
completed by 30/06/2022. Full project scope to be 
delivered in stages over the coming years subject 
to funding.   

Moama 
Soundshell 
Playground 

Replacement of Moama Soundshell playground 
with all abilities play space. Commenced and on-
going 

Mathoura, 
Barham, 
Tooleybuc, 
Moulamein & 
Bunnaloo.  

Sports field lighting upgrades to LED: 
Commenced and ongoing. 
 

Moama & 
Mathoura Pools 

Moama and Mathoura pools were prepared and 
handed over to Belgravia for the 2021-22 season. 
 Moama pool received some major fiberglass 

repair work to the shell. 
 New pool depth signs were installed at both the 

Mathoura and Moama pools. 
 All pools, including the kid’s pools were painted. 
 There have been a few small operational 

issues, such as air-blocks in the chlorine lines 
which required maintenance. 

 The start to the season has been slow, with 
cooler weather contributing to low attendance 
numbers. 
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3.1.6 Advocate for adequate emergency, policing and ambulance services to meet the 
changing needs of communities, and continually strengthen the working relationship 
between Council, community and emergency services 

Action Result 

Advocate for appropriate police 
and ambulance services 
including the successful lobbying 
of State government 
 

Council has resolved to create an emergency services precinct 
(Perricoota Road – Lawry Park) to encourage and facilitate the 
enhancement of emergency services.   
Police Station relocation to the Cobb Highway Moama. 
Now that the physical location has been made available the next step 
is to actively engage with Ambulance NSW.  
Meetings held with both the Local and District Emergency 
Management Committees to highlight the local ambulance statistics 
and strategies to improve the service.  

3.2.2 Encourage community events and celebrations. 

Action Result 

Support local events and attract 
new events 

A Sunday Session  
On Sunday 6th March 2022, thanks to funding from 
The Festival of Place Summer Night Fund, Murray 
River Council was able to hold A Sunday Session at 
the Moama Soundshell.  Throughout the event in 
attendance there were 250+ people with a variety of 
local musical entertainment, children’s activities and 
food and refreshments by local community 
organisations. 
 

Teddy Bears Picnic 
On Sunday 20th March 2022, Murray River Council hosted its annual 
Teddy Bears Picnic at the Moama Soundshell. The event was attended 
by 250+ attendees.  Heading up the entertainment were The Mik Maks.  
Moama Anglican Grammar School’s (MAGS) drumline helped get 
things started with the Teddy Bears march whilst MAGS also managed 
the crafting station and the photobooth along with other children’s 
activities and food & refreshments from local community organisations.  

 
Mathoura Easter Fair 
Mathoura Easter Fair was held Easter Saturday. The event had 
children’s entertainment and games, market stalls, food vendors and 
the annual Tug-O-War event.  The event had 600+ people through the 
event with some stalls selling out by 11am.  Stalls holders were happy 
with the foot traffic and look forward to attending next year.  
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International Women’s Day 
On Friday 18th March 2022, Murray River Council 
celebrated International Women’s Day at Barham 
Services Club with morning tea and panel of 
incredible women discussing careers in 
agriculture, navigating their careers whilst raising 
a family, travelling for work and additional 
commitments such as being members of boards. 
There were more than 60 people in attendance.  
attendees and received positive feedback with the 
request for more events like this to be held. 

Moama-Echuca Bridge Opening 
On Sunday 10th April 2022, Murray River Council assisted, Major Road 
Projects Victoria, with the Echuca Moama Bridge Opening event which 
provided the community with an opportunity to walk across the bridge 
prior to it being opened to traffic.  Dignitaries of Federal, State and 
Local governments were in attendance.  The opening commenced with 
a ‘Welcome to Country and Smoking Ceremony’ and supported by the 
Moama Anglican Grammar School drumline & Echuca Federal Band 
who lead the processions from either side of the bridge.  
Locals arranged a flotilla of paddle boats, steamers, barges and other 
watercraft for the sail past, which was led by his historic ‘Amphibious’ 
boat, and a fly-over in conjunction with the opening. 

 
ANZAC Day Celebrations 
ANZAC Day celebrations were held at 7 locations across the Council, 
including dawn services and wreath laying ceremonies.  All events 
were well attended and showed the community support & spirit. 

 
Australia Day 
Six community breakfasts were held Moama (40 x attendees and 2 
award winners presented), Mathoura (100+ attendees), Barham (150+ 
attendees), Tooleybuc (120+ attendees) and Wakool (70+ attendees).  
Koraleigh made the decision not to hold any events due to concerns 
regarding Covid-19. Our Ambassador, Andrew Heslop (ABC 
Broadcaster and Founder of Neighbour Day) attended Echuca Rotary’s 
Australia Day Dinner and attended Moulamein’s breakfast to assist Cr 
Chris Bilkey with the presentation of three awards. 
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MRC Christmas Lighting Trail 
Christmas lighting in all villages and a stand-alone lighting display on 
Cobb Highway Moama.  

 

 

3.2.4 Provide opportunities for social interactions and connections for our ageing population 

Action Result 

Organisation of Seniors Week 
festivities 
 

During 2021 Seniors Week, Community 
Service teams travelled to celebrate 
giving clients from various locations the 

opportunity to 
come together 
and celebrate 
with entertainment and meal. Transport was 
provided and hats with MRC Logo were given 
out.  

 

During 2021-2022 Murray River’s Community Services teams have 
provided the following services as part of the Aged Care Program: 
Transport:    6166 trips 
Social Support:   8702 hours 
Meals:    1082 
Home maintenance:  457 hours 
Home modifications:  $23,344 
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Outputs delivered were down on funded targets due to the impact of 
Covid19 during the year, particularly in the first and second quarters. 
We can see that services delivered in the third and fourth quarters were 
up by approx. 50% 
Community Transport Program: 
Additional Transport services are delivered to residents of MRC who 
have no available public transport, these residents are considered 
transport disadvantaged and this service is not age specific so is 
available to younger people. 
186 trips were provided. 

Social and Respite Programs: 
Social/Respite program provides 
diverse social outings to enable older 
residents to socially interact, 
maintaining and building valuable 
connections and informal support 
networks. 
Regular activities include: 
 Supported shopping outings to nearest shopping centre, including 

lunch social outings 
 Cuppa and Chat get togethers including groups from different towns 

meeting. (Tooleybuc clients visiting Moulamein etc) 
 Specific interest groups (Monday Men’s Group in Moama/Cuppa 

and Chat groups in Barham, Moulamein and Tooleybuc) 
 Chair-based exercise groups across all locations which builds 

informal social networks and enhances wellbeing. 
Volunteer aged seniors form a valuable informal social network with 
occasional informal cuppas to get together 
Volunteer Week 
Community Services recognise the important contribution of volunteers 
in providing quality services for clients.  
On Monday 16th May a group travelled from Moama, Moulamein and 
Tooleybuc to Barham and met up with other MRC Community Services 
staff and volunteers to celebrate our volunteers.  The occasion was 
marked with a half hour session of Laughter Yoga, followed by a lunch 
at the hotel and presentation of certificates as well as a small gift as a 
token of appreciation to all volunteers. 

 

 
Loretta Dillon celebrated 30 
years volunteering with MRC 
 
Heather O’Malley Social 
Support volunteer Tooleybuc 
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Home Modifications: 
Examples of Home Modifications installed in client’s home: 

  
 
New HACC garage, water tank, fencing, electrical and security 
 Garage, water tank, fencing, etc installed. 
 Completion of the installation and commissioning of the Salto 

System on the garage and access into the compound.  
 Installation and completion of the surface water drainage.  
 The scoping of the landscaping for the area has been completed 

and scheduled in for completion.  
 Awaiting the installation and completion of the CCTV security 

systems 

Child Safe Obligations 
 

Council received funding, for 2021-2022, from the Centre for Disability 
Studies for a Training Officer/Child Safe Project Coordinator.  
The culmination of this funding was the powerful presentation, on 
Council’s obligations under the Child Safe legislation, made at the all 
staff training day held in May 2022.  

3.4.2 Ensure the community has access to innovative and fit for purpose library services. 

Action Result 
Progressively review library 
agreements with neighbouring 
Councils. 

Swan Hill agreements for the Barham, Moulamein, Mathoura and 
Mobile Library have been finalised with the Swan Hill Library. 

Implementation of mobile library 
service 

 

Mobile Library is now in service and has been to all sites.   
Services offered are library services, Council services, access to 
Service NSW portal, forms and information, access to other 
Government agency portals via the public access computers. 

Library Services 

Barham:   
 Move and groove on Thursday mornings has had good response 

and is regularly attended by mums and children for stories, singing, 
dancing and craft activities to follow. 

 Book chat meets every first and third Tuesday at 11.00am and has 
also been well attended. 

 More people are enquiring about the Tech Savvy Seniors course 
and we have had to cap the numbers for the next lot of sessions.    
A list has been started for next year. 
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 Be Connected is gaining momentum and Council is registering each 
branch separately. Then each branch will be able to apply for 
funding individually and access all the resources that the program 
has on offer. 

 Training, is on-going, for the Mentors that will be able to assist 
people on a one on one basis with tech issues during Library hours 
of operation. 

 The TV purchased from the Local Priority Grant 
has been installed and Author talks from You Tube 
have received a good response from the public 
with some sitting and watching the talk in its 
entirety. 

 Held a variety of specialised sessions – including 
the Folkie Dokie show in Barham and Moulamein. 

Mathoura: 
 We have received new books to add to our children and adult 

collection. 
 We have ordered some new shelves, a DVD stand, a mat and some 

colourful cushions through the Local Priority Grant to encourage 
children into the library as well as fold up tables for our games 
afternoons which are easier to set up and they can be stored out of 
sight when not in use. 

 The staff at Mathoura have lots of fantastic ideas to encourage 
people to utilise the library so we should see an increase in 
membership and participation over the next few months. 

Moulamein: 
Moulamein has purchased board games for the participants of the after 
school programs as well as craft items and a giant Connect Four and 
Chinese Checkers game. These after school programs are popular 
with the younger community members and numbers are at a steady 
high. 
Mobile Library Customer Service Centre: 
 The Mobile Library Customer Service Centre made its first 

promotional visit to all sites on the 9th December. During this trip we 
handed out promotional information including a calendar and a list 
of services we will be providing, to residents and local businesses. 

 We are currently putting proposals together for Service NSW and 
Services Australia outlining the benefits of providing their services 
to our communities through the Mobile Library Customer Service 
Centre. The provision of these services not only benefit our 
communities, they will benefit the agencies as well. We hope to 
negotiate positive outcomes in this area moving forward. 

 The new books have been arriving and our members, especially the 
school and preschool, are enjoying borrowing these new items. 
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We need economic growth so that we 
are vibrant, strong and able to support 
our local townships, regional industries 
and future employment.
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4.1.1 Promote our advantages to visit, live, work and invest 

Action Result 

Establish MRC as a regional 
tourism event site 
 

Australian Open Darts 
International event postponed due to COVID-19 
until November 2021 and was eventually held 2 
August – 13 August 2022. 
Campaspe Murray Business Awards 
39 businesses submitted an application in the 
business awards, across 12 categories. The 
awards were very successful with good 
participation from the local business community.  
Western Murray Land Improvement Group 

Growing Ewe Masterclass commenced 7 October 2021 and AgTrends 
2021 Forum, held at the Moulamein Heritage Village. Engaging the 
farming communities to inspire, inform and activate innovation and 
diversification on farm. 
Attendees up to 120, Sponsorship Cash and in-kind up to $5,000 
Moama Lights 

Contractor appointed for production and 
creative, planning underway for 2022 - -
Moama Lights – 31 July – 21 August 2022 
 
 

Mountain Bike National Cup  
AusCycling in conjunction with Echuca Moama Mountain Bike Club 
(Echuca Moama MTB) hosted a Gold Level Mountain Bike National Cup 
event on 2-3 April 2022.  The event saw 115 riders compete over two 
days across the discipline of Cross-Country Short Track in Echuca and 
Cross-Country Olympic discipline in the Moama Mountain Bike Park. 
Murray River Council was the principal funder of the event which was 
unable to take place in either 2020 or 2021 due to COVID.  The event 
saw 106 competitors from outside the Murray River Council 

Champions League Basketball  
Champions League Basketball 3x3 basketball tournament took place in 
Moama took place on 26 & 27 March.  Murray River Council supported 
the event.  With over 100 participants and an additional 130 spectators.  
Players travelled from Hamilton, Sydney, Tatura, Stanhope, Echuca, 
Philippines, Ulaanbaatar, Moama.   

Awards and Recognition 
 

NSW Top Tourism  
Murray River Council was awarded the Judges Award in the NSW Top 
Tourism Town Awards for 2022.  This award was for the Top Tourism 
Town Video. 
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In addition, Moama was named a finalist in the Top Tourism Town 
awards populations greater than 5000 residents.  

Barham was a finalist in the Town Population between 1500 to 5000 and 
Moulamein was a finalist in the Town Population fewer that 1500. 

Economic Development Australia Awards 
Council were the winners of the Economic Development Australia 
Awards , for a population under 15000 residents.   

NSW Tourism Awards 
Murray River Council awarded Bronze for Festivals & Events: Moama 
Lights 2021 in the 2021 NSW Tourism Awards. 

Local Government NSW Awards 
Council was awarded the following awards at the Local Government 
Professionals Conference. 
Winner: ‘Innovation in Special Events’ (Moama Lights) 
An immersive sound and light trail showcasing local stories, Moama 
Lights featured light installations and projections including theatrical fog, 
strobe and cutting edge moving light technology. 

Winner: ‘Reporting to Your Community’ (Cemetery digitisation project) 

The project saw the implementation of digital cemetery records for all 6 
operational cemeteries including Barham, Mathoura Lawn, Mathoura 
Pioneer, Moama, Moulamein and Tooleybuc. This includes drone aerial 
surveying to create high resolution images, along with ground surveying 
to capture GPS co-ordinates and information relating to each known 
grave. 
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Highly Commended: ‘Excellence in Communication’ (Advocacy efforts: 
‘Turn the border green’ campaign.) 

In July 2021 – during another round of 
local border closures - Council led a 
border advocacy campaign focussed 
on changing the border to a ‘green 
zone’ and working with governments to 
develop sustainable, longer-term 
solutions for border communities. 

Voice Project – Change Management  
Winner – Certificate of Excellence for exceptional improvement in work 
practises and employee engagement. 

 
 

4.1.2 Support the local business sector to grow, adapt and respond to new opportunities.  

Action Result 

Develop and implement 
Economic Development 
Strategy 
 

An updated Economic Development Strategic Plan to be reported to 
Council, now complete and awaiting census data for Action Plan targets. 
The unemployment rate within the Murray River LGA is around 3.7% 
which is almost half the NSW and Australian average. There is a need 
to attract skilled and unskilled labour to the region which will involve a 
promotional campaign highlighting the benefits and lifestyle in out 
region. 
Strategise with Council on how to bring industries of the future, and 
subsequently improve the demographic spread, to our communities. 
Commenced development of the new industrial site and holding 
confidential discussions in place with prospective businesses.  
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4.1.3 Identify new opportunities and actively encourage investment in agriculture, 
agribusiness, value added manufacturing, alternate and renewable energy, health, 
wellbeing, aged care, and education.  

Action Result 

Provide development 
support for the Moama Pre 
School 
 

Moama Preschool has received $4.4million of funding.  Grants have 
been secured from the Department of Industry, Science, Energy and 
Resources and the NSW Department of Education.  Council has also 
allocated funds to the project.   
The Moama and District Preschool has been operating community 
sessional preschool programs out of Regent Street, Moama, in a Council 
owned facility for over 40 years.  
The Preschool has limited places and is not able to meet demand for 
enrolments, as is evidenced by lengthy waiting lists.  
The Preschool will be a fully functioning modern community preschool 
that is Council owned and community operated. It will have 4 indoor 
learning environments and an exciting and interactive nature based 
outdoor play space. Designed for energy efficiency and long-term 
operational and environmental sustainability. 
Construction is expected to be completed by 31 December 2023.  

Barham Micro Abattoir 
 

Barham Micro Abattoir received funding through the following programs. 
 Drought Communities Program - $255,000 for road construction, 

fencing and connection of services (works completed prior to 30 June 
2022) 

 Murray Darling Basin Economic Development Program - $450,000 
tender accepted and contractor appointed, DA approval, construction 
of shed, concreting and pens. 

 Growing Local Economies Restart Program - $1,384,000 – project 
management, processing rooms, equipment and fit out.  

All funding received prior to 30 June 2022 however works completed 
post 30 June 2022: 

Additional opportunities 
 

MRC has partnered with the One Basin Cooperative Research Centre 
(CRC) and Western Murray Land Improvement Group to progress value 
add food projects and to undertake research and development of future 
agricultural products. 
Working with Acciona and Windlab on a total of $2.5 billion renewable 
energy projects between Moulamein and Balranald. 
Land sales, both in industrial and residential land, have increased to the 
highest levels ever over the last 12 months. 
Working with Telstra to obtain funding for the construction and 
installation of a telecommunications tower at Picnic Point. 
MRC has attracted a proposal to construct a 5MW Solar Energy farm on 
Council land in Moulamein. 
MRC is working with NBN Co to construct and install three towers to 
provide Fixed Wireless Services to Tooleybuc, Koraleigh and Murray 
Downs at a cost of $3.7 million. 
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Promotion of: 
 Regional NSW - Event Management Scholarship Program, Diploma 

of Event Management to learn new and/or formalise their skills. 
 Murray Regional Tourism Board, Rural Adversity Mental Health 

Program Moama August 24 
 NSW Business Support Program.  

4.2.1 Support for tourism investment and infrastructure, including accommodation. 

Action Result 

Develop and implement 
Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy 

Murray Regional Tourism (MRT) 
MRT in partnership with Councils and industry is continuing to develop 
the Murray River Roads as a tourism product. A map-heavy website is 
currently under development to engage with a millennial demographic. 
Signage 
New and updated tourism directional signage installed in Murray 
Downs and Moama. 
Backroads Trail 
Council is supporting the Backroads Trail committee to develop a 
podcast series to share the highlights of the trail and talk to locals about 
living along the Trail.  
REWiRE  
Small Business Coach, free, confidential and independent coaching for 
small business to be prepared, responsive and empowered 
Balance for Better 
An innovative scholarship program offering financial support to women 
in the Campaspe and Murray regions whose career path is challenging 
stereotypes and making important inroads towards true gender identity.  
Applications closed in March and two successful recipients were 
announced.  In order to be classed as non-traditional, less than 25 
percent of an occupation’s workforce can be women. Scholarships of 
up to $1000 are available. The funding must be used for tools, 
equipment or related expenses or tuition costs at a TAFE, University or 
similarly reputable private education provider. 
Regional Economic Development Strategy 
An update to the Regional Economic Development Strategy is 
underway with Council providing valuable input into its development.  
River Country 
The Visit River Country website continues to attract good visitation, 
with events a popular reason to visit. Moama Lights and Visit River 
Country Socials continue to grow and find good reach.  
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and Governance 

       

We expect effective, democratic, open, 
transparent leadership and governance 
that plans for, advocates for, and meets 
the changing needs of our diverse 
community.



Murray River Council 21/22 Annual Report70

Delivery Report
Strengthen Leadership and Governance

 

5.1.1  Council decision making takes into account the needs and priorities of our local 
communities and the longer term social, cultural, economic and environmental viability and 
sustainability of our region 

Action Result 

Complete implementation of 
the Business Excellence 
Framework 
 

“Purpose, Alignment, Clarity, Trust, Measure, Manage, Improve, and 
Celebrate’. The principles of Murray River Council’s ‘Continual 
Management of Change Framework’.  
The Monthly Operational Report (MOR) encompasses both business 
disciplines and organisational culture which in turn will enhance the 
organisational climate. 
The Framework states Council’s aims (Purpose), who is accountable 
(Alignment), progress to date (Clarity) and is a tool that empowers all 
Managers to run their own ‘business’ (Trust).  
The way the architecture of this document is designed allows the 
community, Council and staff to measure against outcomes. In 
measuring staff know where and what to manage, in applying human 
capital to manage, the outcomes will naturally improve, and in 
improving, staff, Council and the wider community will be able to 
celebrate our combined achievements.    

Community Support and 
Assistance  

The MRC Community Grants Scheme was introduced to control and  
formalise Council spending on ad-hoc community projects. 
The Community Grants Scheme delivers $30,000 twice yearly using a 
formal application process through ‘Smarty Grants’. This has improved 
the standard of applications and introduced formal qualification criteria. 
Financial assistance is distributed through five (5) funding categories 
that support current community needs and Council’s priorities.  
These categories may be reviewed and amended as necessary to 
maintain alignment with any future changes to Council’s vision, 
Community Strategic Program (CSP) or emerging community priorities 
identified through community consultation and Council strategic 
planning processes.  
The financial assistance categories and the 2021-2022 allocations are 
as follows: 
 MRC Annual Allocations - 146,990.00 
 MRC Community Grants - $60,000 
 MRC Quick Response Grants - $10,000 
 MRC Local Heritage Fund - $11,000 
 MRC Youth Week Grants – as needed 

Increase in own source 
revenue.  

 

A Revenue Taskforce has been set up. The objective of the taskforce is 
‘To identify and drive initiatives to return MRC to a financially sustainable 
footing through the realisation of short and long term revenue generating 
opportunities. 
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The Revenue Taskforce has met on five occasions since its formation 
and has toured Council-owned sites, that have been identified for 
possible disposal or development, in Moama and Mathoura. 
All land assets have had a desk top review, opportunities for disposal or 
development have been identified, recommendations and revenue 
analysis completed.  
Possible net revenue of $37.6million, from disposal and development of 
land has been identified. 
Tours of Council-owned land in Barham, Wakool, Moulamein, Murray 
Downs, Koraleigh Tooleybuc and Goodnight are being planned and will 
be followed by a physical review of Council buildings and facilities.  
The taskforce final report is to be submitted to Council by April 2023. 
We currently have an Operating Performance Ratio of about 11.5%. 
Council has embarked on an austerity drive to help bring the curve back 
to ‘above the break even point’, as detailed below: 
 Reduction of discretionary expenditure of 5.6% 
 Working with other Councils to harvest synergies 
 Delivering the outcomes determined by Council via the 355 Special 

Revenue Committee 
 Removing the cross-subsidy of the water/sewer and waste funds 

(vehicles, administration, even the % used of office space) 
 Energy use and management 
 Sweating assets (especially the yellow fleet) 
 Reviewing the depreciation rates 
Selling services (consulting to other Councils, Transport for NSW etc) 

Support community in 
recovery from COVID-19 
crisis 
 

The Customer Service team has been at the forefront in providing 
accurate and up to date information in relation to COVID restrictions and 
requirements. 
During the COVID period, the Murray region has experienced a 
downturn in the visitor economy of $1billion with over 10,000 jobs lost. 
Council undertook an extensive advocacy initiative to highlight, to 
Governments – both State and Federal, the negative impact of border 
closures and COVID restrictions on the Murray region. The campaign 
promoted the use of “Ring of Steel Strategy’ to tackle COVID outbreaks, 
rather than rely on border closures. 
A new category of assistance has been created to assist not-for-profits 
and community groups who have been adversely impacted by COVID. 
The COVID Assistance Program commenced in November 2021.  
Vaccination hubs were organised for the Mathoura and Wakool 
communities on the 20th and 21st of September to allow residents the 
opportunity to receive a first or second vaccination who had been unable 
to access other facilities.    

Enact Council resolutions 
 

No known or reported deviations  
Actions are created by Infocouncil (Council’s dedicated Council Minutes 
program) on each resolution and sent to the responsible officer for 
completion of the agreed action in Council meetings.  
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A time target is implemented and comments are added for information 
in regards to the status of each resolution.  

Perform a harmonisation 
review on waste, water and 
sewer annual charges. 
 

Water and sewer annual charges harmonised as part of the 2021/22 
Revenue Policy and Operational Plan – adopted by Council 22 June 
2021. 
Waste annual charges to be harmonised over the next three (3) financial 
years (2021/22 to 2023/24 financial years). 

Develop whole of life costing 
business model 

To be actioned in the 2022/23 financial year as part of the budget 
process.  
Engineering department implementing whole of life costing as part of the 
capital works cycle and are looking to implement this process Council 
wide.  

Identify and implement 
Business Transformation 
Program 
 

The new IT software platform (TechOne) was rolled out on target on the 
5th of July 2021. Staff have had access to an extensive training program.  
The ‘Continual Management of Change Framework’, including the 
Accountabilities Framework, has been built. This document will 
measure, manage, improve, and celebrate’ our outcomes. The 
accountabilities are being added to individual’s Position Descriptions as 
each PD is reviewed.  
Commenced austerity drive (including plant utilisation project). 
Commenced review of parks, gardens, and open space - defining and 
aligning.  

5.1.2 Council acts in a financially responsible manner to ensure delivery of safe and 
sustainable services to the community 

Action Result 

Implement workforce planning 
system 
 

The revised Accountability Framework, the essential predecessor to a 
workforce planning system, was completed in 2021. The next step was 
to look at where there are insufficient overlaps, which will in-turn allow 
further development  
Position descriptions for all positions have been reviewed and updated. 
All staff half-day training day held in July. Topics were: 
 Saving 5.6% in expenditure; 
 Child Safe Standards;  
 Code of Conduct;  
 Community Strategic Plan (delivery);  
 Bullying and Harassment; and  
 WHS Incident & Accident Reporting.  

Complete implementation of 
ICT Strategy 
 

Started the ICT Strategic Plan delivery 18 months ago and now 
delivering into Year 5 of the plan. 
Delivered Projects 
 iPads for Youth Expo 
 Environmental Health Officer - Fridge Sensors 
 HUB - Meeting Room Issue 



Murray River Council 21/22 Annual Report73

Delivery Report
Strengthen Leadership and Governance

 Rangers Access to CCTV 
 NSWPOL Access to CCTV 
 Customer Service Computers - HDD Upgrades 
 Moama Grand Final 
 WiFi Install - Echuca Street 
 Meninya Street Office - Staff Movements 
 Pound Cameras – Cleaning 
 Truck Phones 
 Mobile Repeaters 
 RTA Yard Gate 
 Meeting Room Systems - Windows updates 
 MBC – Phones 
 Dash Cams for Trucks 

 
Projects in progress 
 Moulamein WTP – EDAC 
 Wakool WTP - EDAC 
 Barham Transfer Station - Network 
 Barham Transfer Station - Mandalay 
 Ranger On-Call Queue 
 Works Caravans – Starlink 
 DMARC Project (Cyber Security) 
 Penetration Testing (Cyber Security) 
 Water Tower - Starlink & Comms Equipment 
 Tooleybuc HACC - Internet 
 Tooleybuc PARK – Internet & WIFI 
 Tooleybuc WTP – Internet 
 Wakool Recreation Reserve – Starlink 
 ICT Insourcing Feasibility 
 Mathoura Depot – CCTV 
 Barham Pound - Internet & CCTV 
 External Network Review 
 External Security Review  
 Barham Riverside Reception Room - TV & VC 
 Mobile Command / Events Trailer 
 Mathoura WTP Scada Install 

 
Current projects  
 Barham WTP - Printer Installation (Scanning) 
 Moulamein House – Network & Workspace 
 Salto Upgrade 
 Meninya Street - Meeting Room & Salto 
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 Mathoura War Memorial - TV & VC 
 Mathoura Recreation Reserve - Internet & Salto 
 Mathoura Pool - Internet, Phone & Salto 
 Procurement Review & streamline process 
 Business Continuity  
 Barham Depot – CCTV 
 Barham Office – CCTV 
 Moulamein Depot – CCTV 
 Salto LPR for gates 

Review of lease and 
purchasing arrangement Ongoing requirements met  

Develop a Council wide 
Business Continuity Plan 

All documents and plans have been developed.  Testing and revision, 
by the Continuity Management Team, is required on an on-going basis.   

Review and evaluate 
Contracts  Register 
 

A Contracts Register is kept in accordance with the Government 
Information (Public Access) Act 2009 (GIPA Act). This is updated on an 
ongoing basis during the year.  This register is kept on a financial year 
basis. 
Contracts are reviewed as part of an overall review of procurement 
arrangements for Council or as long-term goods and services based 
contracts expire.  

Introduce a probity framework 
into the project management 
disciplines  

A framework and key stages have been developed and forms part of the 
new Project Management Framework and updates have been made to 
relevant policies and procedures in both Procurement and Property. 

Outstanding debts  
collection undertaken 

On-going monthly process. 
Council Finance staff re-engaged debt recovery during the 2021/22 
financial year after stopping debt recovery during the COVID pandemic. 
Reminder letters have been sent to those ratepayers with overdue 
amounts.  
Total rates outstanding as at 30 June 2022 - $2,347,000, or 11.72% 
Total water outstanding as at 30 June 2022 - $392,412 or 15.18% 
Total sundry debtors outstanding debt (over 90 days) is $265,755 
(excludes deferred debtors) or 18.63%. 

Implement new Enterprise 
Resource Planning software 
 

Technology One:  
Finance, Strategic Asset Management, Supply Chain, Payroll and 
Budgeting Modules implemented and in use.  
One upgrade to 2021B has already been completed. 
All implemented modules required enhancements and improvements. 
GIS User Acceptance Testing has been completed and training 
requirements have been defined.  
Spatial has been rolled out, complete with training. 
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Human Resources, ECR and Property & Rating Modules are under 
development for implementation. 
Discussions on-going with Technology One as to the best approach for 
rollout- options being considered. Additional resources have been 
secured to assist with project delivery. Detailed project planning has 
commenced and was presented to the Project Control Board on 1 May 
2022.  Working Groups briefed in May 2022, ready to commence design 
workshops. Workshops were undertaken in June 2022 for Property & 
Names, Rates & miscellaneous Billing, Water & general services.  
Technology One SaaS Solution 
Release 2 planning and resourcing undertaken. Version Upgrade 
implemented in November 2021. A Project Control Board (PCB) has 
been created to manage the remainder of the project. Discussions were 
held with various departments to start process mapping current state in 
preparation of design workshops. Process mapping underway and 
design workshops scheduled.  
Design workshops for Property & Rating completed and Working Groups 
to define configuration requirements by end of July 2022. 
 

Technology One Modules 
Finance 
 WIP – product live and in production.  
 Key users and end users trained.  
 MRC using partial functionality from 5 July 2021.  
 Finance CIVICA ETL, balances, budget, bank reconciliation and 

reporting in progress.  
 Report creation still in progress.  
 Current works underway for a New Creditor Form, Update Creditor 

Form and Staff Reimbursements Form.  
 End of Financial Year workshops were held in June 2022 including 

staff training and training materials.  
Corporate Enterprise Budgeting 
 WIP – product live and in production.  
 Budgets loaded.  
 Reports finalised and rolled out.   
 Fine-tuning budget & ledger structure.   
 Additional works underway for Budget & Ledger improvements.  
 Works continued for ledger structure. 
Supply Chain Management 
 WIP – Purchasing product live and in production.  
 Key users and end users trained.  
 MRC using partial functionality from 5 July 2021.  
 Training rolled out to new & existing users.  
 Contracts system configured, data migrated and validated.  
 Working with Manager Procurement to further develop this module. 
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 New functionality rolled out to enable users to cancel Purchase 
Orders and delegate Goods Receipting.   

 Standard Terms & Conditions developed and attached to all 
Purchase Orders.  

 Supplier Portal planning & development undertaken; and  
 Approval workflow for purchases over $100,000 being developed. 
Human Resources & Payroll 
 WIP – organisation management, payroll and workforce 

management live and in production.  
 Payroll and end users trained and using partial functionality.  
 HR modules configured to base line ONLY and awaiting input from 

Business Unit once resources are made available.  
 Process mapping has been undertaken to define business needs. 
 Working Group have been identified and met in June/July 2022 to 

begin planning.  
Enterprise Asset Management 
 WIP – works system live and in production.  
 MRC employees trained and using system to book labour, materials 

and plant to work orders.  
 Projects and work orders being built out by business units.  
 Defects capture and Maintenance Scheduling rolled out.   
 Process mapping undertaken to better understand Works scheduling 
 Asset books continuing to be refined and updated to include Assets 

that were missed in the revaluation. 
Strategic Asset Management 
 WIP – waiting on Asset data to be imported.  
 Met with 3rd party on 4 May 2022 to define next steps required to get 

this module up & running.  
 Assets Department has delayed any additional works until August 

2022. 
Access, Security and Permissions 
 WIP – to be reviewed and tightened up post go-live.  
 Business Rules being developed to support ongoing management of 

access permissions.  
 Recent audit identified additional work required to manage and 

maintain access permissions and security requirements. 
Data Migration 
 AP, Inventory and Payroll data migrated.  
 Assets in progress.  
 R1 data migration completed with exception of Asset books. 
 Negotiations underway for data migration specialist for Release 2.  
 Data migration planning commenced with initial session which 

included Working Group members. 
 



Murray River Council 21/22 Annual Report77

Delivery Report
Strengthen Leadership and Governance

Environments 
 Four environments CONFIG, DATA, MASTER and PROD now 

reduced to PROD and TEST in preparation for Release 2.  
 Test Environment being refreshed to enable Release 2 works to 

commence.  
 Additional environment being created for data migration works. 
Updates And Improvements 
 Chart Rebuild completed for the 2022-2023 financial year. 
 Purchase Order approval workflow over $100k live including training 

for Resource Pool members to manage. 
 Training videos for Supplier Portal created. 
 Civica Authority data migration planning commenced. 
 Work Projects & Work Orders process mapped to refine & improve 

reporting. 
 Planning Portal grant application submitted for corporate system 

integration. 
 Lunch-N-Learn training sessions launched  
 Process for cancelling Purchase Orders has been implemented 
 Process to delegate Goods Receipting has been implemented 
 Learning Hub launched to assist with staff software training 
Currently Working On:  
 New Creditor Form 
 Update Creditor Form 
 Supplier Portal 
 Staff Reimbursements Form 
 Property & Rates module detailed project planning including Testing 

Strategy 
 PowerUser training continued- expected completion Jul/Aug 2022 

Additional Resource Planning 
Projects  
 

E-Signature roll out 
A new process has been implemented across Council to facilitate 
electronic signing of documents to provide enhanced governance, 
reduce paperwork, increase efficiencies and provide cost savings due to 
convenience & time savings. Successfully rolled out to Corporate 
Services, the CEOs office and Infrastructure department, with additional 
departments to come on board over the coming months.  
Chronicle Cemetery Software 
Tooleybuc, Barham, Moulamein, Mathoura Lawn, Mathoura Pioneer and 
Moama cemeteries data have been digitalised and the new software and 
is live on Council website. 
Customer Service staff have been trained and training materials have 
been developed. 
The system generated forms and letters have created efficiencies and 
streamlined processes across the cemeteries space. 
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This software is proving to be a useful tool for the funeral directors and 
the cemeteries team with customers being able to look at the website 
and see availability of plots and locate interred family members. 
Meeting Agenda Software 
Review of existing Meeting Agenda distribution platform has been 
completed, with Stellar Library being selected. Councillor training was 
undertaken in February 2022. Set up of software has been handed over 
to the CEOs office and training completed for Councillors & Executive 
Team.  Additional training was held in May 2022 for Librarian users.   
Snap, Send, Solve 
The introduction of this community reporting platform that will simplify 
the way community members and visitors can report issues community 
issues for our community members and visitors.   
Snap, Send, Solve allows 
 community members and visitors to log a hazard or risk, upload a 

photograph and accurately pinpoint the location;.  
 Council to reassign reports that are not relevant to Council; 
 can be customised to suit the needs of Council; and 
 including capturing data such as customer satisfaction ratings.  
It integrates with TechOne and eventually will streamline our reporting 
processes by integrating them directing into our Customer Relationship 
Management System once developed.    

Cemetery Management 

We had a total of 78 interments for the 2021-2022 period.  
The Customer Service business unit became responsible for cemetery 
administration in April 2022. The introduction of our cemetery software 
Chronicle was also introduced at the same time. This software has 
created better efficiencies around interments and reservations with our 
key stakeholders having access to view each cemetery via our website 
and discuss potential interment sites with families during initial meetings. 
The software has the ability to generate documents for our operations 
teams, funeral directors and families saving time and the minimising 
errors. Intensive training was provided to ensure the smooth transition 
to the online systems and processes. Development of strong working 
relationships with key stakeholders has ensured that families are 
supported during throughout the process. 
Cemetery fees have been harmonised for the 2021/22 financial year.  

5.2.2 Increased participation by young people in community life and community leadership 
with recognition of young people’s positive contributions.  

Action Result 

Conduct youth week activities 
 

YHubs continue to be popular at Moulamein with 14 youth registered.  
Recruitment for position of Youth Engagement Officer – Moama/Barham 
completed – Youth Engagement Officer to commence early August. 
Stove installed in Moulamein Community Centre to enhance the Youth 
Engagement Program opportunities. 
230 services events were delivered at the Hubs. 
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The Youth Week Event saw youth 
participate in a survey, providing answers 
about what was important to them in their 
community.  
24 cinema tickets were provided to youth 
across the LGA – YEP staff transported 6 
YEP participants to Swan Hill for lunch 
and shopping time followed by a movie at 
Show Biz cinema. 

5.2.3 Foster community leadership opportunities and development.  

Action Result 

Provide training opportunities 
for Councillors 
 

Councillors have had the opportunity to attend a number of different 
conferences, training and information sessions during 2021-2022.  
Including but not limited to: 
Jun 21  Port Macquarie Tourism Conference 
July 21 Roads & Assets workshop 
Aug 21 Transgrid Presentation on Moulamein Project 
 Acciona Energia Presentation on Keri Keri  
Sept 21 EMT Strategy meeting 
 Echuca Moama Flood Study 
 Infrastructure Contributions Reforms 
 Public Health Order impacts on Regional NSW 
 Border Advocacy Initiative update –  
 Pilot Framework and Media Plan Discussion 
 Murray Socio Economic Activation Taskforce (MSEAT) 
 several meetings throughout the year 
Oct 21 Campaspe Murray Mental Health Network 
 Murray Regional Tourism 
 WMLIG Upper House Inquiry, Timber and Products 
 South West Renewable Energy Zone Regional Reference 
 Group (several meetings) 
 TfNSW Swan Hill/Murray Downs Bridge Project 
Nov 21 Yarrawonga to Torrumbarry River Reach Stakeholder Group 
 (YTRRSG) 
 Country Mayors Association Meeting 
 Community Strategic Plan - Development of Themes and 
 Goals  (numerous meetings) 
 Western Regional Planning Panel 
 South West Arts strategic planning meeting 
 Murray Socio Economic Activation Taskforce 
 Infrastructure Contributions, Exhibition Q&A Webinar 
Jan 22 Elected Life – Councillor Training 
 Industrial/commercial development Workshop 
Feb 22 Manufactured Home Estate lot owners info session 
 South West Renewable Energy Zone regional reference 
 group 
 Advance Leadership Group 
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 Murray River Council (Southern) Liquor Accord 
 Campaspe Murray MH&W Network meeting 
 Echuca Moama & District Tourism Board 
 LGNSW Special Conference – Sydney 
 Country Mayors Association meeting – Sydney 
 ICAC Training  
Mar 22 Murrumbidgee and Murray Regional Water Strategies 
 briefing  
 Insurance Forum with Statewide Mutual/Marsh 
 Western Murray Land Improvement Group 
 DPIE Water Plans – Deniliquin 
Apr 22 Murray Socio Economic Activation Taskforce (MSEAT)  
 Intensive Integrity Workshop  
May 22 NSW-Vic Cross-Border jurisdictions   
 Echuca Moama Tourism - Strategic review project reference 
 group  
 Echuca Moama Torrumbarry Flood Study 
 Western Regional Planning Panel Determination 
 Visitor & Destination conference – Orange 
 Builders Collective/MRC discussion Moama  (several 
 meetings) 
 Revenue Taskforce  
June 22 Joint Campaspe Shire Council & Murray River Council 
 meeting 
 CLRS Project official opening  

5.3.1 Council clearly identifies and promotes simple, effective communication, consultation 
and participation for community 

Action Result 

Develop intranet for 
publishing key Council 
documents  
 

This is an IT budgeted project, delivered in partnership with the 
Communications and HR departments. 
The intranet development and rollout was put on hold until the second 
half of the 2021/22 FY to allow for Release 2 of Tech1, as the two 
programs will complement each-other.  Plans for launch and training will 
be identified and developed once project development commences. 
This roll-out was further delayed, development will not commence until 
further information and assessments have been completed in relation to 
requirements and functionality of existing and coming platforms. 

Deliver project-based 
activities as required  

The new Murray River Council website design has been completed and 
the site is now live. This new website has been designed to offer the 
ultimate user-friendly experience with improved navigation and 
functionality. Created with the user experience in mind, our site includes 
new features to ensure customers can find the information they need.  

Deliver ongoing 
communication activities  
 
 

Regular communication and engagement items published or undertaken 
during the 2021-2022 included: 
 information and campaign-related social media posts; 
 media releases; 
 community newsletter; 
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 print and/or electronic publications – flyer, booklets or materials 
developed for Council’s portfolios (youth/community 
services/weeds/waste/water/major projects); 

 fortnightly update feature in local press publications; and 
 radio campaigns 

Continue development of the 
‘Bang the Table’ community 
platform 
 

“Bang the Table”/”Your Say” platform is used for Community 
Engagement activities for projects as required. Visits to the portal will 
vary month to month depending on the number of projects which are live 
and the communities’ level of interest in the topic/s.  

Establish compliant records 
management system  
 

 

Training & Support 
 Tech One training materials have been developed 
 TechOne training and refresher sessions have now been offered at all 

offices and depots.   
 PowerUsers have been identified and trained. These employees are 

available to all staff to assist with individual requests and issues. 
 Online Learning Hub has been created to act as a ‘one stop shop’ for 

all software training need, including Cheat Sheets, Training Manuals, 
Training Calendar of upcoming events as well as software news and 
external links to the TechOne Customer Community, TechOne 
University and Excel, Word & Teams training. 

Creation of Records 
 Records captured into Content Manager (CM9) – Council’s Electronic 

Document Management System (EDMS): 
Calendar Year 2022 (to date):    31,899 documents 
Calendar Year 2021:                    60,073 documents 
Total:                                     617,247 documents 

Archiving & Disposal 
 Records Destroyed – This Year to Date:  0 documents 
 Records Destroyed – Total: 18,895 documents 
 Records Made Inactive- This Year to Date: 15,008 documents  
 Records Made Inactive- Total: 416,565 documents  
 Records Custody Transferred (Permanent Archive) - This Year: 0  
 Records Custody Transferred (Permanent Archive) - Total: 7 files 
 Records Transferred to Off-Site Storage- This Year: 0   
 Records Transferred to Off-Site Storage- Total: 7 Files 
 Large amount of former MSC hardcopy files to be sentenced to enable 

archiving & disposal process 
 Large amount of former MSC hardcopy files to be transferred to NSW 

State Archives 
Hardcopy Storage 
 Physical/hardcopy legal documents currently housed in Mathoura & 

Moulamein have been relocated to Moama so they are readily 
accessible when required, including the  3 x lockable fire-resistant 
cabinets. 
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 East & West documents to be combined into centralised system. 
 Hardcopy Development Application (DA) files are currently housed at 

Mathoura & Moulamein – both offices having no Planning & Building 
staff.   Short term plan is to consider moving all DA files from 
Moulamein to Mathoura to speed up access for Planning & Building 
staff. Long term storage requirements to be considered at a later date. 

Compliance: 
Records & Information Management (RIM) Review – Recordkeeping 
Innovation have been engaged to assist Council with developing a 
Records & Information Management Strategy to determine the most 
effective ways for Council to manage its information long term. This will 
cover CM9, Technology One, Shared Drives and M365. 
 Information & Records Management Strategy has been delivered and 
Executive Leadership Team briefed 2 May 2022. Action plan being 
developed.  
 Information Governance Group to be created to assist with decision 

making across Council in relation to Information & Records 
Management. 

 Creation of an Information Asset Register is required. Information 
Governance Group to assist with planning. 

 Creation of a Software Register has been developed and will continue 
to be improved overtime. 

 

At the end of the financial year, the Customer Service Call Centre had 
received 27,890 calls equating to 112 calls per business day.  
Abandoned calls are logged and we have a dedicated team member to 
contact the customer and resolve their query. 
Without Customer Relationship Management (CRM) software and 
effective Call Centre Management software we are unable to accurately 
report on first contact resolution rates, call types and trends. 
The team at the Mathoura Visitor and Business Centre noticed a steady 
increase in the number of visitors into the centre once restrictions were 
eased. With the abolition of mask mandates and restrictions more 
people are on the move and dropping into the centre for a visit. We have 
a team member stationed at the counter permanently throughout the day 
to greet people as they enter and assist with enquiries. 
The After Hours Call Centre had a total of 1003 calls for the 2021-2022 
year. Of these 149 were call outs while 170 were emailed to our Admin 
team to disseminate to the responsible business unit to follow up.  The 
After Hours Call Centre is able to triage the calls and has reduced the 
number of call outs over the year and created better efficiencies. We 
now have the ability to extract call data, wait times and report on the 
actions from the call logs.  
Service Requests 
There were a total of 3,840 service requests for the 2021/22 financial 
year. 1378 were related to phone messages requesting a call back.  
We had 58 Snap Send Solve requests which included pinned locations 
and photos. We saw significant monthly increases in Snap Send Solve 
requests after advertising the application in our newsletter and on social 
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media. The inclusion of exact locations and photos in the request allows 
our teams to prioritise the works schedule.  
Results for Service NSW show significant decreases in transactions 
across all 3 offices in the 2021-2022 year compared to the 2020-2021 
financial year. Border closures and requirements for licensing, 
registration and identification were responsible for the high transaction 
rates in 2020-2021.  
The Moama agency exceeded it’s target by 4% in 2021-2022 and this is 
due to the high growth rate of the area.  
COVID 19 saw reduced travel to all areas in 2021-2022 and many 
residents learnt to transact online in an effort to minimise contact with 
others.  
Council is awaiting new agreements from Service NSW for the 2022 – 
2025 period. Service NSW requested an extension of the existing 
agreement until they have finalised outstanding matters.  
Services Available 
GLS – Service NSW: Office of Fair Trading, Maritime, Owner Builder 
applications, NCAT, Births Deaths & Marriages, Associations, Seniors 
Cards. 
OLGR – Office Liquor, Gaming & Racing: Responsible Service of 
Alcohol, Responsible Conduct of Gambling. 
Drives – Transport for NSW, Driver Licencing, Vehicle Registration, 
Mobility Parking Scheme, Firearms, Security, Commercial Agents & 
Private Inquiry Agent Licencing, Working with Children Checks. 

5.3.2 Regularly report to the community on the progress against the Community Strategic 
Plan. 
Action Result 

Report against the strategies 
in the Community Strategic 
Plan (CSP) 
 
 

 

Community Strategic Plan 2022-2032 was adopted at the 
June 2022 Ordinary Council Meeting. The 4-Year Delivery 
Program and 1-year Operational Plan were out on public 
exhibition prior to being adopted. 4 submissions or 
comments were received. The adopted document is 
available on Councils website.  

5.4.1 Pursue advocacy on key issues of importance to the community and Council 

Action Result 

Maintain partnerships with 
State and Federal 
Governments 
 

Advocacy in regards to: 
 Border Bubble; 
 Puppy Farms; 
 proposed land re-zoning tax;  
 Swan Hill bridge (TfNSW); 
 re-instatement of border bubble;  
 the flaws in the new Planning Portal; and  
 advocating to LGNSW to push the roll-out of Variable Message 

Boards across NSW with the message, “Re-open. Get Vaxxed.”  
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Requested from Sussan Ley’s Office a letter of support for Council’s 
Murray Darling Healthy Rivers Program grant application.  
Currently advocating to the Deputy Prime Minister’s Office to assist with 
the alignment of the NSW and Victorian Heavy Vehicle Transport routes 
(the new bridge). The alignment of the Heavy Vehicle Transport Route 
across the new bridge seems to have been a success.  
Advocating through RAMJO to coerce the State Government to improve 
the Planning Portal. 

5.4.2  Identify opportunities to partner with other organisations or agencies to increase 
advocacy effectiveness and positive outcomes for the community 

Action Result 

Continue participation in the 
Riverina and Murray Joint 
Organisation 
 

MRC Actions from Council Meetings complete and up-to-date.  
Liaised with Executive Officer (EO) to advocate for the Riverina and 
Murray Joint Organisation (RAMJO) to take up opportunities to start a 
local government specific Group Training Scheme, and employee 
coaching scheme. Liaised with EO regards MRC being on the Shared 
Services steering committee. 
Currently liaising with DPIE in relation to the Smart Places Action Plan 
2.0 for Regional NSW Councils. There are many projects,including 
Smart Places (digital connectivity and data management in public 
domains), Artificial Intelligence (pavement management), and others 
related to the Circular Economy. 
Attended RAMJO meeting 13 May – NSW Resilience Strategy, OLG 
CEO presentation, Regional Transport Strategy, RAMJO Water Sub 
Committee. 
Working with RAMJO to advocate to the NSW Government regards 
fixing the Planning Portal.   

Ensure Legislative / 
regulatory compliance and 
reporting is met 
 

 PID and GIPA Annual Returns submitted within the required timelines. 
 GIPA – Information Access Application completed within the 

designated time frames 
 Annual Report submitted by 30 November 2021 
 Code of Conduct Report submitted to OLG 
 Disclosure of Interests reported to Council  
 Related Parties returns by designated persons completed 
 Coordinated the Code of Conduct investigations   
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Manage and develop Policies 
and Procedures  
 

The following Policies were adopted and placed in the Policy Register: 
July 21 Code of Conduct (Vulnerable Persons & Children) Policy  
Aug 21 Vehicle Driveway Crossover Policy  
  Business Continuity Policy  
  Bring your own Devices Procedure  
  Secondary Employment register  
Sept 21 Community Engagement Policy  
  Child Safe Policy  
Oct 21 Companion Animal Breeding Policy 
Jan 22 Cemeteries Management Policy  
  Section 355 Committees 
Apr 22 Asset Capitalisation Policy    

  Flexible Work Procedure V#2 including Purchased Leave  
  Educational Assistance Procedure V#2  
Delegations of Authority for specific positions are updated on a needs  
basis.    

 

Coordinator the insurance 
portfolio and claims 

Establish adequate 
insurance cover for Council 

 Potential insurance claims received during 2021-22 - 102 
 Intensive Integrity Workshop – held April 2022 
 Insurance renewals placements – completed late June 2022   
 Certificates of Currency available 

813

293

59

0

Number of fire hazard reduction inspections

Number of fire hazard reduction Notices

Number of fire hazard reduction Orders

Number of fire hazard reductions executed by
Council

Fire Reduction 2021/22

1021

108

63

22

Number of complaints received

Number of notices / orders issued

Illegal Dumping Investigations

Illegal Dumping Amount

Investigations - 2021/22
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activities, in consultation 
with operational managers. 

 

 Handover of fleet and equipment claims to Manager Plant 
Equipment and Stores. 

 
 

Develop, maintain and report 
on Council’s suite of 
Corporate registers 
 

Informal GIPA requests for 2021-2022 – totalled 91 
Formal GIPA requests for 2021-2022 – totalled 10 
TOTAL:  101 GIPA requests 

 
The following Registers are kept and updated on a regular basis: 
 Gifts & Benefits Register  
 Secondary Employment Register  
 Risk Register  
 Disclosure of Interest Register  
 Related Party Register 
 Conflict of Interest Register 
 Legislative Compliance Register 
 Code of Conduct Register 
 Policy Register  

6
12

30
9

15

29

2021-2022 YTD Potential Insurance Claims - by 
type

Theft of Council Property Windscreens Driver Error

Wildlife Impact Accidental Damage Damage to 3rd Party /PL

2021-2022 
Total

101
2020-2021 

Total
102

1

35

32

23

10

2021-22 GIPA Requests (YTD) 

CCTV Owner Details Das/Planning Council Documents Other

2021-2022

101
(2020-2021)   

92
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 Insurance Claims Register 
 Planning Decisions Register 
 GIPA Register 
 PIPPA Register 
 Contracts Register  

Facilitate the Audit & Risk 
Committee function of 
Council 
 

A&RC Meetings: 
  5 July 2021, 
  9 August 2021,  
 10 November 2021,  
 7 February 2022  and 
 9 May 2022 

Internal Audits  
 Project Management Audit - finalised 
 Waste and Landfill Management Internal Audit – finalised 
 DAs and Building Certificates - ongoing 

Governance: 
 Tendered for Internal Auditors – 2021-2024 
 New Internal Auditors, Centium induction provided  
 EOI for new independent committee member/s – completed  
 Induction materials for Independent member/s - commenced  
 Self -Assessment of the ARIC’s performance - 2017-2021 
Highlights and Actions 
 Meeting Timetable – for 2021-23 adopted 
 MRE – monitoring continues 
 Developer Contribution Policy – on hold due to legislative changes  
 Monitoring of the Moama Pre-School Project – due to changes in 

costing, clarifying the need, location, time restrains of the grants. 
 Reviewing of the Financal Statements & Budget 
 Review of the Investment Policy and practises at MRC 
 Set 2022-2023 Internal Audit Plan  
 Reviewed the Risk Management Policy, Plan, Risk Matrix and 

Appetite.  

 Project Management Action Plan – developed  
 External Auditors Management Letter Action Plan – developed  
 Set up Sharepoint site for Audit & Risk committee members   
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Audited Financial Statements 

Must contain a copy of the council’s audited financial reports prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting (may be an attachment). 

Local Government Act 1993 - Section 428 (4) (a)  

The Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 have been prepared to comply with the 
applicable Australian Accounting Standards, the requirements of the Local Government Act 1993 and 
Local Government (General) Regulations 2021, the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice 
and Financial Reporting (Update No. 24). 

A copy of Murray River Council's audited Financial Statements are attached as Appendix 1. 

 

Environmental Upgrade Agreements  

Include particulars of any environmental upgrade agreement entered into by the council. 

Local Government Act 1993 - Section 54P(1) 

Murray River Council has not entered into any environmental upgrade agreements during the 
2021/2022 reporting period.  

 

Special Rate Variation 

Report on activities funded via a special rate variation of general income including: 
 reporting requirements set out in the Instrument of Approval 
 projects or activities funded from the variation 
 outcomes achieved as a result of the project or activities. 

Special Rate Variation Guidelines 7.1  

Murray River Council did not apply for or receive funds via a special rate variation during the 
2021/2022 financial year. 

 

Details of written off rates and charges 

Amount of rates and charges written off during year. 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 132  

Pension - Abandonments 194,690.89 

Waste Management – Abandonments 84,261.39 
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Water Supply - Abandonments 90,655.58 

Waste Water - Abandonments 85,824.93 

Water Supply – Charges Written Off  1.81 

Waste Water – Charges Written Off  1.67 

Other – Charges Written Off  14.46 

TOTAL 455,450.73 
 

 

Induction and other professional development training undertaken by Councillors 

Information about induction training and ongoing professional development: 
 the names of any mayor or councillors who completed any induction training course, induction 

refresher course or supplementary induction course during the year, 
 the names of any mayor or councillors who participated in any ongoing professional development 

program during the year, 
the number of seminars, circulars and other activities delivered as part of the ongoing professional 
development program during the year. 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 Clause 186 

Councillors – July to 4 Dec 2021    

Event 
 

M
ayor Bilkey 

D
ep M

ayor C
ohen 

C
ouncillor Aquino 

C
ouncillor C

am
pbell 

C
ouncillor C

row
e 

C
ouncillor G

orey 
C

ouncillor M
athers 

C
ouncillor W

eyrich 
C

ouncillor W
ise 

July 21 Roads & Assets workshop          

Aug 21 Transgrid Moulamein Presentation          

Aug 21 – Acciona Energia Kerri Kerri Presentation           

Sep 21 – Echuca Moama Tourism Strategy          

Sep 21 – Echuca Moama Flood Study          

Sep 21 – Infrastructure Contributions Reforms          

Sep 21 – Public Health Orders – Regional NSW          

Sep 21 – Border Advocacy Initiative            

Sep 21 – Pilot Framework and Media Plan          

Oct 21 – Campaspe Murray Mental Health Network           

Oct 21 – Murray Regional Tourism          
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Oct 21 – WMLIG Upper House Inquiry-Timber          

Oct 21 – TfNSW Swan Hill/Murray Downs Bridge           

Nov 21- Yarrawonga-Torrumbarry River Reach Stakeholders Group          

Nov 21 – Country Mayors Association Meeting          

Nov 21 – South West Arts strategic planning          

Nov 21 – Infrastructure Contributions          

Dec 21 – Goulburn Murray Region Prosperity Plan           

Dec 21 – OLG NSW Timber Industry Inquiry          

Dec 21 – WINSW           

Ongoing - Murray Socio Economic Activation Taskforce (MSEAT)          

On-going – SW Renewable Energy  Regional Reference Group           

On-going – CSP -Development of Themes and Goals           
 

 

Councillors – 4 December 2021 to 30 June 2022 
(Councillors Gleeson and Wise commenced after the January By-Elections) 

Event 

M
ayor Bilkey 

D
ep M

ayor C
raw

ley 
C

ouncillor C
ohen 

C
ouncillor C
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ouncillor G

leeson  
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ouncillor G
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ouncillor N

icholas 
C

ouncillor W
eyrich  

C
ouncillor W

ise 

Jan 22- Elected Life – Councillor Training          
Jan 22 - Industrial/commercial development          
Feb 22 - Manufactured Home Estate info session          
Feb 22 – SW Renewable Energy Zone           
Feb 22 - Advance Leadership          
Feb 22 – Southern Liquor Accord          
Feb 22 - Campaspe Murray MH&W Network          
Feb 22 - Echuca Moama & District Tourism          
Feb 22 - LGNSW Special Conference – Sydney          
Mar 22 - Country Mayors Association – Sydney          
Mar 22 - ICAC Training           
Mar 22 – Stellar Training          
Mar 22 - Murrumbidgee and Murray Regional Water Strategies          
Mar 22 - Insurance Forum Statewide Mutual/Marsh          
Mar 22 - Western Murray Land Improvement Group          
Mar 22 - DPIE Water Plans – Deniliquin          
Apr 22 - Intensive Integrity Workshop           
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May 22 - NSW-Vic Cross-Border jurisdictions             

May 22 - Echuca Moama Tourism -Strategic review project reference          
May 22 - Echuca Moama Torrumbarry Flood Study          
May 22 - Western Regional Planning Panel  Determination          
May 22 - Visitor & Destination conference – Orange          
May 22 - Revenue Taskforce           
Jun 22 - Joint Campaspe Shire Council & MRC          
Jun 22 - CLRS Project           
Ongoing - Builders Collective/MRC discussion          
Ongoing - Murray Socio Economic Activation Taskforce (MSEAT)          
On-going – South West Renewable Energy          
On-going – Community Strategic Plan (CSP)           

 

 

Overseas visits by Councillors and Council staff 

Details, (including purpose) of overseas visits by councillors, council staff or other persons 
representing council (including visits sponsored by other organisations). 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 Clause 217 (1) (a) 

During the period, being 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022, there were no overseas visits on official Murray 
River Council business by Councillors or Council staff. 

 

Payment of the expenses of, and the provision of facilities to, Councillors in relation 
to their Civic duties 

Total cost during the year of the payment of expenses of, and the provision of facilities to councillors in 
relation to their civic functions (this amount must equal the reported amount in the financial 
statements). 
 
Identify separate details on the total cost of: 
 provision of dedicated office equipment allocated to councillors 
 telephone calls made by councillors 
 attendance of councillors at conferences and seminars 
 the provision of induction training and professional development for mayor and other councillors 
 training of councillors and provision of skill development 
 interstate visits by councillors, including transport, accommodation and other out-of-pocket 

travelling expenses 
 overseas visits by councillors, including transport, accommodation and other out-of-pocket travelling 

expenses 
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 expenses of any spouse, partner or other person who accompanied a councillor in the performance 
of his or her civic functions, being expenses payable in accordance with the Guidelines for the 
payment of expenses and the provision of facilities for the mayor and councillors 

 expenses involved in the provision of care for a child of, or an immediate family member of a 
councillor. 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 Clause 217 
 (1) (a1) (i), (ii), (iii), (iiia), (iv), (v), (vi), (vii), (viii) 

During the period, being 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022, the following amounts were expended in relation 
to the Murray River Council Councillors whilst performing their civic duties. 

Councillor’s Payments  133,568.34 

Office and Minor Equipment 882.96 

Telecommunications 2,815.91 

Training 5,010.30 

Travelling and Accommodation 14,095.83 

Conferences and Delegates Fees 6,240.39 

Interstate Travelling and Other Expenses Nil 

Overseas Travelling and Other Expenses Nil 

Partner Expenses Nil 

Childcare Provisions Nil 

Insurances 33,494.52 

Advertising, Printing and Stationery 23,619.00 

Subscriptions and Memberships 7,082.81 

Other Expenses 6,818.18 

TOTAL $233,628.25 
 

 

Contracts awarded by Council 

Details of each contract awarded (other than employment contracts & contracts less than $150,000) 
including: 
 name of contractor 
 nature of goods or services supplied 
 total amount payable. 
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Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1)(a2)  (i), (ii) 

Name of Contractor Name of Contract Contract Amount  
(incl GST) 

LA & JA Hearn 
plumbing 

Water sewer and electrical service extensions 
to Moama Beach $240,845.00 

Murray Constructions Pty 
Ltd Replacement of Timber Bridges $4,673,735.00 

Civil & Earth Australia 
Pty Ltd 

Barham riverbank scour protection rip-rap and 
associated works $1,046,201.00 

Civil & Earth Australia 
Pty Ltd 

Picnic Point boat ramp beach upgrade 
engineered ski beach and retaining wall $227,259.00 

Mandylights Pty Ltd Creative & Design – Moama Lights $1,618,414.00 

Murray Constructions 
Pty Ltd 

Construction of Horseshoe Lagoon 
Footbridges, Moama $1,083,527.00 

Civil & Earth Australia 
Pty Ltd 

Construction of Moama Foreshore Retaining 
Walls $2,769,695.17 

Rosmech Pty Ltd Supply and delivery of streetsweeper $363,524.00 

SMS Integration Provision of IT & ERP Consulting Services $220,880.00 

AAX Consulting Project Management Services – Property & 
Rating Module Implementation $165,000.00 

North Vic Asphalt Moama recreation reserve road & carpark 
sealing $227,250.00 

Interflow Sewer Pipe assessments $270,191.00 

Aerofloat Australia Wastewater Treatment plant for Barham Micro 
Abattoir $151,900.00 

 

Legal proceedings taken by or against Council 
Summary of the amounts incurred by the council in relation to legal proceedings including: 
 amounts incurred by council in relation to proceedings taken by or against council (including out of 

court settlements) 
 summary of the state of the progress of each legal proceeding and (if finalised) the result. 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1) (a3) 

During the period, being 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022, Murray River Council incurred a total of $235,882.92 in 
relation to the cost of legal proceedings taken by Council. A summary of the progress of legal proceedings 
is detailed below: 

Rates – General  61,945.10 
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Rates - Water  10,148.85 

Planning  64,347.56 

Animal Compliance 837.00 

Leases and Contracts  15,180.62 

Property 30,208.41 

Employment Matters 27,333.46 

Legislative Compliance 2,497.00 

General Legal Advice 23,384.92 

TOTAL $235,882.92 

 

Legal proceedings taken by or against Council 

Include resolutions made concerning work carried out on private land, including: 
 details or a summary of any resolutions made under section; and 
 details or summary of any work carried out, where the charge is less than the approved fee, the 

proposed fee to be charged and the total amount subsidised by council. 

Local Government Act 1993 - Section 67, 67(2)(b),67(3) and Local Government (General) 
Regulation 2021 – Clause 217 (1) (a4) 

During the reporting period, Council undertook activities recorded as Private Works for 40 individuals 
or entitles. The work included bridge lifts and works, use of council equipment, sealing of driveways, 
installing signage and culverts and service agreements to Aboriginal communities. 
The total revenue from private work is $162k.  
No resolutions of Council were made in relation to private works and no works were carried out where 
the approved fee was not charged. 

 

Financial assistance and grants 

Total amount contributed or otherwise granted to financially assist others. 

Local Government Act 1993 – Section 356 & Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – 
Clause 217(1) (a5) 

Barham Deb Ball 500.00 

Barham High School 100.00 

Barham Lions Club  1,560.00 

Barham Op Shop  2,636.36 
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Barham Public School 100.00 

Barham Recreation Reserve 5,000.00 

Bendigo Campaspe Goldfields Bowls Region 1,000.00 

Border Flywheelers club Inc. 1,818.18 

Bunnaloo Public School 100.00 

Caldwell Hall – Covid Support 1,131.00 

Campaspe Cohuna Local Learning  700.00 

Committee for Echuca Moama 1,136.36 

Community Living and Respite Services  4,727.27 

Cummeragunja  6,357.27 

Deniliquin Local Aboriginal Land Council 3,000.00 

Echuca Moama Beacon Foundation for 2021 1,600.00 

Echuca Moama Little Athletics Centre 1,869.00 

Echuca Moama Railroaders  610.00 

Echuca Moama Winter Blues 2,000.00 

Echuca Youth Club Xmas Party 500.00 

Gonn Mellool Bushfire Brigade 2,727.27 

Goodnight Christmas Tree 1,000.00 

Goodnight Tennis Club 1,500.00 

Koori Kids 450.00 

Koraleigh Tennis Club 700.00 

Kyalite Progress Association 500.00 

Lions Club of Moama 2,000.00 

Mathoura ANZAC Day 727.27 

Mathoura District & Services Club 181.82 

Mathoura Events Committee 750.00 

Mathoura Men’s Shed 3,000 
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Mathoura on the Map 1,809.09 

Mathoura Public School 100.00 

Mathoura Public School  814.00 

Mathoura Public School P&C Association  814.00 

Mathoura RSL  181.82 

Moama Anglican Grammar School  1,600.00 

Moama Cemetery  3,777.82 

Moama Cricket Club 2,000.00 

Moama Public School 100.00 

Moama Recreation Reserve – Covid Support 18,238.64 

Moama Riverside Caravan Park 14,148.75 

Moama Rotary School of Echuca 5,786.36 

Moama RSL 1,027.27 

Moama Water Sports  11,363.64 

Moulamein – Australia Day 638.00 

Moulamein Angling club 100.00 

Moulamein Arts & Crafts Council 2,900.00 

Moulamein Men’s Shed 1,905.00 

Moulamein Pre-School 227.27 

Moulamein South Recreation Reserve 3,000.00 

Moulamein Retirement Village 10,000.00 

Murray Haven Homes Ltd 2,660.91 

Pastoral Hotel Mathoura 2,700.00 

Picnic Point Caravan Park 6,160.42 

Rate Subsidy & Contributions 10,801.18 

Riverine Herald – Christmas Lights 272.73 

St John’s Anglican Parish 2,272.73 
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Tooleybuc & Piangil District 476.00 

Tooleybuc Medial Centre 2,166.65 

Wakool & District P&A Society 1,500.00 

Wakool Community Progress Association 2,246.45 

Wakool Memorial Walk Action Group 1,363.64 

Womboota Hall 2,725.45 

Echuca Specialist School (Money’s Returned) -1,000.00 

TOTAL 164,859.62 

 

External bodies that exercised functions delegated by Council 

Statement of all external bodies that exercised functions delegated by council. 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1) (a6) 

Murray River Council has the following section 355 Committees and other bodies which exercise 
management and operational functions delegated by Council 
 Barham School of Arts Committee 
 Barham Recreation Reserve Committee 
 Bunnaloo Recreation Reserve Management Committee 
 Caldwell Hall Management Committee 
 Friends of old Moama 
 Goodnight Recreation Reserve & Hall Committee 
 Koraleigh Hall Committee 
 Koraleigh Recreation Reserve Committee 
 Kyalite Progress and Recreation Reserve Committee 
 Mallan Recreation Reserve & Hall Committee 
 Mathoura Recreation Reserve Management Committee 
 Mathoura Retirement Village Management Committee 
 Moama Lions Community Village Committee 
 Moama Recreation Reserve Management Committee 
 Moulamein Hall Committee 
 Moulamein Centenary Recreation Reserve Committee 
 Moulamein South Recreation Reserve Committee 
 Moulamein Lake Committee 
 Murray Downs Riverside Park Management Committee 
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 Noorong Community Centre 

 Old Moulamein Courthouse Committee 
 Tooleybuc Recreation Reserve and Hall Committee 

 Tooleybuc/Piangil District Action Group/Tooleybuc Bridgekeepers Cottage Mgt Committee 
 Wakool Memorial Hall Committee 
 Wakool Recreation Reserve Committee 
 Womboota School of Arts/Hall Management Committee  

 

Controlling interest in corporations, partnerships, trust, joint ventures or other bodies 

Statement of all corporations, partnerships, trusts, joint ventures, syndicates or other bodies in 
which council held a controlling interest. 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1) (a7) 

Murray River Council did not hold a controlling interest, either alone or in conjunction with other 
Councils, in any corporations, partnerships, trust, joint ventures or other bodies during the period. 

 

Participation in corporations, partnerships, trust joint ventures, syndicates or  
other bodies 

Statement of all corporations, partnerships, trusts, joint ventures, syndicates or other bodies 
(whether or no incorporated) in which the council participated during the year. 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1) (a8) 

Murray River Council is involved with the following organisations: 
• Central Murray Regional Library (Library Services)   (part of the year) 
• Campaspe Regional Library (Library Services)          (part of the year)  
• Swan Hill Rural City Council Library (Library Services) 
• Echuca Moama and District Tourism Association Inc. (Tourism Services) 
• Long Paddock Touring Group 
• Murray River Tourism Limited 
• Riverina and Murray Joint Organisation of Councils 
• Strategic Purchasing Scheme 
• Western Joint Regional Planning Panels  
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Activities undertaken by the council to implement its Equal Employment Opportunity 
Management Plan 

Statement of activities undertaken to implement its EEO management plan. 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1) (a9) 

Murray River Council staff and volunteers are supported by a number of policies and procedures, to 
ensure EEO principles are maintained. including:  

• Code of Conduct Policy; 
• Workplace Discrimination and Harassment Policy; 
• Recruitment & Selection Policy; 
• Staff Performance Management/Disciplinary Policy,  
• Grievance Management Procedure. 
• Return-to-Work Program and 
• Disability Inclusion Plan.   

All of these Council policies have been developed and reviewed in consultation with Council 
employees. 
In the filling of staff vacancies, Council advertises all vacant positions utilising various media forums 
to access the market. 
Newspaper recruitment advertisements are placed in the local newspapers, however Council has 
moved to a greater use of electronic mediums, such as Seek, Linked and Local Government job 
platforms, being more cost effective and disseminated to a larger demographic.  

 

Total remuneration package of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

Statement of the total remuneration package of the general manager including: 
 total value of the salary component of the package 
 total amount of any bonus, performance or other payments that do not form part of the salary 

component 
 total amount payable by way of the employer’s contribution or salary sacrifice to any superannuation 

scheme to which the general manager may be a contributor 
 total value of any non-cash benefits for which the general manager may elect under the package 
 total amount payable by way of fringe benefits tax for any such non-cash benefits. 

Local Government (General) Regulation – Clause 217 (1)(b),(i),(ii),(iii),(iv) & (v) 

For the period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 

i. Total Value of Salary component 292,462.56 

ii.  Total amount of any bonus or performance payments that do form $0 part 
of salary Nil 

iii.  Total amount payable employers contribution or salary sacrifice to any 25,978.75 
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superannuation scheme 

iv. Total value of non-cash benefit — vehicle 11,418.18 

 Total amount payable by Council – Fringe Benefit Tax  0 

vi. Total Resignation/Termination Payments 0 

TOTAL 329,859.49 
 

Total of Remuneration packages of all senior staff members 

Statement of the total remuneration packages of all senior staff members (other than GM), expressed 
as the total (not of the individual members) including: 
 total value of salary components of their packages 
 total amount of any bonus, performance or other payments that do not form part of salary 

components of their packages 
 total amount payable by the council by way of the employer’s contribution or salary sacrifice to any 

superannuation scheme to which any of them may be a contributor 
 total value of any non-cash benefits for which any of them may elect under the package 
 total amount payable by way of fringe benefits tax for any such non-cash benefits. 

Local Government (General) Regulation – Clause 217 (1)(c),(i),(ii),(iii),(iv) & (v) 

For the period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 

i. Total Value of Salary component 795,156.72 

ii.  Total amount of any bonus or performance payments that do form part of 
salary Nil 

iii.  Total amount payable employers contribution or salary sacrifice to any 
superannuation scheme 79,770.08 

iv. Total value of non-cash benefit — vehicle 17,912.04 

 Total amount payable by Council – Fringe Benefit Tax 10,376.84 

vi. Total Resignation/Termination Payments 23,204.09 

TOTAL 926,419.77 

 

Total number of persons who performed paid work 

Statement of total number of persons who performed paid work on Wednesday 25 May 2022, 
including, in separate statements, total number of: 
 persons employed by the council on a permanent full-time, permanent part-time or casual basis or 

under a fixed-term contract 
 persons employed by the council as senior staff members, 
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 persons engaged by the council, under a contract or other arrangement with the person’s employer, 
wholly or principally for the labour of the person  

 persons supplied to the council, under a contract or other arrangement with the person’s employer, 
as an apprentice or trainee 

Local Government (General) Regulation – Clause 217 (1) (d),(i),(ii),(iii),(iv) 

As at 25 May 2022, Murray River Council the following employees: 
 Full-time  191 
 Part-time 15 
 Casual   12 
 Contract    2 
 Senior Staff     5 
 Apprentices/trainees/Cadets 5 

 

Stormwater Management Services provided by Council 

A statement detailing the stormwater management services provided (if levied). 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1) (e) 

Stormwater management can be broadly defined as managing the quantity and quality of stormwater 
runoff from a catchment with the aim of: 
 Minimising stormwater impacts in aquatic ecosystems e.g. reducing turbidity, gross pollutants and 

nutrient inflow; 
 Minimising flooding impacts; and 
 Utilising stormwater as a water resource. 

 

Coastal Protection Services provided by Council 

A statement detailing the coastal protection services provided (if levied). 

Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1) (e1) 

Not applicable to Murray River Council 

 

Council's activities in relation to enforcing & ensuring compliance with the provisions 
of the Companion Animals Act 1998 & Companion Animals Regulation 2008 

Detailed statement, prepared in accordance with such guidelines as may be issued by the Director-
General from time to time, of the council’s activities during the year in relation to enforcing, and ensuring 
compliance with, the provisions of the Companion Animals Act 1988 (CA Act) and the Companion Animal 
Regulation 2018, including: 
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 lodgement of pound data collection returns with OLG  
 lodgement of data about dog attacks with OLG, if no known attacks in the year a nil return is required 

in annual statement 
 amount of funding spent on companion animal management and activities 
 community education programs carried out and strategies the council has in place to promote and 

assist the desexing of dogs and cats 
 strategies in place for complying with the requirement under s 64 of the CA Act to seek alternatives 

to euthanasia for unclaimed animals 
 off leash areas provided in the council area  
 detailed information on how fund money was used for managing and controlling companion animals 

in their area. 
Local Government (General) Regulation 2021 – Clause 217(1) (f) and Guideline on the exercise of 

functions under the Companion Animals Act 

Guidelines on the exercise of functions under the Companion Animals Act 
Lodgement of pound data collection returns with the Office of Local Government (OLG):  
The pound data details have been submitted to the Office of Local Government (OLG), as required. 

Lodgement of dog attack reports: 
It is mandatory for all dog attack data to be lodged with the Office of Local Government in accordance 
with the Companion Animals Act. This legislation requires a dog attack incident to be report to the OLG 
within 72 hours of the incident. 
There were one (1) incident of dog attack reported during the period. 

Detailed information on how fund money was used for managing and controlling companion 
animals in their area. 

25% of all expenditure on the management of animals was spend on the management and other 
activities involving companion animals. 

Community education programs carried out and strategies the council has in place to promote 
and assist the desexing of dogs and cats 
Council's Rangers have undertaken various education activities and placed information articles through 
the local media. This includes concentrated patrols in problem areas, concentrating on education and 
enforcement.  
Council's website is also a major source of information. 

Strategies in place for complying with the requirement under s 64 of the CA Act to seek 
alternatives to euthanasia for unclaimed animals 
Council has a working relationship with the Dogs Starting Over Dog Rescue, where Council has an 
arrangement with the organisation to make every effort to find new owners for unwanted pets. 

Off leash areas provided in the council area  
Council has three (3) designated off leash areas located at the: 
 Old Trotting Track at the Moama Recreation Reserve, Perricoota Road;  
 Kiely Road walking track; and  
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 Moama Off Leash Dog Park 

Companion Animals seizure (2021/2022) survey submitted to OLG) 16.2 (b) Guidelines: 
An annual report detailed the number of animals impounded and the way they were released. It was 
sent to the Office of Local Government and it showed a decrease in the number of animals being 
impounded. 
The figures provided through the reporting program are detailed as follows; 
 Seized by Council Ranger     68 
 Returned to owners        27 
 Re-housed          30 
 Unsuitable for rehoming/ euthanised   11 

 

Report on capital works projects 

Report on all capital works projects is considered best practice 

OLG Capital Expenditure Guidelines 

Murray River Council had no capital works projects where a capital expenditure review was required in 
accordance with the Office of Local Government Expenditure Guidelines. 

 

Carers Recognition Act 

Councils considered to be ‘human service agencies’ under the Carers Recognition Act 2010 (CR Act) 
(provide services directed at carers and/or people being cared for by carers) must report on compliance 
with the CR Act for the reporting period.  

Carers Recognition Act 2010, s 8(2) 

Murray River Council advocates for and provides support for: 
 Carers, and  
 People being cared for by carers. 

 

Implementation of Council’s Disability Inclusion Action Plan  

Information on the implementation of council’s Disability Inclusion Action Plan and give a copy to the 
Minister for Disability Services 

Disability Inclusion Act 2014, s 13(1) 

The Disability Inclusion Action Plan (DIAP), was developed by Murray River Council, which defines 
strategies and provides a planning framework to promote inclusion and equity for people with disability, 
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so they may fully participate in, and contribute to, social, business and community life. The Disability 
Inclusion Action Plan will enhance and complement the existing service provision within the area. 

The DIAP was reviewed in during the 2021-2022 financial year and placed on public display in August 
2022. 
The goals and strategies of Murray River Council are underpinned by four (4) themes which provide 
focus and direction for the Integrated Planning and Reporting (IP&R) framework.  
The four focus areas for the DIAP may be positioned with those: 

Murray River Community 
Strategic Plan themes Focus area for DIAP 

CSP 1 - Community 

Developing Positive Community Attitudes and Behaviours Focus 
Area 1 
- Community Services participated in agency networks to continue 

to contribute to improve physical, cultural and equitable access to 
vulnerable persons residing in Murray River Council, inclusive of 
persons living with a disability. 

- Community Services established a new initiative entitled the 
Vulnerable Persons – Service Provider Network aimed at 
recognising multiple, individual agencies supporting vulnerable 
persons in the MRC LGA. 

The Network’s key objective is to identify individual agencies details 
in the MRC Emergency Management Plan – thus informing and 
prompting the Emergency Services Network to liaise with these 
service providers, in the event that a declared emergency escalates 
to an Order to Evacuate where persons are needed to be identified 
as requiring 1:1 assistance for a supported evacuation.  

 
CSP 2 - Environment 

Creating Liveable Communities- Focus Area 2  
- Community Transport Buses x 3 maintained with operational 

wheelchair access hoist equipment and other 
embark/disembarking rails/steps 

- Sub-regional Community Transport Network enabled to maximum 
use of adjoining Council vehicles/common routes 

- New Administration Office built at Moama to enable easy 
wheelchair access 

- New Community Services Hub built at Barham to enable easier 
physical access to Council and other external services 

- Other SCCF projects built enabling easier access. 

CSP 3 - Economic Supporting Access to Meaningful Employment – Focus Area 3 

CSP 4 – Governance 

Supporting Access to Services Through Better Systems and 
Processes - Focus Area 4 
- MRC Website – Request a Service created to offer alternate 

service requests to be received/processed 
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-  Main Community Services Hubs – Moama/Martin St and 
Barham/Noorong St attracting other external human services to 
enable easier access 

– Staff offering 1:1 support to the public to access external services 
(e.g. assistance to obtain Border Region Permits during COVID) 

 

Compliance with and effect of Planning Agreements 

Particulars of compliance with and effect of planning agreements in force during the year. 

Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979 – Section 7.5(5) 

Council did not enter into any planning agreements during the 2021-2022 financial year.  

 

Recovery and threat abatement Plans 

Recovery and threat abatement plans - Councils identified in a plan as responsible for implementation 
of measures included in the plan, must report on actions taken to implement those measures as to 
the state of the environment in its area.  

Fisheries Management Act 1994 – Section 220ZT (2) 

Murray River Council has not been identified in any recovery and threat abatement plans. 

 

Details of inspections of Private Swimming Pools 

Details of inspections of private swimming pools. Include the number of inspections that: 
 were of tourist and visitor accommodation. 
 were of premises with more than 2 dwellings. 
 resulted in issuance a certificate of compliance under s22D of the SP Act 

resulted in issuance a certificate of non-compliance under cl 21 SP Reg. 

Swimming Pools Act 1992 – Section 22F (2) Swimming Pools Regulation 2018 Clause 23  

Murray River Council completed the following inspections during 2021/2022 
 Number of inspections of tourist and visitor accommodation     5 
 Number of inspections of premises with more than 2 dwellings     0 
 Number of inspections that resulted in issuance of Certificate of  
 Compliance under s22D of the Swimming Pool Act 1992    32 
 Number of inspections that resulted in issuance a certificate of  

non-compliance under c121 of the Swimming Pool Regulations 2018   21 



Murray River Council 21/22 Annual Report107

Statutory Report

 

Government Information Public Access Activity 

Information included on government information public access activity 

Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 – Section 125(1) and Government 
Information (Public Access) Regulation 2018, Clause 8, Schedule 2 

Part 7 Section 125 (1) of the Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009, known as the GIPA 
Act, states that each agency (of which Murray River Council is one) must, within 4 months after the end 
of each reporting year, prepare an annual report on the agency's obligations under this Act for 
submission to the Minister responsible for the agency. 
Council fulfilled its responsibilities in regard to reporting for the 2021-2022 year by submitting the annual 
return through the IPC GIPA Tool portal in October 2022.  
In addition, the 2021-2022 GIPA Information Guide was developed and uploaded to the website. 
During 2021-2022 financial year Murray River Council received and finalised: 
 eight (8) formal information access applications; and 
 ninety three (93) informal information access applications. 
TOTALLING – 101 GIPA Applications for the 2021-2022 Financial Year 

 

Public Interest Disclosure Activity 

Information included on public interest disclosure activity. 
Public Interest Disclosures Act 1994 - Section 31 and Public Interest Disclosures 

Regulation 2011 - Clause 4 
Similar to the reporting requirement under the GIPA Act and Regulations, Councils are required to 
submission a Public Interest Disclosures Annual Report to the Minister and a copy is also provided to 
the NSW Ombudsman. 
Council fulfilled their annual reporting obligations in regard any Public Interest Disclosures (PIDs) 
received during the 2021-2022 financial year by including a breakdown of the information in the 2021-
2022 Annual Report and then advising the NSW Ombudsman of the location of the report on Council’s 
website.   
Council received 0 submissions for the 2021-2022 year. 

Public Interest Disclosures Statistics July 2021 - June 2022 

Number of public officials who made PIDs 0 
Number of PIDs received 0 

Of PIDs received, number primarily about: 
Corrupt conduct 0 
Maladministration 0 
Serious and substantial waste 0 
Government information contravention 0 
Local government pecuniary interest contravention 0 

Number of PIDs finalised 0 
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Murray River Council is constituted under the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) and has its principal place of business at:

Overview

52 Perricoota Road
Moama NSW 2731

Council’s guiding principles are detailed in Chapter 3 of the LGA and includes:

• principles applying to the exercise of functions generally by council,
• principles to be applied when making decisions,
• principles of community participation,
• principles of sound financial management, and
• principles for strategic planning relating to the development of an integrated planning and reporting framework.

A description of the nature of Council’s operations and its principal activities are provided in Note B1-2.

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our reporting is timely, complete and available at minimum cost. All
press releases, financial statements and other information are publicly available on our website: www.murrayriver.nsw.gov.au.
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Each year NSW local governments are required to present audited financial statements to their council and community.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Introduction

The financial statements set out the financial performance, financial position and cash flows of Council for the financial year
ended 30 June 2022.

What you will find in the Statements

The format of the financial statements is standard across all NSW Councils and complies with both the accounting and reporting
requirements of Australian Accounting Standards and requirements as set down by the Office of Local Government.

The financial statements must be certified by senior staff as ‘presenting fairly’ the Council’s financial results for the year and
are required to be adopted by Council – ensuring both responsibility for and ownership of the financial statements.

About the Councillor/Management Statement

The financial statements incorporate five "primary" financial statements:

1. The Income Statement

About the Primary Financial Statements

Summarises Council's financial performance for the year, listing all income and expenses. This statement also displays
Council's original adopted budget to provide a comparison between what was projected and what actually occurred.

2. The Statement of Comprehensive Income
Primarily records changes in the fair value of Council's Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

3. The Statement of Financial Position
A 30 June snapshot of Council's financial position indicating its assets, liabilities and “net wealth”.

4. The Statement of Changes in Equity
The overall change for the year (in dollars) of Council's "net wealth".

5. The Statement of Cash Flows
Indicates where Council's cash came from and where it was spent. This statement also displays Council's original adopted
budget to provide a comparison between what was projected and what actually occurred.

The Notes to the Financial Statements provide greater detail and additional information on the five primary financial statements.

About the Notes to the Financial Statements

Council’s financial statements are required to be audited by the NSW Audit Office.

About the Auditor's Reports

In NSW the auditor provides 2 audit reports:

1. an opinion on whether the financial statements present fairly the Council’s financial performance and position, and
2. their observations on the conduct of the audit, including commentary on the Council’s financial performance and financial

position.

The financial statements are publicly available documents and must be presented at a Council meeting between seven days
and five weeks after the date of the audit report.

The public can make submissions to Council up to seven days subsequent to the public presentation of the financial statements.

Council is required to forward an audited set of financial statements to the Office of Local Government.

Who uses the Financial Statements?

continued on next page ... 
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Key Events of 2021-22
COVID-19

The COVID-19 global health crisis has had a continued impact on Council's operations for the 2021-22 financial year. The
impact has been in the reduction in some revenue sources due to Council facilities been closed or having reduced utilisation.

Council also provides to the community support by way of deferral of rates, water and lease amounts due. The financial difficulty
experienced by many ratepayers has led to a higher than normal level of outstanding collections for the financial year.
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Murray River Council | Income Statement | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

Original 
unaudited 

budget
  

Actual Actual
2022 $ '000 Notes 2022 2021

Income from continuing operations   
18,777 Rates and annual charges B2-1 17,835 17,969

6,842 User charges and fees B2-2 7,611 8,815
643 Other revenues B2-3 1,269 905

16,866 Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes B2-4 18,622 17,912
13,417 Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes B2-4 18,440 19,281

389 Interest and investment income B2-5 463 573
425 Other income B2-6 670 605

– Net share of interests in joint ventures and associates 
using the equity method

D2-1
– 24

57,359 Total income from continuing operations 64,910 66,084

Expenses from continuing operations   
17,035 Employee benefits and on-costs B3-1 18,004 17,262
10,148 Materials and services B3-2 18,984 16,336

111 Borrowing costs B3-3 245 133

21,216 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial
assets

B3-4
26,266 19,841

5,303 Other expenses B3-5 760 1,128
– Net loss from the disposal of assets B4-1 4,078 3,236

53,813 Total expenses from continuing operations 68,337 57,936

3,546 Operating result from continuing operations (3,427) 8,148

3,546 Net operating result for the year attributable to Council (3,427) 8,148

  

(9,871) Net operating result for the year before grants and 
contributions provided for capital purposes (21,867) (11,133)

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Murray River Council

Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Murray River Council | Statement of Comprehensive Income | for the year ended 30 June 2022
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$ '000 Notes 2022 2021

Net operating result for the year – from Income Statement (3,427) 8,148

§Subnote§

Other comprehensive income:
Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating result
Gain (loss) on revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment C1-6 97,579 35,281
Other comprehensive income – joint ventures and associates D2-2 – (73)
Other movements Revaluation Intangible Assets C1-7 139 29
Total items which will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating 
result 97,718 35,237

Total other comprehensive income for the year 97,718 35,237

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to Council 94,291 43,385

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Murray River Council

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Murray River Council | Statement of Financial Position | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

$ '000 Notes 2022 2021

ASSETS   
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents C1-1 2,401 1,907
Investments C1-2 45,940 50,760
Receivables C1-4 13,951 8,715
Inventories C1-5 763 689
Other C1-11 510 63
Total current assets 63,565 62,134

Non-current assets   
Investments C1-2 2 2
Receivables C1-4 719 1,345
Inventories C1-5 641 1,055
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (IPPE) C1-6 927,261 832,113
Intangible assets C1-7 4,906 1,800
Total non-current assets 933,529 836,315

Total assets 997,094 898,449

LIABILITIES   
Current liabilities   
Payables C3-1 6,197 5,897
Contract liabilities C3-2 5,353 4,434
Lease liabilities C2-1 192 192
Borrowings C3-3 602 582
Employee benefit provisions C3-4 4,236 3,940
Provisions C3-5 71 –
Total current liabilities 16,651 15,045

Non-current liabilities   
Lease liabilities C2-1 550 725
Borrowings C3-3 2,650 3,251
Employee benefit provisions C3-4 547 412
Provisions C3-5 6,101 2,712
Total non-current liabilities 9,848 7,100

Total liabilities 26,499 22,145

Net assets 970,595 876,304

EQUITY   
Accumulated surplus 729,504 732,931
IPPE revaluation reserve C4-1 241,091 143,373
Council equity interest 970,595 876,304

Total equity 970,595 876,304

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Murray River Council

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2022
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Murray River Council | Statement of Changes in Equity | for the year ended 30 June 2022
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2022 2021

$ '000 Notes
Accumulated

surplus

IPPE 
revaluation 

reserve
Total

equity
Accumulated 

surplus

IPPE 
revaluation 

reserve
Total

equity

Opening balance at 1 July 732,931 143,373 876,304 724,856 108,063 832,919
Opening balance 732,931 143,373 876,304 724,856 108,063 832,919

§Subnote§

Net operating result for the year (3,427) – (3,427) 8,148 – 8,148
Net operating result for the period (3,427) – (3,427) 8,148 – 8,148

Other comprehensive income
– Gain/(loss) on revaluation of IPP&E C1-6 – 97,579 97,579 – 35,281 35,281
– Joint ventures and associates D2-2 – – – (73) – (73)
– Other movements (Revaluation Intangible Assets) C1-7 – 139 139 – 29 29
Other comprehensive income – 97,718 97,718 (73) 35,310 35,237

Total comprehensive income (3,427) 97,718 94,291 8,075 35,310 43,385

Closing balance at 30 June 729,504 241,091 970,595 732,931 143,373 876,304

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Murray River Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Murray River Council | Statement of Cash Flows | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Statement§

Original 
unaudited 

budget
  

Actual Actual
2022 $ '000 Notes 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities   
Receipts:   

18,726 Rates and annual charges 17,780 18,111
6,858 User charges and fees 7,336 9,115

389 Interest received 343 646
29,898 Grants and contributions 30,451 36,317

– Bonds, deposits and retentions received 577 –
1,069 Other 5,143 4,515

Payments:   
(17,101) Payments to employees (17,605) (17,524)
(10,273) Payments for materials and services (23,036) (19,168)

(112) Borrowing costs (228) (109)
– Bonds, deposits and retentions refunded (165) (302)

(5,119) Other (1,346) (1,128)
24,335 Net cash flows from operating activities G1-1 19,250 30,473

Cash flows from investing activities   
Receipts:   

– Sale of investments 35,476 37,350
157 Sale of real estate assets 898 1,691
883 Proceeds from sale of IPPE 382 1,285

– Deferred debtors receipts 1,353 –
Payments:   

– Purchase of investments (30,656) (43,597)
(34,732) Payments for IPPE (22,027) (31,146)

– Purchase of real estate assets (254) (218)
– Purchase of intangible assets (3,155) –
– Deferred debtors and advances made – (386)

(33,692) Net cash flows from investing activities (17,983) (35,021)

Cash flows from financing activities   
Receipts:   

800 Proceeds from borrowings – 725
Payments:   

(655) Repayment of borrowings (598) (604)
– Principal component of lease payments (175) –

145 Net cash flows from financing activities (773) 121

(9,212) Net change in cash and cash equivalents 494 (4,427)

2,186 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,907 6,334
(7,026) Cash and cash equivalents at end of year C1-1 2,401 1,907

  
36,000 plus: Investments on hand at end of year C1-2 45,942 50,762

28,974 Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 48,343 52,669

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Murray River Council

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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These financial statements were authorised for issue by Council on 18 October 2022. Council has the power to amend and
reissue these financial statements.

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and
Australian Accounting Interpretations, the Local Government Act 1993 (Act) and Local Government (General) Regulation 2005
(Regulation), and the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting.

Council is a not for-profit entity.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars.

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
certain infrastructure, property, plant and equipment and investment property.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Council's accounting policies.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Council and that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.

Council makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year include:

(i) estimated fair values of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment – refer Note C1-6
(ii) estimated tip and gravel pit remediation provisions – refer Note C3-5
(iii) employee benefit provisions – refer Note C3-4.

(i) Impairment of receivables
Significant judgements in applying the Council's accounting policies

Council has made a significant judgement about the impairment of a number of its receivables – refer Note C1-4.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 409(1) of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW), all money and property received
by Council is held in the Council’s Consolidated Fund unless it is required to be held in the Council’s Trust Fund.

Monies and other assets received by Council

The Consolidated Fund

This Consolidated Fund has been included in the financial statements of Murray River Council.

Cash and other assets of the following entities have been included as part of the Consolidated Fund:

◾ General purpose operations
◾ Water service
◾ Sewerage service
◾ Moama Recreation Reserve S355 Management Committee
◾ Moama Lions Units S355 Management Committee
◾ Mathoura Retirement Village S355 Management Committee.

continued on next page ... 

A About Council and these financial statements

A1-1 Basis of preparation
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All other operations of S355 Management Committees of the Council are immaterial and have not been disclosed as part of
the consolidated fund.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 411 of the Local Government Act 1993 (NSW) (as amended), a separate and
distinct Trust Fund is maintained to account for all money and other assets property received by the council in trust which must
be applied only for the purposes of, or in accordance with, the trusts relating to those monies.

The Trust Fund

Trust monies and property subject to Council’s control have been included in these reports.

The following Trust monies and other assets properties are held by Council but not considered to be under the control of
Council and therefore are excluded from these financial statements:

• Payments received from unknown entities
• Land Sale and Acquisition funds required to be paid into Trust

A separate statement of monies held in the Trust Fund is available for inspection at the council office by any person free of
charge.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part
of the expense.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities
that are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Volunteer services

Council does not have a material dependence on volunteer services. Volunteers are mainly engaged via Section 355 
committees. These services are not recognised as they are considered non-material in value. 

continued on next page ... 

A1-1 Basis of preparation (continued)
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New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

New accounting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations (ie. pronouncements) have been published by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2022 reporting period.

Council has elected not to apply any of these pronouncements in these financial statements before their operative dates.

As at the date of authorisation of these financial statements Council does not consider that any of these new (and still to be
applied) standards and interpretations are likely to have a material impact on the Council's future financial statements, financial
position, financial performance or cash flows.

During the year Council adopted the following accounting standards and interpretations (as issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board) which were mandatorily effective from 1 July 2021:

New accounting standards adopted during the year

◾ AASB 2020-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

◾ AASB 2020-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Tier 2 Disclosures: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
(Phase 2) and Other Amendments

◾ AASB 2020-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions: Tier 2
disclosures [AASB 16 and AASB 1060]

◾ AASB 2021-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

◾ AASB 2021-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition to Tier 2: Simplified Disclosures for Not-
for-Profit Entities

None of these standards had a significant impact on reported position or performance.

Impact of COVID-19 on Council Operations

The COVID-19 epidemic has resulted in some additional costs this financial year in terms of vaccination and protective shields
at customer counters as well as implementing COVID safety protocols throughout the Council's business premises.

Council's assets are not expected to experience an impairment of decline in value due to COVID-19 during this financial year.

A1-1 Basis of preparation (continued)
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Income, expenses and assets have been directly attributed to the following functions or activities. Details of those functions or activities are provided in Note B1-2.

Income Expenses Operating result Grants and contributions Carrying amount of assets
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Functions or activities
Governance 3 – 1,449 1,262 (1,446) (1,262) – – – –
Administration 1,163 2,475 10,306 6,242 (9,143) (3,767) 495 211 63,503 51,694
Public order and safety 457 534 1,528 2,044 (1,071) (1,510) 425 501 4,515 2,601
Health 12 53 60 96 (48) (43) – – 1,009 1,011
Environment 6,209 5,668 5,385 5,598 824 70 2,449 2,788 58,520 54,774
Community Services and Education 1,094 2,392 1,770 1,905 (676) 487 1,006 1,930 14,681 10,677
Housing and Community amenities 642 658 2,271 2,132 (1,629) (1,474) 54 101 17,073 6,252
Water supplies 6,560 6,704 4,878 4,783 1,682 1,921 1,358 1,509 71,959 58,517
Sewerage services 3,840 4,153 2,733 2,659 1,107 1,494 917 885 62,902 52,969
Recreation and culture 1,604 4,778 8,194 5,654 (6,590) (876) 1,470 4,356 68,234 48,999
Mining, manufacturing and construction 717 669 1,501 1,450 (784) (781) – – 1,900 2,408
Transport and communication 16,679 15,249 26,586 21,801 (9,907) (6,552) 16,431 14,541 617,211 599,309
Economic affairs 2,607 3,020 1,676 2,310 931 710 682 1,859 15,587 9,238
Share of gains / (losses) in association 
and joint ventures – 24 – – – 24 – – – –
General purpose income 23,323 19,707 – – 23,323 19,707 11,775 8,512 – –
Total functions and activities 64,910 66,084 68,337 57,936 (3,427) 8,148 37,062 37,193 997,094 898,449

B Financial Performance

B1 Functions or activities

B1-1 Functions or activities – income, expenses and assets
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§Note/Subtotal§

Governance

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Details relating to the Council’s functions or activities as reported in B1-1 are as follows:

Includes costs relating to Council’s role as a component of democratic government, including elections, members’ fees and
expenses, subscriptions to local authority associations, meetings of Council and policymaking committees, public disclosure
(e.g. GIPA), and legislative compliance.

Business Intelligence

The Council has introduced a Business Intelligence team for implementation, management and in-house skills building of ERP
focusing more objective outcomes from our IT infrastructure and data utilization.

Administration

Includes corporate support and other support services, engineering works, and any Council policy compliance.

Public order and safety

Includes Council’s fire and emergency services levy, fire protection, emergency services, beach control,
enforcement of regulations and animal control.

Health

Includes immunisation, food control, health centres etc.

Environment

Includes noxious plants and insect/vermin control; other environmental protection; solid waste management, including
domestic waste; other waste management; other sanitation; and garbage, street cleaning, drainage and stormwater
management.

Community Services and Education

Includes administration and education; social protection (welfare); migrant, Aboriginal and other community services and
administration (excluding accommodation – as it is covered under ‘housing and community amenities’); youth services; aged
and disabled persons services; children’s’ services, including family day care; child care; and other family and children services.

Housing and Community amenities

Includes public cemeteries; public conveniences; street lighting; town planning; other community amenities, including housing
development and accommodation for families and children, aged persons, disabled persons, migrants and Indigenous persons.

Water supplies

Includes the provision and distribution of water to the towns within the boundary of the Council.

Sewerage services

Treatment of wastewater to the towns within the boundaries of the Council.

Recreation and culture

Includes public libraries; museums; art galleries; community centres and halls, including public halls and performing arts
venues; sporting grounds and venues; swimming pools; parks; gardens; lakes; and other sporting, recreational and cultural
services.

Mining, manufacturing and construction

Includes building control, quarries and pits, mineral resources, and abattoirs.

Transport and communication

Urban local, urban regional, includes sealed and unsealed roads, bridges, footpaths, parking areas, and aerodromes.

Economic affairs

continued on next page ... 

B1-2 Components of functions or activities
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Includes camping areas and caravan parks; tourism and area promotion; industrial development promotion; real estate
development and other business undertakings.

General purpose income

Includes rates and annual charges; non capital general purpose grants; interest on investments and interest on overdue rates
and charges.

B1-2 Components of functions or activities (continued)
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$ '000 2022 2021

Ordinary rates

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Residential 5,088 4,779
Farmland 5,373 5,306
Business 897 851
Less: pensioner rebates (mandatory) (193) (196)
Rates levied to ratepayers 11,165 10,740

Pensioner rate subsidies received 109 107
Total ordinary rates 11,274 10,847

Annual charges
(pursuant to s.496, s.496A, s.496B, s.501 & s.611)

Domestic waste management services 1,753 1,558
Stormwater management services 127 123
Water supply services 2,201 2,804
Sewerage services 2,455 2,620
Waste management services (non-domestic) 139 130
Less: pensioner rebates (mandatory) (259) (251)
Annual charges levied 6,416 6,984

Pensioner subsidies received:
– Water 47 48
– Sewerage 50 46
– Domestic waste management 48 44
Total annual charges 6,561 7,122

Total rates and annual charges 17,835 17,969

Council has used 2019 year valuations provided by the NSW Valuer General in calculating its rates.

Rates, annual charges, grants and contributions (including developer contributions) are recognised as revenue when the
Council obtains control over the assets comprising these receipts.

Accounting policy

Pensioner rebates relate to reductions in rates and certain annual charges for eligible pensioners’ place of residence in the
local government council area that are not subsidised by the NSW Government.

Pensioner rate subsidies are received from the NSW Government to provide a contribution towards the pensioner rebates and
are recognised within the underlying revenue item based on their substance.

B2 Sources of income

B2-1 Rates and annual charges
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$ '000 Timing 2022 2021

Specific user charges
(per s.502 - specific 'actual use' charges)
Domestic waste management services 2 641 503
Water supply services 2 2,410 1,762
Sewerage services 2 318 332
Waste management services (non-domestic) 2 974 1,000
Other 2 – 37
Total specific user charges 4,343 3,634

Other user charges and fees
(i) Fees and charges – statutory and regulatory functions (per s.608)
Building regulation 2 342 544
Inspection services 2 14 20
Sub-division fees 2 333 282
Private works – section 67 2 185 251
Section 10.7 certificates (EP&A Act) 2 50 51
Section 603 certificates 2 59 61
Tapping fees 2 127 30
Town planning 2 392 404
Other 2 4 8
Health control 2 12 2
Animal control 2 19 26
Total fees and charges – statutory/regulatory 1,537 1,679

(ii) Fees and charges – other (incl. general user charges (per s.608))
Aged care 2 376 320
Caravan park 2 100 99
Cemeteries 2 129 94
Child care 2 – 5
Gravel pits 2 – 99
Leaseback fees – Council vehicles 2 103 141
Library and art gallery 2 1 –
Park rents 2 63 1
Transport for NSW works (state roads not controlled by Council) 2 901 2,696
Swimming centres 2 – 9
Public halls 2 – 3
Special meter reading 2 31 25
Other 2 27 10
Total fees and charges – other 1,731 3,502

Total other user charges and fees 3,268 5,181

Total user charges and fees 7,611 8,815

Timing of revenue recognition for user charges and fees
User charges and fees recognised over time (1)  – –
User charges and fees recognised at a point in time (2)  7,611 8,815
Total user charges and fees 7,611 8,815

Revenue arising from user charges and fees is recognised when or as the performance obligation is completed and the
customer receives the benefit of the goods / services being provided.

Accounting policy

The performance obligation relates to the specific services which are provided to the customers and generally the payment
terms are within 30 days of the provision of the service or in some cases such as caravan parks, the customer is required to
pay on arrival or a deposit in advance. There is no material obligation for Council in relation to refunds or returns.

continued on next page ... 

B2-2 User charges and fees
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Where an upfront fee is charged such as joining fees for the leisure centre the fee is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the expected life of the membership. Licences granted by Council are all either short-term or low value and all revenue from
licences is recognised at the time that the licence is granted rather than over the term of the licence.

B2-2 User charges and fees (continued)
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$ '000 Timing 2022 2021

Aboriginal communities program 2 96 211
Commissions and agency fees 2 292 280
Energy Certificates 2 73 –
Fines 2 7 3
Insurance claims / rebates 2 212 159
Legal fees recovery – other 2 24 –
Legal fees recovery – rates and charges (extra charges) 2 11 58
OLG Rebate 2 35 –
Recycling income (non-domestic) 2 110 24
Sponsorship Funding 2 180 –
Ticket Sales 2 29 –
Traineeship Subsidy 2 36 –
Other 2 98 93
Water – meter rents / sundry income 2 66 77
Total other revenue 1,269 905

Timing of revenue recognition for other revenue
Other revenue recognised over time (1)  – –
Other revenue recognised at a point in time (2)  1,269 905
Total other revenue 1,269 905

Accounting policy for other revenue
Where the revenue is earned for the provision of specified goods / services under an enforceable contract, revenue is
recognised when or as the obligations are satisfied.

Statutory fees and fines are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment is received or when
the penalty has been applied, whichever occurs first.

Other revenue is recorded when the payment is due, the value of the payment is notified, or the payment is received, whichever
occurs first.

B2-3 Other revenues
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§Note/Subtotal§

Operating Operating Capital Capital
$ '000 Timing 2022 2021 2022 2021

General purpose grants and non-developer 
contributions (untied)
General purpose (untied)
Current year allocation
Financial assistance – general component 2 2,975 1,942 – –
Financial assistance – local roads component 2 1,665 2,104 – –
Payment in advance - future year allocation
Financial assistance – general component 2 4,567 2,900 – –
Financial assistance – local roads component 2 2,568 1,433 – –
Amount recognised as income during current
year 11,775 8,379 – –

Special purpose grants and non-developer 
contributions (tied)
Cash contributions
Previously specific grants:
Pensioners’ rates subsidies:
Aged care 2 913 853 – 168
Bushfire and emergency services 2 425 507 – –
Community care 2 – – – 725
Economic development 2 30 578 652 1,739
Heritage and cultural 2 8 11 – –
Library 2 – – – 218
Library – per capita 2 95 73 – –
LIRS subsidy 2 16 (24) – –
Noxious weeds 2 190 124 – –
Recreation and culture 2 37 122 791 1,493
Planning 2 – – – 36
Energy fuel rebate scheme 2 185 164 – –
Waste management 2 101 219 – 49
River access 2 – – 170 53
Street lighting 2 54 59 – –
Youth services 2 30 19 – –
Stronger communities fund 2 25 – 461 2,009
Transport (roads to recovery) 2 1,426 3,220 – –
Transport (other roads and bridges funding) 2 356 232 2,351 2,382
Other specific grants 2 29 26 – –
Previously contributions:
Community services 2 30 – – –
Recreation and culture 2 – – – 20
Roads and bridges 2 – 24 5,862 2,113
Transport for NSW contributions (Block grant 
Regional, Urban and Rural roads) 2 2,715 3,258 – 1,452
Water supplies (excl. section 64 contributions) 2 – – 220 466
Other contributions 2 90 – 85 23
Staff 2 – 27 – –
Bike paths / pedestrian access 2 – – – 362
Drummuster 2 – 2 – –
Transport (road safety officer) 2 79 – – –
Waste management 2 – 37 – –
Donations 2 – 2 – –
Total special purpose grants and 
non-developer contributions – cash 6,834 9,533 10,592 13,308

Non-cash contributions
Other 2 13 – – 27
Total other contributions – non-cash 13 – – 27

B2-4 Grants and contributions
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Operating Operating Capital Capital
$ '000 Timing 2022 2021 2022 2021

Total special purpose grants and 
non-developer contributions (tied) 6,847 9,533 10,592 13,335

Total grants and non-developer 
contributions 18,622 17,912 10,592 13,335

Comprising:
– Commonwealth funding  12,447 8,845 1,678 5,625
– State funding  4,792 8,936 8,849 5,826
– Other funding  1,383 131 65 1,884

18,622 17,912 10,592 13,335
 

§Subnote§

Developer contributions

Operating Operating Capital Capital
$ '000 Notes Timing 2022 2021 2022 2021

Developer contributions:
(s7.4 & s7.11 - EP&A Act, s64 of the 
LGA):

G4

Cash contributions
S 7.11 – contributions towards 
amenities/services 2 – – 577 440
S 7.12 – fixed development consent levies 2 – – – 47
S 64 – water supply contributions 2 – – 426 591
S 64 – sewerage service contributions 2 – – 290 361
Total developer contributions – cash – – 1,293 1,439

Non-cash contributions
Other developer/other contributions 2 – – 6,555 4,507
Total developer contributions 
non-cash – – 6,555 4,507

Total developer contributions – – 7,848 5,946

Total contributions – – 7,848 5,946

Total grants and contributions 18,622 17,912 18,440 19,281

Timing of revenue recognition for grants and 
contributions
Grants and contributions recognised over time (1)  – – – –
Grants and contributions recognised at a point in time 
(2)  18,622 17,912 18,440 19,281
Total grants and contributions 18,622 17,912 18,440 19,281

B2-4 Grants and contributions (continued)
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Unspent grants and contributions

Certain grants and contributions are obtained by Council on the condition they be spent in a specified manner or in a future 
period but which are not yet spent in accordance with those conditions are as follows:

Operating Operating Capital Capital
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021

Unspent grants
Unspent funds at 1 July 614 2,113 4,325 2,827
Add: Funds recognised as revenue in the

reporting year but not yet spent in
accordance with the conditions – – – –

Add: Funds received and not recognised as
revenue in the current year 336 330 3,315 3,423

Less: Funds recognised as revenue in previous
years that have been spent during the
reporting year – – – –

Less: Funds received in prior year but revenue
recognised and funds spent in current
year (236) (1,829) (2,647) (1,925)

Unspent funds at 30 June 714 614 4,993 4,325

Unspent contributions
Unspent funds at 1 July – – 3,445 3,200
Add: contributions recognised as revenue in

the reporting year but not yet spent in
accordance with the conditions – – 1,336 874

Add: contributions received and not
recognised as revenue in the current
year – – – –

Add: contributions recognised as income in
the current period obtained in respect of
a future rating identified by Council for
the purpose of establishing a rate – – – –

Less: contributions recognised as revenue in
previous years that have been spent
during the reporting year – – – (629)

Unspent contributions at 30 June – – 4,781 3,445
 

Grants and contributions – enforceable agreement with sufficiently specific performance obligations

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Grant and contribution revenue from an agreement which is enforceable and contains sufficiently specific performance
obligations is recognised as or when control of each performance obligations is transferred.

The performance obligations vary according to the agreement but include milstones within AASB 15 grants. Payment terms
vary depending on the terms of the grant, cash is received upfront for some grants and on the achievement of certain payment
milestones for others.

Performance obligations may be satisfied either at a point in time or over time and this is reflected in the revenue recognition
pattern. Point in time recognition occurs when the beneficiary obtains control of the goods / services at a single time (e.g.
completion of the project when a report / outcome is provided), whereas over time recognition is where the control of the
services is ongoing throughout the project (e.g. provision of community health services through the year).

Where control is transferred over time, generally the input methods being either costs or time incurred are deemed to be the
most appropriate methods to reflect the transfer of benefit.

Capital grants

continued on next page ... 

B2-4 Grants and contributions (continued)
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Capital grants received by Council under an enforceable contract for the acquisition or construction of infrastructure, property,
plant and equipment to identified specifications which will be under Council’s control on completion are recognised as revenue
as and when the obligation to construct or purchase is completed.

For construction projects, this is generally as the construction progresses in accordance with costs incurred since this is
deemed to be the most appropriate measure of the completeness of the construction project.

For acquisitions of assets, the revenue is recognised when the asset is acquired and controlled by the Council.

Developer contributions

Council has obligations to provide facilities from contribution revenues levied on developers under the provisions of sections
7.4, 7.11 and 7.12 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (EP&A Act).

While Council generally incorporates these amounts as part of a Development Consents Order, such developer contributions
are only recognised as income upon receipt by Council, due to the possibility that individual development consents may not
be acted upon by the applicant and, accordingly, would not be payable to Council.

Developer contributions may only be expended for the purposes for which the contributions were required, but Council may
apply contributions according to the priorities established in work schedules for the contribution plan.

Other grants and contributions

Assets, including cash, received from other grants and contributions are recognised at fair value when the asset is received.
Council considers whether there are any related liability or equity items associated with the asset which are recognised in
accordance with the relevant accounting standard.

Once the assets and liabilities have been recognised then income is recognised for any remaining asset value at the time
that the asset is received.

B2-4 Grants and contributions (continued)
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$ '000 2022 2021

Interest on financial assets measured at amortised cost
– Overdue rates and annual charges (incl. special purpose rates) 119 62
– Cash and investments 279 433
– Deferred debtors 65 78
Total interest and investment income (losses) 463 573

Interest and investment income is attributable to:
Unrestricted investments/financial assets:
Overdue rates and annual charges (general fund) 75 41
General Council cash and investments 283 327
Restricted investments/funds – external:
Development contributions
– Section 7.11 24 12
– Section 64 16 6
Water fund operations 42 82
Sewerage fund operations 23 105
Total interest and investment income 463 573

Accounting policy
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate at the date that interest is earned.
 

B2-6 Other income
§Subnote§

$ '000 Notes 2022 2021

Rental income
Other lease income
Caravan parks 521 250
Room/Facility Hire 81 144
Other (vacant land, council owned staff housing, retirement units) 68 211
Total other lease income 670 605

Total rental income C2-2 670 605

Total other income 670 605

B2-5 Interest and investment income
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$ '000 2022 2021

Salaries and wages 15,011 14,063
Employee termination costs 233 400
Employee leave entitlements (ELE) 2,204 1,933
Superannuation 1,552 1,416
Superannuation – defined benefit plans 93 188
Workers’ compensation insurance 791 1,055
Fringe benefit tax (FBT) 151 179
Payroll tax 70 79
Protective clothing 129 47
Other 33 5
Total employee costs 20,267 19,365

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Less: capitalised costs (2,263) (2,103)
Total employee costs expensed 18,004 17,262

Number of ‘full-time equivalent’ employees (FTE) at year end 201 202
Number of ‘full-time equivalent’ employees (FTE) at year end (incl. vacancies) 218 216

Employee benefit expenses are recorded when the service has been provided by the employee.
Accounting policy

Retirement benefit obligations

All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death. Council contributes to various defined
benefit plans and defined contribution plans on behalf of its employees.

Superannuation plans

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense as they become payable. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Council participates in a defined benefit plan under the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, however, sufficient
information to account for the plan as a defined benefit is not available and therefore Council accounts for its obligations to
defined benefit plans on the same basis as its obligations to defined contribution plans, i.e. as an expense when it becomes
payable – refer to Note E3-1 for more information.

B3 Costs of providing services

B3-1 Employee benefits and on-costs
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$ '000 Notes 2022 2021

Raw materials and consumables 6,167 1,826
Contractor and consultancy costs 1,618 1,890
– Planning Consultants 324 261
– Waste Management Consultants – 5
– Waste, Transfer Station & Recycling Collections Contractors 2,156 2,448
– IT Software Licences 474 483
– IT Cloud Contract and Managed Services 948 933
– Road & Bridges Contractors 949 960
– State Road Contractors – 697
– Water Supply Contractors 179 440
– Wastewater Contractors 156 322
– Aged & Community Service Contractors 20 19
– Building Service & Maintenance Contractors 602 613
– Plant Fleet Contractors 21 145
– Swimming Pool Contractors 184 149
– Floodplain Management Contractors – 6
– Asset Management Contractors 282 403
– Organisational Service Consultants 43 284
– Stronger Communities Service Contractors – 6
Audit Fees F2-1 205 110
Previously other expenses:
Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses F1-2 234 263
Advertising 336 329
Bank charges 58 57
Election expenses 157 –
Electricity and heating 816 881
Fire control expenses – 17
Insurance 922 954
Postage/freight 88 90
Printing and stationery 150 68
Street lighting 157 205
Subscriptions and publications 486 254
Telephone and communications 218 335
Valuation fees 67 69
Fire and emergency services levy (FESL) implementation costs – 36
Travel expenses 59 37
Training costs (other than salaries and wages) 165 202
Other expenses 26 16
Vehicle registrations 186 155
Other – 8
Legal expenses:
– Legal expenses: planning and development 65 24
– Legal expenses: debt recovery 68 17
– Legal expenses: other 103 43
Leases expense:
Expenses from short-term leases 274 237
Other 21 39
Total materials and services 18,984 16,336

Total materials and services 18,984 16,336

Accounting policy
Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as the Council receives the goods or services.

B3-2 Materials and services
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$ '000 Notes 2022 2021

(i) Interest bearing liability costs
Interest on leases – –
Interest on loans 94 109
Total interest bearing liability costs 94 109

Total interest bearing liability costs expensed 94 109

(ii) Other borrowing costs
Fair value adjustments on recognition of advances and deferred debtors
– Remediation liabilities C3-5 134 2
Interest applicable on interest free (and favourable) loans to Council 17 22
Total other borrowing costs 151 24

Total borrowing costs expensed 245 133

Accounting policy
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required 
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

B3-3 Borrowing costs

Murray River Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022

Page 30 of 129



continued on next page ... 

§Note/Subtotal§

$ '000 Notes 2022 2021

Depreciation and amortisation
Plant and equipment 1,276 1,425
Office equipment 310 293
Furniture and fittings 43 39
Property, plant and equipment – leased 179 –
Land improvements (depreciable) 113 119
Infrastructure: C1-6

– Buildings – non-specialised 367 376
– Buildings – specialised 1,268 1,292
– Other structures 813 746
– Roads 13,918 8,712
– Bridges 1,255 1,282
– Footpaths 219 180
– Stormwater drainage 646 622
– Water supply network 1,189 1,166
– Sewerage network 965 965
Right of use assets C2-1 – –
Other assets:
– Heritage collections 14 14
– Library books 1 1
– Other 65 66
Reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration assets:
– Tip assets C1-6 237 26
– Quarry assets C1-6 99 10
Total gross depreciation and amortisation costs 22,977 17,334

Total depreciation and amortisation costs 22,977 17,334

Impairment / revaluation decrement of IPPE
Plant and equipment 1,836 –
Office equipment 193 –
Infrastructure: C1-6

– Other structures 1,211 –
– Footpaths – 2,507
Intangible assets C1-7 49 –
Total gross IPPE impairment / revaluation decrement costs 3,289 2,507

Total IPPE impairment / revaluation decrement costs charged 
to Income Statement 3,289 2,507

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment for 
non-financial assets 26,266 19,841

B3-4 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets
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Accounting policy

Depreciation and amortisation are calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are included in Note C1-6 for IPPE assets and Note C1-7 for intangible assets.

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation is capitalised where in-house assets have contributed to new assets.

Council assets held at fair value that are not held primarily for their ability to generate net cash flow, and that are deemed to
be specialised, are not tested for impairment since these assets are assessed on an annual basis to ensure that the carrying
amount is not materially different from fair value and therefore an impairment loss would be captured during this assessment.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets not yet available for use, are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.

Other non-financial assets that do not meet the criteria above are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Impairment losses for revalued assets are firstly offset against the amount in the revaluation surplus for the class of asset,
with only the excess to be recognised in the Income Statement.

B3-4 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
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$ '000 Notes 2022 2021

Impairment of receivables
User charges and fees 12 30
Total impairment of receivables C1-4 12 30

Other
Contributions/levies to other levels of government
Contributions/levies to other levels of government 56 41
– Emergency services levy (includes FRNSW, SES, and RFS levies) 26 23
– NSW rural fire service levy 501 651
Donations, contributions and assistance to other organisations (Section 356) 165 383
Total other 748 1,098
Total other expenses 760 1,128

Other expenses are recorded on an accruals basis when Council has an obligation for the expenses.
Accounting policy

Impairment expenses are recognised when identified.

B3-5 Other expenses
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$ '000 Notes 2022 2021

Gain (or loss) on disposal of property (excl. investment property)
Proceeds from disposal – property – 933
Less: carrying amount of property assets sold/written off (1,229) (769)
Gain (or loss) on disposal (1,229) 164

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Gain (or loss) on disposal of plant and equipment C1-6

Proceeds from disposal – plant and equipment 382 352
Less: carrying amount of plant and equipment assets sold/written off (255) (416)
Gain (or loss) on disposal 127 (64)

Gain (or loss) on disposal of infrastructure C1-6

Less: carrying amount of infrastructure assets sold/written off (3,325) (3,462)
Gain (or loss) on disposal (3,325) (3,462)

Gain (or loss) on disposal of real estate assets held for sale C1-5

Proceeds from disposal – real estate assets 898 1,691
Less: carrying amount of real estate assets sold/written off (549) (1,565)
Gain (or loss) on disposal 349 126

Gain (or loss) on disposal of investments C1-2

Proceeds from disposal/redemptions/maturities – investments 35,476 37,350
Less: carrying amount of investments sold/redeemed/matured (35,476) (37,350)
Gain (or loss) on disposal – –

Gain (or loss) on disposal of term deposits C1-2

Proceeds from disposal/redemptions/maturities – term deposits – –
Less: carrying amount of term deposits sold/redeemed/matured – –
Gain (or loss) on disposal – –

Net gain (or loss) from disposal of assets (4,078) (3,236)

Accounting policy
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. The gain or loss on sale of an 
asset is determined when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to the buyer and the asset is de-recognised.

B4 Gains or losses

B4-1 Gain or loss from the disposal, replacement and de-recognition of assets
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Council’s original budget was adopted by the Council on 22/06/2021 and is not required to be audited. The original projections
on which the budget was based have been affected by a number of factors. These include state and federal government
decisions, including new grant programs, changing economic activity, environmental factors, and by decisions made by
Council.

§TocItem§§Subnote§

While these General Purpose Financial Statements include the original budget adopted by Council, the Act requires Council to
review its financial budget on a quarterly basis, so it is able to manage the variation between actuals and budget that invariably
occur during the year.

Material variations of more than 10% between original budget and actual results or where the variance is considered material
by nature are explained below.

Variation Key: F = Favourable budget variation, U = Unfavourable budget variation.

 2022 2022 2022
$ '000 Budget Actual -------- Variance --------

Revenues

Rates and annual charges 18,777 17,835 (942) (5)% U

User charges and fees 6,842 7,611 769 11% F
Budget understated as a result of $248k more received in water usage charges, $120k for tapping fees, $88k for 
sub-division fees, $44k extra in cemetery fees and $269k for sewerage services user charges. 

Other revenues 643 1,269 626 97% F
Actual result higher than budget due to, in part, 188k sponsorship for Darts competition/ Moama lights, $159k insurance 
recoveries and 115k scrap metal sales., 

Operating grants and contributions 16,866 18,622 1,756 10% F
Result was better than budget due to higher than expected advanced payment of the Financial Assistance Grant (advance 
payment is the 2022/23 financial year allocation paid in advance before 30 June 2022 - the amount increased from 50% to 
around 75% of Council total 2022/2 allocation).

Capital grants and contributions 13,417 18,440 5,023 37% F
Council was succesful in receiving grants during the 2021/22 financial year that were not part of the original budget. Gifted 
assets by developers (non-cash) of $6,555k contributed to the overall better result. 

Interest and investment revenue 389 463 74 19% F
A better than expected result due to higher penalty interest on deferred debtor accounts and the resumption of outstanding 
rates interest (for the 2020/21 financial year, the six months July to December 2021 had a grace period applied for overdue 
interest due to COVID-19 pandemic).

Other income 425 670 245 58% F
Actual includes a one-off $198k adjustment in lease fees.

Joint ventures and associates – net profits – – – ∞ F

B5 Performance against budget

B5-1 Material budget variations
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 2022 2022 2022
$ '000 Budget Actual -------- Variance --------

Expenses

Employee benefits and on-costs 17,035 18,004 (969) (6)% U

Materials and services 10,148 18,984 (8,836) (87)% U

§Total§

Overall shortfall in budget due to: 1. Reversal of oncosts on capital projects. The oncost is an indirect cost and is not included in
the capitalised expenditure. Original budget did not include the oncost movement. 2. Original Budget should be $14,483k - a
difference of $4,335k, which is to come from the Other Expenses budget. A change in where expenses are reported in the
statements (most other expenses now appear under Materials and Contracts) is the result of this movement.

Borrowing costs 111 245 (134) (121)% U
The $134k relates to unwinding of PV on remediation liabilities, being landfill and quarries. 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of 
non-financial assets 21,216 26,266 (5,050) (24)% U

There was a revaluation decrement of IPPE for $1,836k Plant and Eqipment, $193k Office Equipment and $4,100k 
Footpaths. This comes to a total of $6,129k. There was also Intangible assets amortisation expense of $49k as well as an 
overall increase of $300k to the rehabilitation assets depreciation expense, which both weren't apart of the original budget. 
The remaining $1,129k ($7,607k less $6,129 less $49k less $300k) is the result of an overall shortfall in depreciation 
estimate when setting the budget.  

Other expenses 5,303 760 4,543 86% F
$4,335k of the original budget $5,303 is required to be reallocated to Materials and Contracts due to a change in where 
most Other Expenses are now recorded (under Materials and Contracts).

Net losses from disposal of assets – 4,078 (4,078) ∞ U

Statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities 24,335 19,250 (5,085) (21)% U
Overall result, in part, due to lower than expected Grant and Contributions received by Council as at 30 June 2022 (cash 
received) of $1,256k. Materials and contracts also higher than original forecast cash budget by $1,878k.

Cash flows from investing activities (33,692) (17,983) 15,709 (47)% F
Capital cash flow payment were budgeted as $34,732k but only $23,896k actually occurred - a difference of $10,836k. Also, 
a difference in investments of $9,976k was the result of a large than expected movement in investment total between 
2021/22 and 2020/21 financial years.

Cash flows from financing activities 145 (773) (918) (633)% U
Council did not proceed with a borrowing for $800k, which was in the original budget. 

B5-1 Material budget variations (continued)
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$ '000 2022 2021

Cash assets
Cash on hand and at bank 2,401 1,907
Total cash and cash equivalents 2,401 1,907

§TocItem§§TocItem§
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§Subnote§

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents per Statement of Financial Position 2,401 1,907
Balance as per the Statement of Cash Flows 2,401 1,907
 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy
For Statement of Cash Flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include: cash on hand; deposits held at call 
with financial institutions; other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value; and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position.

C Financial position

C1 Assets we manage

C1-1 Cash and cash equivalents
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2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Debt securities at amortised cost
Long term deposits 45,940 – 50,760 –
Total 45,940 – 50,760 –

§TocItem§§TocItem§
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Equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Unlisted equity securities – 2 – 2
Total – 2 – 2

Total financial investments 45,940 2 50,760 2

Total cash assets, cash equivalents and 
investments 48,341 2 52,667 2
 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Financial instruments are recognised initially on the date that the Council becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).

Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 
on the classification of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, Council classifies its financial assets into the following categories – those measured at:
Classification

• amortised cost
• fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
• fair value through other comprehensive income – equity instrument (FVOCI-equity)

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.

Council’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables, term deposits and cash and cash
equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position. Term deposits with an initial term of more than 3 months are classified as
investments rather than cash and cash equivalents.

Amortised cost

Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less
provision for impairment.

Interest income, impairment and gains or loss on de-recognition are recognised in profit or loss.

C1-2 Financial investments

Murray River Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022

Page 38 of 129



§Note/Subtotal§

$ '000 2022 2021

(a) Externally restricted cash, 
cash equivalents and 
investments

§TocItem§§TocItem§
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Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 48,343 52,669
§Total§

Less: Externally restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments (33,539) (30,748)
Cash, cash equivalents and investments not subject to external 
restrictions 14,804 21,921

External restrictions
§Total§

External restrictions – included in liabilities
External restrictions included in cash, cash equivalents and investments above comprise:

Specific purpose unexpended grants – general fund 5,353 4,434
External restrictions – included in liabilities 5,353 4,434

External restrictions – other
External restrictions included in cash, cash equivalents and investments above 
comprise:

Developer contributions – general 2,795 2,191
Developer contributions – water fund 478 50
Developer contributions – sewer fund 1,508 1,204
Specific purpose unexpended grants (recognised as revenue) – general fund 354 505
Water fund 7,849 8,361
Sewer fund 12,529 11,407
Special levies – land and water management 135 135
Crown land management 93 93
Unexpended Loans 639 700
Domestic waste management 1,742 1,620
Other 64 48
External restrictions – other 28,186 26,314
Total external restrictions 33,539 30,748

Cash, cash equivalents and investments subject to external restrictions are those which are only available for specific use 
by Council due to a restriction placed by legislation or third-party contractual agreement.
 
$ '000 2022 2021

(b) Internal allocations

§Subnote§

Cash, cash equivalents and investments not subject to external 
restrictions 14,804 21,921

§Total§

Less: Internally restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments (12,536) (20,120)
Unrestricted and unallocated cash, cash equivalents and investments 2,268 1,801

Internal allocations
At 30 June, Council has internally allocated funds to the following:

Plant and vehicle replacement 972 1,221
Infrastructure replacement – 1,981
Employees leave entitlement 1,220 2,168
Carry over works 1,450 473
Staff/other housing – 131
Waste management 2,723 2,208
Community Services 290 316

§Total§

continued on next page ... 

C1-3 Restricted and allocated cash, cash equivalents and investments
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$ '000 2022 2021

Prepaid financial assistance grant (fag) 1,958 4,233
Town improvements – 109
Cemetery improvements 100 136
Sand/gravel pit restorations 290 312
Parks, halls and reserves 363 603
Office equipment 185 432
Town planning – 46
Stormwater drainage 101 84
Recreation and culture 421 431
Bush fire services 45 45
Roads – 208
Retirement village 1,082 934
Levee bank 359 359
Insurance claims – 163
Industrial development – 1,167
Technology OneCouncil 182 835
Financial assistance grant – 78
Election – 75
Economic 153 293
Caravan park 331 282
Buildings 286 604
Other 25 193
Total internal allocations 12,536 20,120

Cash, cash equivalents and investments not subject to external restrictions may be internally allocated by resolution or
policy of the elected Council.

$ '000 2022 2021

(c) Unrestricted and unallocated

§Subnote§

Unrestricted and unallocated cash, cash equivalents and investments 2,268 1,801

C1-3 Restricted and allocated cash, cash equivalents and investments (continued)
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2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Rates and annual charges 2,055 – 1,878 –
Interest and extra charges 378 – 274 –
User charges and fees 1,477 – 942 –
Accrued revenues
– Interest on investments 148 – 132 –
– Other income accruals 1,154 – 323 –
Deferred debtors 261 675 1,001 1,288
Government grants and subsidies 4,166 – 2,987 –
Loans to non-profit organisations 22 44 22 57
Net GST receivable 3,795 – 663 –
Other debtors 626 – 614 –
Total 14,082 719 8,836 1,345

§TocItem§§TocItem§
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Less: provision for impairment
Rates and annual charges (86) – (86) –
Other debtors (45) – (35) –
Total provision for impairment – 
receivables (131) – (121) –

Total net receivables 13,951 719 8,715 1,345
 

Externally restricted receivables
§Subnote§

Water supply
– Rates and availability charges 297 – 323 –
– Other 2,089 – 825 –
Sewerage services
– Rates and availability charges 270 – 274 –
– Other 239 – 89 –
Domestic waste management 208 – 189 –
Total external restrictions 3,103 – 1,700 –

Unrestricted receivables 10,848 719 7,015 1,345

Total net receivables 13,951 719 8,715 1,345
 

$ '000 2022 2021

Movement in provision for impairment of receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year (calculated in accordance with AASB 139) 121 153
+ new provisions recognised during the year 12 35
– amounts already provided for and written off this year (2) (67)
Balance at the end of the year 131 121

§Subnote§

C1-4 Receivables
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Accounting policy

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment. Receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost is recognised on an expected credit loss (ECL) basis.
Impairment

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, and when
estimating ECL, the Council considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on Council’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment, and including forward-looking information.

When considering the ECL for rates debtors, Council takes into account that unpaid rates represent a charge against the
rateable property that will be recovered when the property is next sold. For non-rates debtors, Council uses the presumption
that an asset which is more than 30 days past due has seen a significant increase in credit risk.

The Council uses the presentation that a financial asset is in default when:
• the other party is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Council in full, without recourse by the Council to actions

such as realising security (if any is held) or
• the financial assets (for non-rates debtors) are more than 90 days past due.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with
the contract, and the cash flows expected to be received. This is applied using a probability weighted approach.

On initial recognition of the asset, an estimate of the expected credit losses for the next 12 months is recognised. Where the
asset has experienced significant increase in credit risk then the lifetime losses are estimated and recognised.

Council uses the simplified approach for trade receivables where the expected lifetime credit losses are recognised on day 1.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period.

The Council writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings.

None of the receivables that have been written off are subject to enforcement activity.

Where the Council renegotiates the terms of receivables due from certain customers, the new expected cash flows are
discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting difference to the carrying value is recognised in profit or loss.

Rates and annual charges outstanding are secured against the property.

Council has succesfully recovered the Principal, Interest and all Legal Costs relating to Murray River Energy. The collateral
against this loan was liquidated which adequately covered Council's financial exposure towards this transaction and this matter
is now closed.

Deferred debtor

Council has deferred debtors in relation to industrial land development. Council requires a deposit paid up-front, with the
remaining amount owed to Council over a term of up to three (3) years. Penalty interest applies if debtor does not adhere to
the agreed repayment schedule.

C1-4 Receivables (continued)
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2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

(i) Inventories at cost
Real estate for resale 254 438 135 852
Stores and materials 509 – 554 –
Loose tools – 203 – 203
Total inventories at cost 763 641 689 1,055

Total inventories 763 641 689 1,055

§TocItem§§TocItem§
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2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Total unrestricted assets 763 641 689 1,055
Total inventories 763 641 689 1,055

§Subnote§§Total§

 

(ii) Other disclosures
§Subnote§§Total§

2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Notes Current Non-current Current Non-current

(a) Details for real estate development
Residential 254 438 – –
Industrial/commercial – – 135 852
Total real estate for resale 254 438 135 852

(Valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value)
Represented by:
Acquisition costs 254 438 – –
Development costs – – 135 852
Total costs 254 438 135 852

Total real estate for resale 254 438 135 852

Movements:
Real estate assets at beginning of the year 135 852 1,025 1,309
– WDV of sales (expense) B4-1 – (549) (1,108) (457)
– Transfer between current/non-current (135) 135 – –
– Additions 254 – 218 –
Total real estate for resale 254 438 135 852
§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory 
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Land held for resale is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is assigned by specific identification and
includes the cost of acquisition, and development and borrowing costs during development. When development is completed,
borrowing costs and other holding charges are expensed as incurred.

Land held for resale

Borrowing costs included in the cost of land held for resale are those costs that would have been avoided if the expenditure
on the acquisition and development of the land had not been made. Borrowing costs incurred while active development is
interrupted for extended periods are recognised as expenses.

C1-5 Inventories
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By aggregated 
asset class At 1 July 2021 Asset movements during the reporting period At 30 June 2022

Additions

$ '000
Gross carrying 

amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Renewals   1 new assets

Re-measurem
ent of asset 
remediation 

provision
Carrying value

of disposals
Depreciation 

expense

Impairment  
loss / 

revaluation 
decrements 

(recognised in
P/L) WIP transfers

Adjustments 
and transfers

Developer / 
Other 

contribution
Tfrs from/(to) 

Intangibles

Revaluation 
decrements to

equity (ARR)

Revaluation 
increments to 
equity (ARR)

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Capital work in progress 11,534 – 11,534 5,928 1,577 – – – – (7,708) 21 – (1,315) – – 10,037 – 10,037
Plant and equipment 22,885 (10,316) 12,569 399 640 – (212) (1,276) (1,836) 466 (18) – – – – 22,888 (12,156) 10,732
Office equipment 2,968 (1,400) 1,568 – 136 – – (310) (193) – 9 – – – – 2,300 (1,090) 1,210
Furniture and fittings 1,073 (599) 474 – 19 – – (43) – – – – – – 216 736 (70) 666
Plant and equipment (under finance 
lease) 895 – 895 – – – – (179) – – – – – – – 895 (179) 716

§TocItem§
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Land:
– Operational land 7,950 – 7,950 – – – (506) – – – – – – – 10,159 17,603 – 17,603
– Community land 13,037 – 13,037 – – – (723) – – – 2 – – – 48,280 60,596 – 60,596
– Land under roads (post 30/6/08) 19 – 19 – – – – – – – – – – – – 19 – 19
Land improvements – depreciable 8,804 (5,116) 3,688 – – – – (113) – – – – – – 5,526 9,207 (106) 9,101
Infrastructure:
– Buildings – non-specialised 15,214 (6,007) 9,207 – 13 – – (367) – 69 (2) – – – 8,695 23,229 (5,614) 17,615
– Buildings – specialised 56,340 (26,311) 30,029 20 130 – – (1,268) – – 318 – – – 7,851 55,795 (18,715) 37,080
– Other structures 23,713 (5,089) 18,624 23 899 – (13) (813) (1,211) 899 11 – – (3,064) – 21,790 (6,435) 15,355
– Roads 457,143 (132,996) 324,147 5,550 778 – (541) (13,918) – 1,663 – 2,451 – – 5,249 474,150 (148,771) 325,379
– Bridges 75,564 (17,671) 57,893 1,635 50 – (1,792) (1,255) – 780 – – – – 599 76,910 (19,000) 57,910
– Footpaths 14,545 (6,825) 7,720 – 267 – – (219) – 27 – 489 – – 97 15,517 (7,136) 8,381
– Bulk earthworks (non-depreciable) 203,230 – 203,230 978 – – (272) – – – – 265 – – 3,611 207,812 – 207,812
– Stormwater drainage 54,981 (9,079) 45,902 51 21 – (11) (646) – 34 – 2,010 – (7,748) – 53,796 (14,183) 39,613
– Water supply network 64,223 (22,694) 41,529 506 91 – (327) (1,189) – 3,737 – 713 – – 11,004 77,537 (21,473) 56,064
– Sewerage network 61,597 (22,822) 38,775 – – – (218) (965) – – – 627 – – 6,979 66,860 (21,662) 45,198
– Swimming pools 550 (550) – – – – – – – – – – – – – 550 (550) –
Other assets:
– Heritage collections 689 (327) 362 – – – – (14) – – (348) – – – – – – –
– Library books 224 (206) 18 – – – – (1) – – – – – – 145 286 (124) 162
– Other 730 (327) 403 – – – – (65) – 33 – – – (20) – 604 (253) 351
Reinstatement, rehabilitation and 
restoration assets (refer Note C3-5):
– Tip assets 2,490 (814) 1,676 – – 3,635 – (237) – – – – – – – 6,125 (1,051) 5,074
– Quarry assets 1,040 (176) 864 – – (178) – (99) – – – – – – – 965 (378) 587
Total infrastructure, property, plant 
and equipment 1,101,438 (269,325) 832,113 15,090 4,621 3,457 (4,615) (22,977) (3,240) – (7) 6,555 (1,315) (10,832) 108,411 1,206,207 (278,946) 927,261

(1) Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).

C1-6 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
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By aggregated 
asset class At 1 July 2020 Asset movements during the reporting period At 30 June 2021

Additions

$ '000
Gross carrying 

amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Renewals   1 new assets

Re-measureme
nt of asset 

remediation 
provision

Carrying value 
of disposals

Depreciation 
expense

Impairment  
loss / 

revaluation 
decrements 

(recognised in 
P/L) WIP transfers

Adjustments 
and transfers Others

Developer / 
other 

contributions

Revaluation 
decrements to 

equity (ARR)

Revaluation 
increments to 
equity (ARR)

Gross carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depreciation

and impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Capital work in progress 11,131 – 11,131 3,045 6,298 – – – – (9,512) 572 – – – – 11,534 – 11,534
Plant and equipment 21,889 (9,388) 12,501 721 1,178 – (406) (1,425) – – – – – – – 22,885 (10,316) 12,569
Office equipment 2,602 (1,099) 1,503 234 123 – (9) (293) – – – 10 – – – 2,968 (1,400) 1,568
Furniture and fittings 1,069 (559) 510 – 3 – – (39) – – – – – – – 1,073 (599) 474
Plant and equipment (under finance 
lease) – – – – 895 – – – – – – – – – – 895 – 895
Land:
– Operational land 8,022 – 8,022 – – – (72) – – – – – – – – 7,950 – 7,950
– Community land 11,740 – 11,740 – 1,297 – – – – – – – – – – 13,037 – 13,037
– Land under roads (post 30/6/08) 19 – 19 – – – – – – – – – – – – 19 – 19
Land improvements – depreciable 8,804 (4,997) 3,807 – – – – (119) – – – – – – – 8,804 (5,116) 3,688
Infrastructure:
– Buildings – non-specialised 15,581 (5,754) 9,827 – 62 – (292) (376) – (14) – – – – – 15,214 (6,007) 9,207
– Buildings – specialised 50,121 (26,157) 23,964 371 2,627 – (572) (1,292) – 5,233 (302) – – – – 56,340 (26,311) 30,029
– Other structures 20,312 (4,364) 15,948 210 1,808 – (19) (746) – 1,431 (8) – – – – 23,713 (5,089) 18,624
– Roads 335,143 (128,264) 206,879 6,766 925 – (2,089) (8,712) – 1,291 111,003 – 1,342 – 6,742 457,143 (132,996) 324,147
– Bridges 79,164 (28,316) 50,848 997 256 – (744) (1,282) – – (293) – – – 8,111 75,564 (17,671) 57,893
– Footpaths 13,944 (3,644) 10,300 69 1,152 – (11) (180) (2,507) – (61) – 340 (1,382) – 14,545 (6,825) 7,720
– Bulk earthworks (non-depreciable) 293,193 – 293,193 – – – – – – – (110,815) – 168 – 20,684 203,230 – 203,230
– Stormwater drainage 51,542 (8,379) 43,163 – 95 – – (622) – 1,163 (70) – 1,776 – 397 54,981 (9,079) 45,902
– Water supply network 62,110 (21,366) 40,744 55 756 – (23) (1,166) – 412 (26) – 402 – 375 64,223 (22,694) 41,529
– Sewerage network 60,489 (21,677) 38,812 54 45 – (4) (965) – – – – 479 – 354 61,597 (22,822) 38,775
– Swimming pools 551 (551) – – – – – – – – – – – – – 550 (550) –
Other assets:
– Heritage collections 689 (313) 376 – – – – (14) – – – – – – – 689 (327) 362
– Library books 24 (22) 2 – – – – (1) – – – 17 – – – 224 (206) 18
– Other 677 (261) 416 – 53 – – (66) – – – – – – – 730 (327) 403
Reinstatement, rehabilitation and 
restoration assets (refer Note C3-5):
– Tip assets 1,755 (788) 967 – – 735 – (26) – – – – – – – 2,490 (814) 1,676
– Quarry assets 272 (194) 78 – – 796 – (10) – – – – – – – 1,040 (176) 864
Total infrastructure, property, plant 
and equipment 1,050,843 (266,093) 784,750 12,522 17,573 1,531 (4,241) (17,334) (2,507) 4 – 27 4,507 (1,382) 36,663 1,101,438 (269,325) 832,113

(1) Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).
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Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are held at fair value. Independent comprehensive valuations are performed at
least every five years, however the carrying amount of assets is assessed by Council at each reporting date to confirm that
it is not materially different from current fair value.

Accounting policy

Water and sewerage network assets are indexed at each reporting period in accordance with the Rates Reference Manual
issued by Crown Lands and Water (CLAW).

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation are credited to the revaluation reserve. To the extent that the increase
reverses a decrease previously recognising profit or loss relating to that asset class, the increase is first recognised as profit
or loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases of assets in the same class are first charged against revaluation reserves
directly in equity to the extent of the remaining reserve attributable to the class; all other decreases are charged to the Income
Statement.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to Council and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Income Statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

When infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are acquired by Council for nil or nominal consideration, the assets are
initially recognised at their fair value at acquisition date.

Land is not depreciated. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s
useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Council
will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and equipment Years Other equipment Years
Office equipment 4 to 20 Playground equipment 5 to 80
Office furniture 10 to 50 Benches, seats etc. 10 to 20
Computer equipment 4 to 5
Vehicles 2 to 12.5 Buildings
Heavy plant/road making equipment 5 to 20 Buildings: masonry 50 to 100
Other plant and equipment 5 to 20 Buildings: other 10 to 50

Water and sewer assets Stormwater assets
Dams and reservoirs 20 to 100 Drains 80 to 100
Bores 20 to 40 Culverts 50 to 80
Reticulation pipes: PVC 70 to 80 Flood control structures 80 to 120
Reticulation pipes: other 25 to 75
Pumps and telemetry 5 to 50
Treatment Ponds Infinite

Transportation assets Other infrastructure assets
Sealed roads: surface 15 to 30 Bulk earthworks Infinite
Sealed roads: structure 30 to 80 Swimming pools 50
Unsealed roads 10 to 30 Other open space/recreational assets 5 to 50
Bridge: concrete 60 to 100 Other Infrastructure 5 to 110
Bridge: other 20 to 60 Land improvements (levee bank) 70
Road pavements 10 to 80
Kerb, gutter and footpaths 20 to 100

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the Income
Statement.

Land under roads is land under roadways and road reserves including land under footpaths, nature strips and median strips.
Land under roads

Council has elected not to recognise land under roads acquired before 1 July 2008. Land under roads acquired after 1 July
2008 is recognised in accordance with the IPPE accounting policy.

continued on next page ... 
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Crown reserves
Crown reserves under Council’s care and control are recognised as assets of the Council. While ownership of the reserves
remains with the Crown, Council retains operational control of the reserves and is responsible for their maintenance and use
in accordance with the specific purposes to which the reserves are dedicated.

Improvements on Crown reserves are also recorded as assets, while maintenance costs incurred by Council and revenues
relating to the reserves are recognised within Council’s Income Statement.

Under Section 119 of the Rural Fire Services Act 1997 (NSW), “all firefighting equipment purchased or constructed wholly
or from money to the credit of the Fund is to be vested in the council of the area for or on behalf of which the firefighting
equipment has been purchased or constructed”.

Rural Fire Service assets

Until such time as discussions on this matter have concluded and the legislation changes. Council will continue to account for
these assets as it has been doing in previous years, which is to incorporate the Building assets, their values and depreciation
charges within these financial statements. Council will not recognise rural fire service assets including plant and vehicles in
these financial statements.

C1-6 Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (continued)
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as at 30/06/22 as at 30/06/21

$ '000

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated
depn. and 

impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated 
depn. and 

impairment

Net
carrying
amount

Water supply
WIP 43 – 43 3,728 – 3,728
Plant and equipment 61 56 5 61 54 7
Land
– Operational land 1,817 – 1,817 616 – 616
Buildings 1,392 503 889 2,517 1,240 1,277
Infrastructure 77,537 21,473 56,064 64,223 22,694 41,529
Total water supply 80,850 22,032 58,818 71,145 23,988 47,157

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Sewerage services
WIP 14 – 14 – – –
Plant and equipment 23 23 – 23 23 –
Land
– Operational land 3,009 – 3,009 1,123 – 1,123
Buildings 242 107 135 181 84 97
Infrastructure 66,860 21,662 45,198 61,597 22,822 38,775
Total sewerage services 70,148 21,792 48,356 62,924 22,929 39,995

Domestic waste management
Plant and equipment 12 9 3 12 8 4
Land
– Operational land 687 – 687 370 – 370
– Community land 204 – 204 133 – 133
Buildings 749 321 428 318 204 114
Other structures 749 306 443 1,100 278 822
Total domestic waste 
management 2,401 636 1,765 1,933 490 1,443

Total restricted 
infrastructure, property, plant
and equipment 153,399 44,460 108,939 136,002 47,407 88,595

Externally restricted infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
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Intangible assets are as follows:
 

$ '000 2022 2021

Water Licences

§Subnote§

Opening values at 1 July
Gross book value 1,800 1,771
Net book value – opening balance 1,800 1,771

Movements for the year
Purchases 489 –
Revaluation 139 29

Closing values at 30 June
Gross book value 2,428 1,800

Total water licences – net book value 2,428 1,800
 

§Subnote§

Software

Software - Tech 1 and Other

Movements for the year
Purchases 62 –
Development costs 2,465 –
Amortisation charges (49) –

Closing values at 30 June
Gross book value 2,527 –
Accumulated amortisation (49) –
Total Software - Tech 1 and Other – net book value 2,478 –
 

Total intangible assets – net book value 4,906 1,800
§Subnote§

 

Council holds a number of high and general security water licences, which it recognises as an intangible asset.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

The water licences are individually tradeable on the open water licence sales market.

Water licences are individually separated from the land and can be sold on a permanent or temporary transfer basis. At present,
Council only trades the water entitlement associated with the water licences on a temporary basis, with income received from
the sales of water entitlements disclosed as other revenue.

No amortisation costs are applicable as high and general security water licences have an indefinite life.

Water licences purchased are initially recorded at cost and are valued yearly at 30 June and the revaluation is based on market
evidence. Water licences are tested for impairment annually based on market sales evidence. If the recoverable amount is less
than carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount and the reduction is recognised as impairment
loss.

Software - Tech 1 and Other
Council has purchased a new system, Technology One Council, and customised its setup, which it recognises as an 
intangible asset. Amortisation costs are applicable from 1 July 2021.

C1-7 Intangible assets
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Council has one lease over a building and also has leases for photocopiers, which are considered as short term leases. 

Council has one building which is leased for a doctors surgery. Lease is month by month and no formal lease agreement is
currently in place.

Buildings

Council also has staff housing rental agreements in place and these are all under 12 months duration.

Vehicles
Council leases vehicles and equipment with lease terms varying to 5 years; the lease payments are fixed during the lease 
term and there is generally no renewal option.

Council did lease photocopies for part of the 2020/21 financial year prior to replacing them with photocopiers purchased
outright. The lease arrangements are considered short term leases.

Office and IT equipment

 

(a) Lease liabilities
§Subnote§

2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Lease liabilities 192 550 192 725
Total lease liabilities 192 550 192 725
 

(b) (i) The maturity analysis
§Subnote§

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is shown in the table below:

$ '000 < 1 year 1 – 5 years > 5 years Total

Total per 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position

2022
Cash flows 192 550 – 742 742

2021
Cash flows 192 725 – 917 917
 

§Subnote§

(ii) Lease liabilities relating to restricted assets

2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Total lease liabilities relating to unrestricted
assets 192 550 192 725

Total lease liabilities 192 550 192 725
 

(c) Income Statement
§Subnote§

The amounts recognised in the Income Statement relating to leases where Council is a lessee are shown below:

$ '000 2022 2021

Expenses relating to short-term leases 537 237

continued on next page ... 

C2 Leasing activities

C2-1 Council as a lessee

Murray River Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022

Page 50 of 129



537 237
 

$ '000 2022 2021

(d) Statement of Cash Flows
§Subnote§

Total cash outflow for leases 274 237
274 237

 

(e) Leases at significantly below market value – concessionary / peppercorn leases
§Subnote§

Council, as leasee, doesn't have any concessionary/ peppercorn leases.
 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy

At inception of a contract, Council assesses whether a lease exists – i.e. does the contract convey the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration?

Council as a lessee

Council has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components for any class of asset and has accounted
for payments as a single component.

At the lease commencement, Council recognises a right-of-use asset and associated lease liability for the lease term. The
lease term includes extension periods where Council believes it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition comprises: the lease liability, initial
direct costs, prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration, less any lease incentives. The right-of-use
is depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis and assessed for impairment in accordance with the impairment
of asset accounting policy.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of the
lease. The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, however where this cannot be readily determined then the Council’s
incremental borrowing rate for a similar term with similar security is used.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
The lease liability is re-measured when there is a lease modification, or change in estimate of the lease term or index upon
which the lease payments are based (e.g. CPI). Where the lease liability is re-measured, the right-of-use asset is adjusted
to reflect the re-measurement.

Exceptions to lease accounting
Council has applied the exceptions to lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases with a term of less than or equal
to 12 months) and leases of low-value assets. Council recognises the payments associated with these leases as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases at significantly below market value / concessionary leases
Council has elected to measure the right of use asset arising from the concessionary leases at cost which is based on the
associated lease liability at initial recognition.

C2-1 Council as a lessee (continued)
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§Subnote§

Operating leases

Council leases out a number of properties and /or plant and equipment to community groups; these leases have been classified
as operating leases for financial reporting purposes.

The amounts recognised in the Income Statement relating to operating leases where Council is a lessor are shown below:

$ '000 2022 2021

(i) Assets held as investment property
The amounts recognised in the Income Statement relating to operating leases where Council is a lessor are shown below

(ii) Assets held as property, plant and equipment
Council provides operating leases on Council buildings for the purpose of caravan parks, staff housing, retirement units, 
vacant land and room/ facility hire. The table below relates to operating leases on assets that are a part of the overall asset 
fair value balances disclosed in Note C1-6.

Lease income (excluding variable lease payments not dependent on an index or rate) 670 605
Total income relating to operating leases for Council assets 670 605
 

(iii) Maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received after 
reporting date for all operating leases:

§Subnote§

Maturity analysis of future lease income receivable showing the undiscounted lease
payments to be received after reporting date for operating leases:

< 1 year 392 398
1–2 years 362 315
2–3 years 364 318
3–4 years 368 320
4–5 years 344 324
> 5 years 4,127 4,044
Total undiscounted lease payments to be received 5,957 5,719
 

When Council is a lessor, the lease is classified as either an operating or finance lease at inception date, based on whether
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset have been transferred to the lessee. If the risks
and rewards have been transferred then the lease is classified as a finance lease, otherwise it is an operating lease.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

When Council has a sub-lease over an asset and is the intermediate lessor then the head lease and sub-lease are accounted
for separately. The classification of the sub-lease is based on the right-of-use asset which arises from the head lease rather
than the useful life of the underlying asset.

If the lease contains lease and non-lease components then the non-lease components are accounted for in accordance with
AASB 15Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

C2-2 Council as a lessor
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2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Prepaid rates 434 – 312 –
Goods and services – operating expenditure 3,636 – 3,941 –
Accrued expenses:
– Borrowings 1 – 1 –
– Salaries and wages 620 – 568 –
– Other expenditure accruals 150 – 140 –
Advances 20 – 30 –
Security bonds, deposits and retentions 1,295 – 883 –
Other 41 – 22 –
Total payables 6,197 – 5,897 –

§TocItem§§Subnote§

 

§Subnote§

Payables relating to restricted assets

2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Externally restricted assets
Water 250 – 408 –
Sewer 36 – 105 –
Payables relating to externally restricted assets 286 – 513 –

Total payables relating to restricted 
assets 286 – 513 –

Total payables relating to unrestricted 
assets 5,911 – 5,384 –

Total payables 6,197 – 5,897 –

C3 Liabilities of Council

C3-1 Payables
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Accounting policy
Council measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Payables
Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Council prior to the end of financial year that are unpaid. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
 

C3-2 Contract Liabilities
§Note§

2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Notes Current Non-current Current Non-current

Grants and contributions received in 
advance:
Unexpended capital grants (to 
construct Council controlled assets) (i) 4,902 – 4,250 –
Unexpended operating grants 
(received prior to performance 
obligation being satisfied) (ii) 451 – 184 –

Total grants received in 
advance 5,353 – 4,434 –

Total contract liabilities 5,353 – 4,434 –

§TocItem§
§Subnote§

Notes
(i) Council has received funding to construct assets including community recreation, mobile library and other infrastructure.
The funds received are under an enforceable contract which require Council to construct an identified asset which will be under
Council’s control on completion. The revenue is recognised as Council constructs the asset and the contract liability reflects the
funding received which cannot yet be recognised as revenue. The revenue is expected to be recognised in the next 12 months.

(ii) The contract liability relates to grants received prior to the revenue recognition criteria in AASB 15 being satisfied since
the performance obligations are ongoing.
 

§Subnote§

Contract liabilities relating to restricted assets

2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Externally restricted assets
Unspent grants held as contract liabilities (excl.
Water & Sewer) 5,353 – 4,434 –
Contract liabilities relating to externally 
restricted assets 5,353 – 4,434 –

Total contract liabilities relating to 
restricted assets 5,353 – 4,434 –

Total contract liabilities 5,353 – 4,434 –
 
§Subnote§

Accounting policy
Contract liabilities are recorded when consideration is received from a customer / fund provider prior to Council transferring 
a good or service to the customer, Council presents the funds which exceed revenue recognised as a contract liability.

C3-1 Payables (continued)
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2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Loans – secured   1 602 2,650 582 3,251
Total borrowings 602 2,650 582 3,251

§TocItem§§Subnote§

(1) Loans are secured over the general rating income of Council.
Disclosures on liability interest rate risk exposures, fair value disclosures and security can be found in Note 20.

 

§Subnote§

Borrowings relating to restricted assets

2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Total borrowings relating to 
unrestricted assets 602 2,650 582 3,251

Total borrowings 602 2,650 582 3,251
 

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
§Subnote§

2021  Non-cash movements 2022

$ '000
Opening
Balance Cash flows Acquisition

Fair value 
changes

Acquisition 
due to change 
in accounting 

policy
Other non-cash

movement
Closing 
balance

Loans – secured 3,833 (581) – – – – 3,252
Lease liability (Note C2-1b) 917 (175) – – – – 742
Total liabilities from financing 
activities 4,750 (756) – – – – 3,994
 

2020  Non-cash movements 2021

$ '000
Opening
Balance Cash flows Acquisition

Fair value 
changes

Acquisition due 
to change in 

accounting 
policy

Other non-cash 
movement Closing balance

Loans – secured 3,690 143 – – – – 3,833
Lease liability (Note C2-1b) – – 917 – – – 917
Total liabilities from financing 
activities 3,690 143 917 – – – 4,750

§Subnote§

C3-3 Borrowings
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(b) Financing arrangements

$ '000 2022 2021

Total facilities
Bank overdraft facilities   1 650 650
Credit cards/purchase cards 26 26
Total financing arrangements 676 676

Drawn facilities
– Credit cards/purchase cards 19 22
Total drawn financing arrangements 19 22

Undrawn facilities
– Bank overdraft facilities 650 650
– Credit cards/purchase cards 7 4
Total undrawn financing arrangements 657 654

(1) The bank overdraft facility may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice.
 

Council measures all financial liabilities initially at fair value less transaction costs, subsequently financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.

Borrowings are removed from the Statement of Financial Position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in other income or borrowing costs.

C3-3 Borrowings (continued)

Murray River Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022

Page 56 of 129



§Note/Subtotal§

2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-current Current Non-current

Annual leave 1,922 – 1,960 –
Long service leave 2,314 547 1,980 412
Total employee benefit provisions 4,236 547 3,940 412

§TocItem§§Subnote§

 

§Subnote§

Employee benefit provisions relating to restricted assets

Internally restricted assets
Employee Benefits 1,220 – 2,168 –
Employee benefit provisions relating to internally 
restricted assets 1,220 – 2,168 –

Total employee benefit provisions relating to 
restricted assets 1,220 – 2,168 –

Total employee benefit provisions relating to 
unrestricted assets 3,016 547 1,772 412

Total employee benefit provisions 4,236 547 3,940 412
 

§Subnote§

Current employee benefit provisions not anticipated to be settled within the next twelve months

$ '000 2022 2021

The following provisions, even though classified as current, are not expected to be settled 
in the next 12 months.
Provisions – employees benefits 1,636 1,681

1,636 1,681
 

Short-term obligations

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be
wholly settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service) are recognised
in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations
The liability for long-service leave and annual leave that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of
the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

On-costs
The employee benefit provisions include the aggregate on-cost liabilities that will arise when payment of current employee
benefits is made in future periods. These amounts include superannuation, payroll tax and workers compensation expenses
which will be payable upon the future payment of certain leave liabilities which employees are entitled to at the reporting period.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position if the Council does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting date, regardless of when the actual settlement
is expected to occur.

C3-4 Employee benefit provisions
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2022 2022 2021 2021
$ '000 Current Non-Current Current Non-Current

Asset remediation/restoration:
Asset remediation/restoration (future works) 71 6,101 – 2,712
Sub-total – asset remediation/restoration 71 6,101 – 2,712

Total provisions 71 6,101 – 2,712

§TocItem§§Subnote§

 

§Subnote§

Provisions relating to restricted assets

Total provisions relating to restricted 
assets – – – –

Total provisions relating to unrestricted
assets 71 6,101 – 2,712

Total provisions 71 6,101 – 2,712
 

§Subnote§

Description of and movements in provisions

Other provisions

$ '000
Asset 

remediation Total

2022
At beginning of year 2,712 2,712

§Total§

Changes to provision:
Revised costs 3,326 3,326
Unwinding of discount 134 134
Total other provisions at end of year 6,172 6,172

2021
At beginning of year 1,179 1,179
Changes to provision:
Revised costs 1,531 1,531
Total other provisions at end of year 2,712 2,712

Provisions are recognised when Council has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated.

§Subnote§

Accounting policy

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as a borrowing cost.

Close-down and restoration costs include the dismantling and demolition of infrastructure, and the removal of residual materials
and remediation of disturbed areas. Estimated close-down and restoration costs are provided for in the accounting period when
the obligation arising from the related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs during the development or during the operation
phase, based on the net present value of estimated future costs. Provisions for close-down and restoration costs do not include
any additional obligations which are expected to arise from future disturbance. The cost estimates are calculated annually
during the life of the operation to reflect known developments, e.g. updated cost estimates and revisions to the estimated lives
of operations, and are subject to formal review at regular intervals.

Asset remediation – tips and quarries

The ultimate cost of environmental remediation is uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors, including
changes to the relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques, or experience at other locations.

continued on next page ... 

C3-5 Provisions
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The expected timing of expenditure can also change, for example in response to changes in quarry reserves or production
rates. As a result, there could be significant adjustments to the provision for close down and restoration and environmental
clean-up, which would affect future financial results.

Other movements in the provisions for close-down and restoration costs, including those resulting from new disturbance,
updated cost estimates, changes to the estimated lives of operations, and revisions to discount rates, are capitalised within
infrastructure, property, plant and equipment. These costs are then depreciated over the lives of the assets to which they relate.
 

C4 Reserves
§Note§

C4-1 Nature and purpose of reserves
§TocItem§
§Subnote§

IPPE Revaluation reserve
The infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (IPPE) revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements 
in the revaluation of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

C3-5 Provisions (continued)
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General fund refers to all Council activities other than water and sewer. All amounts disclosed in this note are gross i.e. 
inclusive of internal charges and recoveries made between the funds. Assets and liabilities shown in the water and sewer 
columns are restricted for use for these activities.
 

D1-1 Income Statement by fund
§Subnote§

 General Water Sewer
$ '000 2022 2022 2022

Income from continuing operations
Rates and annual charges 13,008 2,373 2,454
User charges and fees 4,695 2,596 320
Interest and investment revenue 382 44 37
Other revenues 970 188 111
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes 17,282 713 627
Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes 17,504 646 290
Other income 670 – –
Total income from continuing operations 54,511 6,560 3,839

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs 15,323 1,894 787
Materials and services 16,869 1,373 742
Borrowing costs 245 – –
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets 24,045 1,252 969
Other expenses 600 160 –
Net losses from the disposal of assets 3,501 328 249
Total expenses from continuing operations 60,583 5,007 2,747

Operating result from continuing operations (6,072) 1,553 1,092

Net operating result for the year (6,072) 1,553 1,092

Net operating result attributable to each council fund (6,072) 1,553 1,092

Net operating result for the year before grants and 
contributions provided for capital purposes (23,576) 907 802

D Council structure

D1 Results by fund
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General Water Sewer
$ '000 2022 2022 2022

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 35 539 1,827
Investments 25,942 7,788 12,210
Receivables 11,292 2,150 509
Inventories 763 – –
Other 274 236 –
Total current assets 38,306 10,713 14,546

Non-current assets
Investments 2 – –
Receivables 719 – –
Inventories 641 – –
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 820,087 58,818 48,356
Intangible assets 2,478 2,428 –
Total non-current assets 823,927 61,246 48,356

Total assets 862,233 71,959 62,902

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables 5,560 168 36
Income received in advance 351 82 –
Contract liabilities 5,353 – –
Lease liabilities 192 – –
Borrowings 602 – –
Employee benefit provision 4,236 – –
Provisions 71 – –
Total current liabilities 16,365 250 36

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 550 – –
Borrowings 2,650 – –
Employee benefit provision 547 – –
Provisions 6,101 – –
Total non-current liabilities 9,848 – –

Total liabilities 26,213 250 36

Net assets 836,020 71,709 62,866

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 634,425 53,521 41,558
Revaluation reserves 201,595 18,188 21,308
Council equity interest 836,020 71,709 62,866

Total equity 836,020 71,709 62,866

D1-2 Statement of Financial Position by fund
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§Note/Subtotal§
§TocItem§§Subnote§

Council’s consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with AASB 10 and the accounting policy described below.

Council’s consolidated financial statements also include controlled entities with ownership interest of 50% or less.

Name of Operation/Entity Principal activity

1. Moama Recreation Reserve Management of a Recreation Reserve (Sub Committee)
Perricoota Road Moama

§Total§

 

Ownership Ownership
Voting 
rights

Voting 
rights

Interests in Subsidiary 2022 2021 2022 2021

Council’s interest in Subsidiary 100% 100% 100% 100%

§Total§

The nature and extent of significant restrictions relating to the Subsidiary
The Moama Recreation Reserve is a sub committee of Council under Section 355 of the Local Government Act. The 
Committee operates within a Charter and any other decisions of the Committee are recommendations to the Council. The 
assets of the committee are Council's assets. Their bank accounts are treated as Internally Restricted Assets of the Council.

The nature of risks associated with Council’s interests in the Subsidiary
The Council has ultimate responsibility for the operation of the Recreation Reserve. The sub committee liaises with the 
various users and discusses any areas of concern between the groups.

Other disclosures
The Council has a representative on the Committee. Council staff also attend the meetings.

Reporting dates of Subsidiary
The committee completes financials reports to financial year end 30 June 2022. The financial position and performance of 
subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 have been included in these consolidated financial statements.
 

§Total§

Summarised financial information for the Subsidiary

 

$ '000 2022 2021

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue 46 30
Expenses (42) (26)
Profit for the period 4 4

Total comprehensive income 4 4

Summarised statement of financial position
Current assets 67 62
Total assets 67 62

Net assets 67 62

Summarised statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities 5 4
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5 4

D2 Interests in other entities

D2-1 Subsidiaries
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Name of Operation/Entity Principal activity

2. Mathoura Retirement Village Management of Units for the Aged
Mathoura Street, Mathoura

§Total§

 

Ownership Ownership
Voting 
rights

Voting 
rights

Interests in Subsidiary 2022 2021 2022 2021

Council’s interest in Subsidiary 100% 100% 100% 100%

§Total§

The nature and extent of significant restrictions relating to the Subsidiary
The Mathoura Retirement Village is a sub committee of Council under Section 355 of the local Government Act. The assets 
of the committee are Council's assets. Their bank accounts are treated as Internally Restricted Assets of the Council.

The nature of risks associated with Council’s interests in the Subsidiary
The Council has ultimate responsibility for the operation of the Retirement Village. The sub committee liaises with the 
tenants and deals with the ongoing maintenance of the units and the surrounding area.

Other disclosures
The Council has a representative on the Committee. Council staff assist with administrative issues and capital works.

Reporting dates of Subsidiary
The committee completes financial reports to financial year end 30 June 2022. The financial position and performance of 
subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 have been included in these consolidated financial statements.
 

§Total§

Summarised financial information for the Subsidiary

 

$ '000 2022 2021

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue – 48
Expenses – (36)
Profit for the period – 12

Total comprehensive income – 12

Summarised statement of financial position
Current assets 203 213
Non-current assets 402 402
Total assets 605 615

Non-current liabilities 24 14
Total liabilities 24 14

Net assets 581 601

Summarised statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities – 12
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents – 12

D2-1 Subsidiaries (continued)
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Name of Operation/Entity Principal activity

3. Moama Lions Community 
Village

Provision of units for the people meeting the criteria
Various units in Moama

§Total§

 

Ownership Ownership
Voting 
rights

Voting 
rights

Interests in Subsidiary 2022 2021 2022 2021

Council’s interest in Subsidiary 100% 100% 100% 100%

§Total§

The nature and extent of significant restrictions relating to the Subsidiary
The Moama Lions is a sub committee of Council under Section 355 of the Local Government Act. The assets of the 
committee are Council's assets. Their bank accounts are treated as Internally Restricted Assets of the Council.

The nature of risks associated with Council’s interests in the Subsidiary
The Council has ultimate responsibility for the operation of the Moama Lions units. The sub committee liaises with the 
tenants and deals with the ongoing maintenance of the units and the surrounding areas.

Other disclosures
The Council has a representative on the Committee. Council staff assist with administrative issues and capital works.

Reporting dates of Subsidiary
The committee completes financial reports to financial year end 30 June 2022. The financial position and performance of 
subsidiaries for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 have been included in these consolidated financial statements.
 

§Total§

Summarised financial information for the Subsidiary

 

$ '000 2022 2021

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue 298 357
Expenses (139) (120)
Profit for the period 159 237

Total comprehensive income 159 237

Summarised statement of financial position
Current assets 879 721
Total assets 879 721

Current liabilities 233 233
Total liabilities 233 233

Net assets 646 488

Summarised statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities 159 237
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 159 237
 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Council has control. Control is established when the
Council is exposed to, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the entity.

§Total§

Accounting policy for subsidiaries

These consolidated financial statements include the financial position and performance of controlled entities from the date on
which control is obtained until the date that control is lost. Intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between entities in the consolidated entity have been eliminated in full for the purpose of these
financial statements. Appropriate adjustments have been made to a controlled entity’s financial position, performance and

continued on next page ... 
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cash flows where the accounting policies used by that entity were different from those adopted by the consolidated entity. All
controlled entities have a June financial year end.

Council’s share of net assets
$ '000 2022 2021

Council’s share of net income

§Subnote§

Net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method 
– income
Associates – 24
Total net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the 
equity method – income – 24

Total Council’s share of net income – 24

D2-1 Subsidiaries (continued)
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Net carrying amounts – Council’s share
§Total§

Interest in
ownership

$ '000
Place of 
business

Nature of 
relationship 2022 2021 2022 2021

Central Murray Regional 
Library

Murray Ward 
Mathoura

Associate
0% 12% – –

Total carrying amounts – 
material associates – –
 

The following information is provided for associates that are individually material to the
Council. Included are the amounts as per the individual associates’ financial 
statements, adjusted for fair-value adjustments at acquisition date and differences in 
accounting policies, rather than the Council’s share.

§Total§

 

Details
§Total§

Principal activity
Measurement 
method

Central Murray Regional 
Library

Regional Library % Net Assets

 

Relevant interests and fair values
§Total§

Interest in
outputs

Proportion of
voting power

2022 2021 2022 2021

Central Murray Regional Library 0% 12% 0% 33%

D2-2 Interests in associates
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Summarised financial information for associates
§Total§

Central Murray Regional Library   1

$ '000 2022 2021

Statement of financial position
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents – 288
Non-current assets – 170
Net assets – 458

Statement of comprehensive income
Income – 465
Interest income – 2
Depreciation and amortisation – (68)
Other expenses – (339)
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations – 60

Profit/(loss) for period – 60

Total comprehensive income – 60

 
Share of income – Council (%) 0% 16%
Profit/(loss) – Council ($) – 10
Total comprehensive income – Council ($) – 10

Summarised Statement of cash flows
Cash flows from operating activities – 41
Cash flows from investing activities – (84)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents – (43)

Reconciliation of the carrying amount
Opening net assets (1 July) – 500
Distribution paid – (73)
Profit/(Loss) for Year – 60
Wind Up of CMRL – (487)
Closing net assets – –

(1) Council divested its interest in the Central Murray Regional Library (CMRL) as at 30 June 2022. The CMRL was dissolved.
 

Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method where the investment is initially recognised at cost and the
carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Council’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the investee after the date of acquisition.

§Total§

Accounting policy

If Council’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, Council discontinues recognising
its share of further losses.

Council’s share in the associates gains or losses arising from transactions between itself and its associate are eliminated.

Adjustments are made to the associates accounting policies where they are different from those of the Council for the purposes
of the consolidated financial statements.

D2-2 Interests in associates (continued)
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Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including (1) price risk, (2) credit risk, (3) liquidity risk and (4) interest
rate risk.

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

The Council’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Council.

Council does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign currency risk.

Financial risk management is carried out by Council’s finance section under policies approved by the Council.

A comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of Council’s financial assets and financial liabilities
recognised in the financial statements is presented below.

Carrying value Carrying value Fair value Fair value
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021

Financial assets
Measured at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 2,401 1,907 2,403 1,907
Receivables 14,670 10,060 14,670 10,060
Investments
– Debt securities at amortised cost 45,940 50,760 45,940 50,760
Fair value through other comprehensive 
income
Investments
– Equity securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 2 2 2 2
Total financial assets 63,013 62,729 63,015 62,729

Financial liabilities
Payables 6,197 5,897 6,197 5,897
Loans/advances 3,252 3,833 3,252 3,833
Total financial liabilities 9,449 9,730 9,449 9,730

Fair value is determined as follows:

• Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables – are estimated to be the carrying value that approximates market
value.

• Borrowings and held-to-maturity investments – are based upon estimated future cash flows discounted by the current
market interest rates applicable to assets and liabilities with similar risk profiles, unless quoted market prices are
available.

• Financial assets classified (i) ‘at fair value through profit and loss’ or (ii) ‘available-for-sale’ – are based upon quoted
market prices (in active markets for identical investments) at the reporting date or independent valuation.

Council’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of liquidity and
preserving capital.

Council's finance area manages the cash and Investments portfolio.

Council has an investment policy which complies with the Local Government Act 1993 and Minister’s investment order 625.
This policy is regularly reviewed by Council and its staff and an investment report is tabled before Council on a monthly basis
setting out the portfolio breakup and its performance as required by Local Government regulations.

The risks associated with the instruments held are:

• Price risk – the risk that the capital value of Investments may fluctuate due to changes in market prices, whether
the changes are caused by factors specific to individual financial instruments or their issuers or are caused by factors
affecting similar instruments traded in a market.

• Interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could affect returns and income.

E Risks and accounting uncertainties

E1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held
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• Liquidity risk – the risk that Council will not be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

• Credit risk – the risk that the investment counterparty will not complete their obligations particular to a financial
instrument, resulting in a financial loss to Council – be it of a capital or income nature.

Council manages these risks (amongst other measures) by diversifying its portfolio and only purchasing investments with high
credit ratings or capital guarantees.
 

(a) Market risk – interest rate and price risk
§Subnote§

$ '000 2022 2021

The impact on result for the year and equity of a reasonably possible movement in the price
of investments held and interest rates is shown below. The reasonably possible movements
were determined based on historical movements and economic conditions in place at the 
reporting date.
Impact of a 1% movement in interest rates
– Equity / Income Statement 384 505
Impact of a 10% movement in price of investments
 

(b) Credit risk
§Subnote§

Council’s major receivables comprise (i) rates and annual charges and (ii) user charges and fees.
Council manages the credit risk associated with these receivables by monitoring outstanding debt and employing stringent
debt recovery procedures. Council also encourages ratepayers to pay their rates by the due date through incentives.

The credit risk for liquid funds and other short-term financial assets is considered negligible, since the counterparties are
reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk other than Council
has significant credit risk exposures in its local area given the nature of the business. The level of outstanding receivables
is reported to Council monthly and benchmarks are set and monitored for acceptable collection performance. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivable in the financial statements.
Council makes suitable provision for doubtful receivables as required and carries out credit checks on most non-rate debtors.
There are no material receivables that have been subjected to a re-negotiation of repayment terms.

Credit risk profile
§Total§

Receivables – rates and annual charges
Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of Council to recover these debts as a secured charge 
over the land; that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. Council is also able to charge interest on overdue rates and 
annual charges at higher than market rates which further encourages payment.

overdue rates and annual charges
$ '000

Not yet
overdue < 5 years ≥ 5 years Total

2022
Gross carrying amount – 1,867 188 2,055

2021
Gross carrying amount – 1,739 139 1,878

E1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held (continued)
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Council applies the simplified approach for non-rates and annual charges debtors and contract assets to provide for expected
credit losses, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision at inception. To measure the expected credit losses,
non-rates and annual charges debtors and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

§Total§

Receivables - non-rates and annual charges and contract assets

The loss allowance provision is determined as follows. The expected credit losses incorporate forward-looking information.

Overdue debts
$ '000

Not yet
overdue 0 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 61 - 90 days > 91 days Total

2022
Gross carrying amount 11,214 1,024 23 125 360 12,746
Expected loss rate (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 12.50% 0.35%
ECL provision – – – – 45 45

2021
Gross carrying amount 5,761 992 70 134 1,346 8,303
Expected loss rate (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 2.60% 0.42%
ECL provision – – – – 35 35
 

(c) Liquidity risk
§Subnote§

Payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk; that is, the risk that insufficient funds may be on
hand to meet payment obligations as and when they fall due.

Council manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and liquidity levels, and by maintaining an adequate cash
buffer. Payment terms can be extended, and overdraft facilities drawn upon in extenuating circumstances.

Borrowings are also subject to interest rate risk: the risk that movements in interest rates could adversely affect funding costs.
Council manages this risk through diversification of borrowing types, maturities and interest rate structures.

The finance team regularly reviews interest rate movements to determine if it would be advantageous to refinance or
renegotiate part or all of the loan portfolio.

The timing of cash flows presented in the table below to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement
dates. The timing of expected outflows is not expected to be materially different from contracted cashflows.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contracted cash flows for non-lease liabilities (refer to Note C2-1(b)
for lease liabilities) and therefore the balances in the table may not equal the balances in the Statement of Financial Position
due to the effect of discounting.

payable in:

$ '000

Weighted
average
interest 

rate

Subject
to no

maturity ≤ 1 Year 1 - 5 
Years > 5 Years Total cash

outflows

Actual 
carrying 

values

2022
Payables 0.00% 1,295 4,669 – – 5,964 6,197
Borrowings 2.48% – 602 1,511 1,139 3,252 3,252
Total financial liabilities 1,295 5,271 1,511 1,139 9,216 9,449

2021
Payables 0.00% 883 4,702 – – 5,585 5,897
Borrowings 2.65% – 580 1,761 1,492 3,833 3,833
Total financial liabilities 883 5,282 1,761 1,492 9,418 9,730

E1-1 Risks relating to financial instruments held (continued)
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The Council measures the following asset and liability classes at fair value on a recurring basis:

– Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
– Investment property
– Financial assets and liabilities

§TocItem§§Subnote§

The fair value of assets and liabilities must be estimated in accordance with various accounting standards for either recognition
and measurement requirements or for disclosure purposes.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to a ‘level’ in the
fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

E2-1 Fair value measurement
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Fair value measurement hierarchy

Date of latest 
valuation

Level 1 Quoted prices in 
active markets

Level 2 Significant 
observable inputs   1, 2

Level 3 Significant 
unobservable inputs Total

$ '000 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets
Financial investments C1-2

– ‘Financial assets - " 
Available for sale" 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 – – – – – – – –
Total financial assets – – – – – – – –

Infrastructure, property,
plant and equipment

C1-6

Plant & Equipment 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 – – – – 10,732 12,569 10,732 12,569
Plant and Equipment 
(Leased) 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 – – – – 716 895 716 895
Office Equipment 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 – – – – 1,210 1,568 1,210 1,568
Furniture & Fittings 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 – – – – 666 474 666 474
Operational Land 30/06/2022 30/06/2018 – – 17,603 7,950 – – 17,603 7,950
Community Land 30/06/2022 30/06/2018 – – 60,596 – – 13,037 60,596 13,037
Land under roads (post 
30/06/08) 30/06/2018 30/06/2018 – – – – 19 19 19 19
Land Improvements 
depreciable 30/06/2017 30/06/2017 – – – – 9,101 3,688 9,101 3,688
Buildings – non-specialised 30/06/2022 30/06/2017 – – 823 9,207 16,792 – 17,615 9,207
Buildings – specialised 30/06/2022 30/06/2017 – – – – 37,080 30,029 37,080 30,029
Other Structures 30/06/2022 30/06/2019 – – – – 15,355 18,624 15,355 18,624
Roads 30/06/2021 30/06/2021 – – – – 325,379 324,147 325,379 324,147
Bridges 30/06/2021 30/06/2021 – – – – 57,910 57,893 57,910 57,893
Footpaths 30/06/2021 30/06/2021 – – – – 8,381 7,720 8,381 7,720
Bulk Earthworks 30/06/2021 30/06/2021 – – – – 207,812 203,230 207,812 203,230
Stormwater Drainage 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 – – – – 39,613 45,902 39,613 45,902
Water Supply Network 30/06/2022 30/06/2017 – – – – 56,064 41,529 56,064 41,529
Sewerage Network 30/06/2022 30/06/2017 – – – – 45,198 38,775 45,198 38,775
Swimming Pools 30/06/2017 30/06/2017 – – – – – – – –
Heritage Collections 30/06/2022 30/06/2017 – – – – – 362 – 362
Library Books 30/06/2022 30/06/2017 – – – – 162 18 162 18
Other Assets 30/06/2022 30/06/2017 – – – – 351 403 351 403
Tip Assets 30/06/2022 30/06/2017 – – – – 5,074 1,676 5,074 1,676
Quarry Assets 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 – – – – 587 864 587 864

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Fair value measurement hierarchy

Date of latest 
valuation

Level 1 Quoted prices in 
active markets

Level 2 Significant 
observable inputs   1, 2

Level 3 Significant 
unobservable inputs Total

$ '000 Notes 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Total infrastructure, 
property, plant and 
equipment – – 79,022 17,157 838,202 803,422 917,224 820,579

Non-recurring fair value 
measurements

Discontinued operations
Water Access Licences 30/06/2022 30/06/2021 2,428 1,800 – – – – 2,428 1,800
Total discontinued 
operations 2,428 1,800 – – – – 2,428 1,800

(1) Community Land revalued at 30 June 2022 and resulted in a change from Level 3 to Level 2 observable inputs.

(2) Buildings Specialised revalued at 30 June 2022 and resulted in a predominate change from Level 2 to Level 3 observable inputs.

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)
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Valuation techniques

Where Council is unable to derive fair valuations using quoted market prices of identical assets (ie. level 1 inputs) Council
instead utilises a spread of both observable inputs (level 2 inputs) and unobservable inputs (level 3 inputs).

The fair valuation techniques Council has employed while utilising level 2 and level 3 inputs are as follows:

Plant and equipment, office equipment and furniture and fittings

Quoted prices in an active market for similar items and asset conditions have been used to revalue these assets.

Examples of assets within these classes are as follows:

• Plant & Equipment – graders, trucks, rollers, tractors & motor vehicles
• Office Equipment – computers, photocopiers, phone systems etc.
• Furniture & Fittings – chairs, desks, cabinets etc.

Operational and Community land

This asset class was valued by an independent consultant (APV Valuers and Asset Management) on 30 June 2022. Operational
Land is valued based on purchase price and valuations provided by commercial valuers.

Community Land is based on land value of either recently sold properties which are of a similar type, the hypothetical
development approach (using gross realisation, expected costs, profit and risk), the value to an adjoining owner approach
(land has no commercial value and is valued with reference to adjoining owner land values) or the nominal value approach
(land is deemed to have a nominal cost of $1,000).

Land Under Roads

Last revalued in June 2018 interanlly by Council. Will be revalued in the 2022-23 financial year.

Land Improvements

Land Improvements comprises of flood levee banks and associated infrastructure like penstocks and flood gates.

This asset class was inspected and valued internal by Council on 30 June 2022. The valuations are based on a range of
Level 3 inputs, including at an Asset Level or a Component Level (components, unit rates/ overall value, consumption scores
and valuation profiles).

Buildings – non-specialised and specialised

This asset class was inspected and valued by an independent consultant (APV Valuers and Asset Management) on 30 June
2022. Council engaged commercial valuers to value all Council’s buildings as at 30 June 2022. Valuation techniques remained
the same for the reporting period.

Other structures

Other Structures comprise of sundry recreational assets, signage, shade sails, irrigation systems, lights, fencing, cemeteries,
wharfs, boat ramps, skate parks, pounds, sheds, carports, bus shelters, playground equipment and caravan parks assets etc.

This asset class was inspected and valued by an independent consultant (APV Valuers and Asset Management) on 30 June
2022. The valuations are based on a range of Level 3 inputs, including at an Asset Level or a Component Level (components,
unit rates/ overall value, consumption scores and valuation profiles).

Roads, bridges, bulk earthworks and footpaths

Council’s Roads, Bridges Bulk Earthworks and Footpaths were inspected and valued by an independent consultant (Pavement
Management Services) on 30 June 2021. The valuation was based on cost approach using Level 3 inputs to value this asset
class and the following information was determined by the consultant for each component.

• The economic useful life has been assessed based on utilising construction year, asset replacement cost and condition
after being reviewed carefully.

• The remaining service potential was determined based on physical condition data sampled by Australis Valuers.
• The replacement costs were developed from unit rates, quantities, sub-component factors and intangible factors.
• Condition assessment is based on factors such as age of the asset, overall condition, economic and functional

obsolescence.
• Pattern of consumption straight line pattern of consumption.

E2-1 Fair value measurement (continued)

Murray River Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022

Page 74 of 129



continued on next page ... 

• Indexation has been applied for the 2021/2022 financial year.

Drainage infrastructure

This asset class was inspected and valued by an independent consultant (APV Valuers and Asset Management) on 30 June
2022. The valuation was based on cost approach using Level 3 inputs to value this asset class and the following information
was determined by the consultant for each component.

• The economic useful life has been assessed based on utilising construction year, asset replacement cost and condition
after being reviewed carefully.

• The remaining service potential was determined based on physical condition data sampled by APV Valuers and Asset
Management.

• The replacement costs were developed from unit rates, quantities, sub-component factors and intangible factors.
• Condition assessment is based on factors such as age of the asset, overall condition, economic and functional

obsolescence.
• Pattern of consumption straight line pattern of consumption.

Water supply network

Assets within this class comprise reservoirs, pumping station, treatment plants and reticulation and delivery mains.

The ‘Cost Approach’ estimated the replacement cost for each asset by componentising the assets into significant parts with
different useful lives and taking into account a range of factors. While the unit rates based on linear metres of certain diameter
pipes and prices per pit or similar may be supported from market evidence (Level 2) other inputs (such as estimates of
pattern of consumption, residual value, asset condition and useful life) required extensive professional judgement and impacted
significantly on their final determination of fair value. Additionally due to limitations in the historical records of very long lived
assets, there is uncertainty regarding the actual design, specifications and dimensions of some assets. These assets are
indexed each year in line with the NSW Reference Rates Manual as published by the Office of Water.

This asset class was inspected and valued by an independent consultant (APV Valuers and Asset Management) on 30 June
2022.

Sewerage network

Assets within this class comprise treatment plants, oxidation ponds, pumping stations and mains.

The ‘Cost Approach’ estimated the replacement cost for each asset by componentising the assets into significant parts with
different useful lives and taking into account a range of factors. While the unit rates based on linear metres of certain diameter
pipes and prices per pit or similar may be supported from market evidence (Level 2) other inputs (such as estimates of
pattern of consumption, residual value, asset condition and useful life) required extensive professional judgement and impacted
significantly on the final determination of fair value. Additionally due to limitations in the historical records of very long lived
assets there is uncertainty regarding the actual design, specifications and dimensions of some assets. These assets are
indexed each year in line with the NSW Reference Rates Manual as published by the Office of Water.

This asset class was inspected and valued by an independent consultant (APV Valuers and Asset Management) on 30 June
2022.

Swimming Pools

Council’s Asset Department last undertook a re-valuation for these assets as at 30 June 2017. Quoted prices in an active
market for similar items and condition assessment have been used to revalue these assets. There has been no change to
the valuation process during the reporting period.

Other Assets

Assets within this class comprise library books, heritage collections and reinstatement of tip and quarry assets etc. Council’s
Asset Department undertook a revaluation for these assets as at 30 June 2022. Quoted prices in an active market for similar
items and condition assessment have been used to revalue these assets.

Landfill remediation included a recalculation of remediation costs, which have a bearing on the asset valuation. The remediation
costs for were based on a report provided by Talis Consultants in June 2022.

Quarry assets were indexed as at 30 June 2022. Council had undertaken a full revaluation process for the 2020/21 financial
year, using in-house experienece and supplier invoices/ quotes (where applicable) to dervie unit costings at 30 June 2021. For
2021/22 financial year, there was a recalculation of remediation costs based on indexation parameters, which have a bearing
on the asset valuation. The remediation costs were based on Engineering Department costs to remediate the assets.
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Financial Assets – Non-current assets classified as “available for sale” - Shares

Council values the shares held at their original purchase prices as there are no quoted prices in an active market.

Intangible Assets

Water Access Licences

Council values water access licences based on quoted prices in an active market. These were changed for the current year
and the previous year due to the recognition of previously unrecognised water rights.
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§Note/Subtotal§

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

The valuation process for level 3 fair value measurements
§Total§

Council uses a combination of commercial Valuers and Council’s Engineering Department staff.

Valuation Technique – where the Council staff are suitably qualified and are appropriately resourced to undertake the asset
valuation, then an internal valuation will be undertaken. The calculation is based on the components unit costs of the asset
class as disclosed in Note E2-1. Recent similar construction projects are assessed to determine the appropriate unit costs. This
determines the “Gross carrying Amount”. An assessment of the useful life and remaining useful life of the assets components,
through a condition assessment is undertaken. This determines the “Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment” and the “Net
Carrying Amount”.

If suitably qualified staff are not available then the Council will employ contractors to do part or all of the above process.

Post Valuation - The Council’s Director Engineering Services overviews the valuation process.
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§Note/Subtotal§

Significant unobservable valuation inputs used (for level 3 asset classes) and their relationship to fair value.
§Total§

The following table summarises the quantitative information relating to the significant unobservable inputs used in deriving 
the various level 3 asset class fair values.

Fair value 
(30/6/22)

$ '000 2022 Valuation technique/s Unobservable inputs

I,PP&E
Plant and equipment 10,732 Depreciated Replacement Cost Purchase Price

Remaining useful life
Residue Value

Office equipment 1,210 Depreciated Replacement Cost Purchase Price
Remaining useful life
Residue Value

Furniture and fittings 666 Depreciated Replacement Cost Purchase Price
Remaining useful life
Residue Value

Plant and Equipment 
(Leased)

716 Depreciated Replacement Cost Purchase Price
Remaining useful life
Residue Value

Land Under Road 19 Valuer General Rateable Land Values
Land improvements – 
depreciable

9,101 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful Life

Buildings - non specialised 16,972 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful Life

Buildings – specialised 37,080 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful Life

Other structures 15,355 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful Life

Roads, bridges and 
footpaths

391,670 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful Life

Bulk earthworks 207,812 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Stormwater drainage 39,613 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost

Asset Condition
Remaining useful life

Water supply network 56,064 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful life

Sewerage network 45,198 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful life

Swimming Pools – Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful life

Tips and Quarries 5,661 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful life

Other Assets 513 Depreciated Replacement Cost Gross Replacement Cost
Asset Condition
Remaining useful life

Non-current assets 
classified as ‘held for 
sale’
Shares 2 Original Purchase Price Current value indefinable as not traded

in an active share market
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A reconciliation of the movements in recurring fair value measurements allocated to Level 3 of the hierarchy is 
provided below:

§Total§

Plant and equipment 
including leased Office equipment Furniture and fittings

Land improvement 
depreciable

$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Opening balance 13,464 12,501 1,568 1,503 474 510 3,688 3,807
Total gains or losses for 
the period
Other movements
Purchases (GBV) 1,505 2,794 136 357 19 3 – –
Disposals (WDV) (212) (406) – (9) – – – –
Depreciation and impairment (1,455) (1,425) (310) (293) (43) (39) (113) (119)
Revaluation Movement - 
Equity – – – – 216 – 5,526 –
Revaluation Movement - 
Income Statement (1,836) – (193) – – – – –
Other (18) – 9 10 – – – –
Closing balance 11,448 13,464 1,210 1,568 666 474 9,101 3,688
 

Building specialised
Building Non 
Specialised Other structures

Roads, bridges and 
footpaths

$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Opening balance 30,029 23,964 9,207 – 18,624 15,948 389,760 268,027
Total gains or losses for 
the period
Other movements
Purchases (GBV) 150 8,231 82 – 1,821 3,449 13,690 13,138
Disposals (WDV) – (572) – – (13) (19) (2,333) (2,844)
Depreciation and impairment (1,268) (1,292) (367) – (813) (746) (15,392) (10,174)
Revaluation Movement - 
Equity 7,851 – 8,695 – (3,064) – 5,945 13,471
Revaluation Movement - 
Income Statement – – – – (1,211) – – (2,507)
Reinstatement – – – – – – – 110,815
Other 318 (302) (2) – 11 (8) – (166)
Closing balance 37,080 30,029 17,615 – 15,355 18,624 391,670 389,760

§Total§

 

Bulk earthworks Stormwater drainage Water supply network Sewerage network
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Opening balance 203,230 293,193 45,902 43,163 41,529 40,744 38,775 38,812
Total gains or losses for 
the period
Other movements
Purchases (GBV) 1,243 168 2,116 3,034 5,047 1,625 627 578
Disposals (WDV) (272) – (11) – (327) (23) (218) (4)
Depreciation and impairment – – (646) (622) (1,189) (1,166) (965) (965)
Revaluation Movement - 
Equity 3,611 20,684 (7,748) 397 11,004 375 6,979 354
Revaluation Movement - 
Income Statement – – – – – – – –
Reinstatement – (110,815) – – – – – –
Other – – – (70) – (26) – –
Closing balance 207,812 203,230 39,613 45,902 56,064 41,529 45,198 38,775

§Total§

 

Tip and quarry assets Other assets Total
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Opening balance 2,540 1,046 783 792 799,573 744,010
Purchases (GBV) – – 33 53 26,469 33,430

§Total§
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Tip and quarry assets Other assets Total
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Disposals (WDV) – – – – (3,386) (3,877)
Depreciation and impairment (336) (36) (80) (81) (22,977) (16,958)
Revaluation Movement - 
Equity – – 125 – 39,140 35,281
Revaluation Movement - 
Income Statement – – – – (3,240) (2,507)
Reinstatement 3,457 1,530 – – 3,457 1,530
Other – – (348) 19 (30) (543)
Closing balance 5,661 2,540 513 783 839,006 790,366
§Subnote§

Highest and best use

All of Council’s non-financial assets are considered as being utilised for their highest and best use.
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The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the Statement of Financial Position, but their knowledge 
and disclosure is considered relevant to the users of Council’s financial report.

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED

1. Guarantees

Murray River Council is party to an Industry Defined Benefit Plan under the Local Government Superannuation Scheme,
named The Local Government Superannuation Scheme – Pool B (the Scheme) which is a defined benefit plan that has been
deemed to be a ‘multi-employer fund’ for purposes of AASB119 Employee Benefits for the following reasons:

(i) Defined benefit superannuation contribution plans

• Assets are not segregated within the sub-group according to the employees of each sponsoring employer.
• The contribution rates have been the same for all sponsoring employers. That is, contribution rates have not varied for

each sponsoring employer according to the experience relating to the employees of that sponsoring employer.
• Benefits for employees of all sponsoring employers are determined according to the same formulae and without regard

to the sponsoring employer.
• The same actuarial assumptions are currently used in respect of the employees of each sponsoring employer.

Given the factors above, each sponsoring employer is exposed to the actuarial risks associated with current and former
employees of other sponsoring employers, and hence shares in the associated gains and losses (to the extent that they are
not borne by members).

Description of the funding arrangements

Pooled employers are required to pay standard employer contributions and additional lump sum contributions to the fund.
The standard employer contributions were determined using the new entrant rate method under which a contribution rate
sufficient to fund the total benefits over the working lifetime of a typical new entrant is calculated. The current standard employer
contribution rates are:

Division B 1.9 times member contributions for non-180 Point Member;
Nil for 180 Point Members*

Division C 2.5% Salaries
Division D 1.64 times member contributions
*For 180 Point Members, Employers are required to contribute 7% of salaries to these members’ accumulation accounts,
which are paid in addition to member’ defined benefits.

The additional lump sum contribution is around 0.16% of the total additional lump sum contributions for all Pooled Employers
($40.0 million until 31 December 2021) apportioned according to each employer’s share of the accrued liabilities as at 30 June
2021. The adequacy of contributions is assessed at each triennial actuarial investigation and monitored annually between
triennials.

Description of the extent to which Council can be liable to the plan for other Council’s obligations under the terms and conditions
of the multi-employer plan

As stated above, each sponsoring employer (Council) is exposed to the actuarial risks associated with current and former
employees of other sponsoring employers and hence shares in the associated gains and losses, However, there is no relief
under the fund’s trust deed for employers to walk away from their defined benefit obligations. Under limited circumstances,
an employer may withdraw from the plan when there are no active members, on full payment of outstanding additional
contributions. There is no provision for allocation of any surplus which may be present at the date of withdrawal of the council.

There are no specific provisions under the fund’s trust deed dealing with deficits or surplus on wind-up.

The amount of employer contributions to the defined benefit section of the Scheme and recognised as an expense and
disclosed as part of the superannuation expenses in Note B3-1 for the year ending 30 June 2022 was $188,417. The last
valuation of the Scheme was performed by Actuary, Mr. Richard Boyfield for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Murray River Council’s expected contribution to the plan for the next annual reporting period is $61,914.

The estimated employer reserves financial position for the pooled employees at 30 June 2022 is:

Employer reserves only* $millions Asset Coverage
Assets 2,376.6
Past Service Liabilities 2,380.7 99.8%
Vested Benefits 2,391.7 99.4%
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* excluding member accounts and reserves on both assets and liabilities

Murray River Council’s share of that deficiency cannot be accurately calculated as the Scheme is a mutual arrangement
where assets and liabilities are pooled together for all member councils. For this reason, no liability for the deficiency has
been recognised in Murray River Council’s accounts. Murray River Council has a possible obligation that may arise should
the Scheme require immediate payment to correct the deficiency.

The key economic long-term assumptions used to calculate the present value of accrued benefits are:

Investment return 5.75% per annum
Salary inflation 3.50% per annum
Increase in CPI 2.50% per annum
*Plus promotional increases

The contribution requirements may vary from the current rates if the overall sub-group experience is not in line with the actuarial
assumptions in determining the funding program; however, any adjustment to the funding program would be the same for all
sponsoring employers in the pooled employers.

Council is a member of Statewide Mutual, a mutual pool scheme providing liability insurance to local government.

(ii) Statewide Limited

Membership includes the potential to share in either the net assets or liabilities of the fund depending on its past performance.
Council’s share of the net assets or liabilities reflects Council’s contributions to the pool and the result of insurance claims
within each of the fund years.

The future realisation and finalisation of claims incurred but not reported to 30 June this year may result in future liabilities or
benefits as a result of past events that Council will be required to fund or share in respectively.

Council is a member of StateCover Mutual Limited and holds a partly paid share in the entity.

(iii) StateCover Limited

StateCover is a company providing workers compensation insurance cover to the NSW local government industry and
specifically Council.

Council has a contingent liability to contribute further equity in the event of the erosion of the company’s capital base as a
result of the company’s past performance and/or claims experience or as a result of any increased prudential requirements
from APRA.

These future equity contributions would be required to maintain the company’s minimum level of net assets in accordance
with its licence requirements.

Council has provided no other guarantees other than those listed above.

(iv) Other guarantees

2. Other liabilities

The Council is involved from time to time in various claims incidental to the ordinary course of business including claims for
damages relating to its services.

(i) Third party claims

Council believes that it is appropriately covered for all claims through its insurance coverage and does not expect any material
liabilities to eventuate.

Council has classified a number of privately owned land parcels as local open space or bushland.

(ii) Potential land acquisitions due to planning restrictions imposed by Council

As a result, where notified in writing by the various owners, Council will be required to purchase these land parcels.

At reporting date, reliable estimates as to the value of any potential liability (and subsequent land asset) from such potential
acquisitions has not been possible.
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ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED

As permitted under AASB 1051, Council has elected not to bring to account land under roads that it owned or controlled up
to and including 30 June 2008.

(i) Land under roads

Fines and penalty income, the result of Council issuing infringement notices is followed up and collected by the Infringement
Processing Bureau.

(ii) Infringement notices/fines

Council’s revenue recognition policy for such income is to account for it as revenue on receipt.

Accordingly, at year end, there is a potential asset due to Council representing issued but unpaid infringement notices.

Due to the limited information available on the status, value and duration of outstanding notices, Council is unable to determine
the value of outstanding income.
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Key management personnel (KMP) of the council are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the council, directly or 
indirectly. The amount of KMP compensation included in Income Statement:

$ '000 2022 2021

Short-term benefits 1,855 1,127
Post-employment benefits 181 124
Other long-term benefits 48 12
Termination benefits 23 354
Total 2,107 1,617
 

§Subnote§

Other transactions with KMP and their related parties

Council has determined that transactions at arm’s length between KMP and Council as part of Council delivering a public service objective (e.g. access to library or Council swimming pool
by KMP) will not be disclosed.

Nature of the transaction

$ '000 Ref
Transactions 

during the year

Outstanding 
balances
including 

commitments Terms and conditions

Impairment
provision on
outstanding 

balances
Impairment

expense

2022
Automotive business (registration checks) 1 –  – –
Deferred debtor loan 1 22 –  – –

2021
Deferred debtor loan 1 15 –  – –

1. A KMP has purchased land from Council at arm's length.

F People and relationships

F1 Related party disclosures

F1-1 Key management personnel (KMP)
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$ '000 2022 2021

The aggregate amount of Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses 
included in materials and services expenses in the Income Statement are:

Mayoral fee 16 26
Councillors’ fees 118 109
Other Councillors’ expenses (including Mayor) 100 128
Election Expenses – –
Total 234 263

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

F1-2 Councillor and Mayoral fees and associated expenses
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$ '000 2022 2021

During the year, the following fees were incurred for services provided by the auditor 
of Council, related practices and non-related audit firms

§TocItem§§Subnote§

Auditors of the Council - NSW Auditor-General:

(i) Audit and other assurance services
Audit and review of financial statements 134 70
Remuneration for audit and other assurance services 134 70

(ii) Non-assurance services
Tax compliance services 1 –
Remuneration for non-assurance services 1 –

Total Auditor-General remuneration 135 70

Non NSW Auditor-General audit firms

(i) Audit and other assurance services
Internal audit services 22 12
Remuneration for audit and other assurance services 22 12

(ii) Non-assurance services
Waste Audit 9 –
Internal Audit Committee 39 28
Remuneration for non-assurance services 48 28

Total remuneration of non NSW Auditor-General audit firms 70 40

Total audit fees 205 110

F2 Other relationships

F2-1 Audit fees
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(a) Reconciliation of net operating result to cash provided from operating activities

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

$ '000 2022 2021

Net operating result from Income Statement (3,427) 8,148
Add / (less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 22,977 17,334
(Gain) / loss on disposal of assets 4,078 3,236
Non-cash capital grants and contributions (6,568) (4,507)
Losses/(gains) recognised on fair value re-measurements through the P&L:
– Revaluation decrements / impairments of IPP&E direct to P&L 3,289 2,507
– Other (Revaluation Intangible Assets) 139 –
Amortisation of premiums, discounts and prior period fair valuations
– Interest exp. on interest-free loans received by Council (previously fair valued) 17 22
Unwinding of discount rates on reinstatement provisions – 2
Share of net (profits)/losses of associates/joint ventures using the equity method – (24)

Movements in operating assets and liabilities and other cash items:
(Increase) / decrease of receivables (5,973) 1,386
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 10 (32)
(Increase) / decrease of inventories 45 (70)
(Increase) / decrease of other current assets (447) 160
Increase / (decrease) in payables (305) (85)
Increase / (decrease) in other accrued expenses payable 62 (157)
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 543 (209)
Increase / (decrease) in contract liabilities 919 1,440
Increase / (decrease) in employee benefit provision 431 (209)
Increase / (decrease) in other provisions 3,460 1,531
Net cash flows from operating activities 19,250 30,473
 

(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities
§Subnote§

Developer contributions ‘in kind’ 6,555 4,507
Total non-cash investing and financing activities 6,555 4,507

G Other matters

G1-1 Statement of Cash Flows information
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Capital commitments (exclusive of GST)

$ '000 2022 2021

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not
recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings – 1,293
Plant and equipment 364 19
Road infrastructure 4,080 –
Bridges 4,674 –
Other 1,900 2,103
Wastewater 422 –
Total commitments 11,440 3,415

These expenditures are payable as follows:
Within the next year 11,440 3,415
Total payable 11,440 3,415

Sources for funding of capital commitments:
Unexpended grants 364 1,377
Externally restricted reserves 422 478
Unrestricted general funds 227 1,560
Future grants and contributions 10,427 –
Total sources of funding 11,440 3,415

Details of capital commitments
Replacement of Timber Bridges $4.674 Million, Moama Horseshoe Lagoon Footbridges $2.188 Million, Moama Foreshore 
Retaining Walls $2.770 Million, Moama Lights creative & design $1.618 Million, Streetsweeper $363K, Moama Beach water,
sewer and electrical extensions $241K, Picnic point boat ramp $227K, IT & ERP Consultant $201K
 

G3-1 Events occurring after the reporting date
§Note§

The Murray River Council Local Government Area (LGA) has experienced a major flood event in November 2022. This event
has resulted in the LGA experiencing damage to infrastructure, especially the road network. At the time of completing the 30
June 2022 financial statements, it was not known what the estimated damage is in terms of remediation cost. Most assets
were still under water and could not be inspected/ assessed yet.

§TocItem§
§Subnote§

G2-1 Commitments
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Contributions
received during the year

$ '000

Opening
 balance at

 1 July 2021 Cash Non-cash

Interest and
investment 

income earned
Amounts

expended
Internal 

borrowings

Held as 
restricted 

asset at 30 June 
2022

Cumulative 
balance of internal 

borrowings 
(to)/from

Drainage 88 75 – 1 – – 164 –
Roads 1,397 341 – 16 – – 1,754 –
Open space 157 74 – 3 – – 234 –
Community facilities 76 26 – 2 – – 104 –
Domestic Waste 88 50 – 1 – – 139 –
S7.11 contributions – under a plan 1,806 566 – 23 – – 2,395 –

§TocItem§
§Subnote§

S7.12 levies – under a plan 368 11 – 4 – – 383 –
Total S7.11 and S7.12 revenue under 
plans 2,174 577 – 27 – – 2,778 –

S7.11 not under plans 16 – – – – – 16 –
S64 contributions 1,255 716 – 16 – – 1,987 –
Total contributions 3,445 1,293 – 43 – – 4,781 –
 
§Subnote§

Under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, Council has significant obligations to provide Section 7.11 (contributions towards provision or improvement of amenities or services) infrastructure 
in new release areas. It is possible that the funds contributed may be less than the cost of this infrastructure, requiring Council to borrow or use general revenue to fund the difference.
 

G4-2 Developer contributions by plan
§Subnote§

Contributions
received during the year

$ '000

Opening
 balance at

 1 July 2021 Cash Non-cash

Interest and
investment 

income earned
Amounts

expended
Internal 

borrowings

Held as 
restricted 

asset at 30 June 
2022

Cumulative 
balance of internal 

borrowings 
(to)/from

CONTRIBUTION PLAN (former Murray Shire)
Drainage 73 75 – 1 – – 149 –
Roads 1,055 337 – 12 – – 1,404 –
Open space 147 74 – 3 – – 224 –
Community facilities 44 26 – 1 – – 71 –
Domestic Waste 88 50 – 1 – – 139 –
Total 1,407 562 – 18 – – 1,987 –

CONTRIBUTION PLAN (former Wakool)
Drainage 15 – – – – – 15 –
Roads 342 4 – 4 – – 350 –
Open space 10 – – – – – 10 –

continued on next page ... 
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Contributions
received during the year

$ '000

Opening
 balance at

 1 July 2021 Cash Non-cash

Interest and
investment 

income earned
Amounts

expended
Internal 

borrowings

Held as 
restricted 

asset at 30 June 
2022

Cumulative 
balance of internal 

borrowings 
(to)/from

Community facilities 32 – – 1 – – 33 –
Total 399 4 – 5 – – 408 –
 

§Subnote§

S7.12 Levies – under a plan

CONTRIBUTION PLAN (former Murray Shire)
Community facilities 368 11 – 4 – – 383 –
Total 368 11 – 4 – – 383 –
 

G4-3 Contributions not under plans
§Subnote§

S94 CONTRIBUTIONS – NOT UNDER A PLAN (former Wakool)
Kerb & Gutter 16 – – – – – 16 –
Total 16 – – – – – 16 –
 

G4-4 S64 contributions
§Subnote§

S64 contributions (former Murray Shire)
Sewer 852 240 – 10 – – 1,102 –
Water – 384 – 1 – – 385 –
Total 852 624 – 11 – – 1,487 –

S64 contributions (former Wakool)
Sewerage 353 50 – 4 – – 407 –
Water 50 42 – 1 – – 93 –
Total 403 92 – 5 – – 500 –

G4-2 Developer contributions by plan (continued)
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 Amounts Indicator Indicators Benchmark
$ '000 2022 2022 2021 2020  

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding 
capital grants and contributions less operating 
expenses   1, 2 (14,488)
Total continuing operating revenue excluding 
capital grants and contributions   1

46,470
(31.18)% (11.51)% (14.23)% > 0.00%

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding all 
grants and contributions   1 27,848
Total continuing operating revenue   1 64,910

42.90% 43.70% 40.53% > 60.00%

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions 26,925
Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities 9,376 2.87x 3.53x 3.46x > 1.50x

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result before capital excluding interest 
and depreciation/impairment/amortisation   1 8,734
Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows) 
plus borrowing costs (Income Statement)

1,018 8.58x 16.39x 13.90x > 2.00x

5. Rates and annual charges outstanding
percentage
Rates and annual charges outstanding 2,347
Rates and annual charges collectable 20,031 11.72% 10.19% 11.54% < 10.00%

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents plus all
term deposits 48,341
Monthly payments from cash flow of operating 
and financing activities

3,596
13.44

months
16.27

months
15.99

months
> 3.00
months

§TocItem§§Subnote§

(1) Excludes fair value increments on investment properties, reversal of revaluation decrements, reversal of impairment losses on 
receivables, net gain on sale of assets and net share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method and includes 
pensioner rate subsidies

(2) Excludes impairment/revaluation decrements of IPPE, fair value decrements on investment properties, net loss on disposal of assets 
and net loss on share of interests in joint ventures and associates using the equity method

G5 Statement of performance measures

G5-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results

Murray River Council | Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2022

Page 91 of 129



§Note/Subtotal§

 General Indicators   3 Water Indicators Sewer Indicators Benchmark
$ '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021  

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding capital grants and contributions less 
operating expenses   1, 2

Total continuing operating revenue excluding capital grants and contributions   1
(43.95)% (18.76)% 16.27% 14.55% 22.94% 21.07% > 0.00%

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue excluding capital grants and contributions   1

Total continuing operating revenue   1 36.19% 36.79% 79.28% 78.25% 76.11% 79.77% > 60.00%

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions
Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities 2.87x 3.53x 42.85x 23.43x 404.06x 123.56x > 1.50x

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result before capital excluding interest and 
depreciation/impairment/amortisation   1

Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows) plus borrowing costs (Income 
Statement)

4.72x 11.30x ∞ ∞ ∞ ∞ > 2.00x

5. Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage
Rates and annual charges outstanding
Rates and annual charges collectable 15.44% 10.32% 0.00% 10.20% 0.00% 9.52% < 10.00%

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents plus all term deposits
Monthly payments from cash flow of operating and financing activities

12.78
months

15.96
months ∞ ∞ ∞ ∞ > 3.00

months

§TocItem§
§Subnote§

(1) - (2) Refer to Notes at Note 26a above.
(3) General fund refers to all of Council's activities except for its water and sewer activities which are listed separately.

G5-2 Statement of performance measures by fund
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End of the audited financial statements

§TocItem§§Subnote§
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§Note/Subtotal§

1. Operating performance ratio

Purpose of operating 
performance ratio

This ratio measures Council’s 
achievement of containing 

operating expenditure within 
operating revenue.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      (31.18)%

Operating performance continues to perform under 
the threshold of 0 or above. This is mainly due to an 
overall increase in depreciation expense (up $2,357k 
on 2020/21 financial year), whilst overall revenue has

also decreased when compared to the 2020/21 
financial year.

Benchmark: ― > 0.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting  Ratio is outside benchmark

§TocItem§§Subnote§

2. Own source operating revenue ratio

Purpose of own source 
operating revenue ratio

This ratio measures fiscal 
flexibility. It is the degree of 
reliance on external funding 

sources such as operating grants 
and contributions.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      42.90%

Council continues to rely heavily on grant funding, 
which results in this ratio being below the minimum 

60% benchmark. Council will struggle to achieve this 
benchmark as it has reliance on grant funding to 

function due to the low rate base to levy rates and 
annual charges.

Benchmark: ― > 60.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting  Ratio is outside benchmark

3. Unrestricted current ratio

Purpose of unrestricted
current ratio

To assess the adequacy of 
working capital and its ability to 
satisfy obligations in the short 

term for the unrestricted activities 
of Council.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      2.87x

This benchmark continues to perform well. A 
decrease on the prior 2020/21 financial year result 

and showing a decline over the four year period.

Benchmark: ― > 1.50x  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

H Additional Council disclosures (unaudited)

H1-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results (graphs)
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4. Debt service cover ratio

Purpose of debt service
cover ratio

This ratio measures the 
availability of operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      8.58x

This ratio remains consistently strong and shows 
Council can cover its debt servicing obligations.

Benchmark: ― > 2.00x  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting  Ratio is outside benchmark

§Total§

5. Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage

Purpose of rates and 
annual charges 

outstanding percentage

To assess the impact of 
uncollected rates and annual 

charges on Council’s liquidity and 
the adequacy of recovery efforts.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      11.72%

Outstanding debt ratio has deteriorated for the 
2021/22 financial year. Ratepayers continue to 

experience financial hardship beyond the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Benchmark: ― < 10.00%  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting  Ratio is outside benchmark

6. Cash expense cover ratio

Purpose of cash 
expense cover ratio

This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months a Council can 
continue paying for its immediate 
expenses without additional cash 

inflow.

Commentary on 2021/22 result

2021/22 ratio      13.44 months

This ratio is above the minimum benchmark of three 
months. No significant change on previous 2020/21 

financial year. Continues to be lower than the
2018/19 financial year due to Council receiving 

significant grant funding upfront for the 2018/19 year 
and such grant funding has been spent over the 

proceeding years.

Benchmark: ― > 3.00months  Ratio achieves benchmark

Source of benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting Ratio is outside benchmark

H1-1 Statement of performance measures – consolidated results (graphs) (continued)
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Principal place of business:

§TocItem§§Subnote§

52 Perricoota Road
Moama NSW 2731

Contact details

Mailing Address:
PO Box 906
Moama NSW 2731

Opening hours:
Opening hours for all service centres are
Monday to Friday 9:00 am to 4:00 pm

Telephone: 1300 087 004 Internet: www.murrayriver.nsw.gov.au

Email: admin@murrayriver.nsw.gov.au

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Officers

Terry Dodds

RESPONSIBLE ACCOUNTING OFFICER
Stephen Fernando

PUBLIC OFFICER
Terry Dodds

AUDITORS
Auditor General
GPO Box 12
SYDNEY NSW 2001

MAYOR
Elected members

Chris Bilkey

COUNCILLORS
Frank Crawley (Deputy Mayor)
Nikki Cohen
Ann Crowe
Dennis Gleeson
Neil Gorey
Kron Nicholas
Geoff Wise
Thomas Weyrich

ABN: 30 30 8161 484
Other information

H1-2 Council information and contact details
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the special purpose financial statements 

Murray River Council 

 

To the Councillors of Murray River Council 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements (the financial statements) of 
Murray River Council’s (the Council) Declared Business Activities, which comprise the Statement by 
Councillors and Management, the Income Statement of each Declared Business Activity for the year 
ended 30 June 2022, the Statement of Financial Position of each Declared Business Activity as at 
30 June 2022 and the Significant accounting policies note. 

The Declared Business Activities of the Council are: 

• Water Supply Business Activity 

• Sewerage Business Activity.  
 

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Council’s Declared Business Activities as at 30 June 2022, and their financial performance for the 
year then ended, in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards described in the Significant 
accounting policies note and the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial 
Reporting 2021–22 (LG Code). 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards  

• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110). 

 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as the auditor of councils 

• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.  
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Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting  

Without modifying my opinion, I draw attention to the Significant accounting policies note to the 
financial statements which describes the basis of accounting. The financial statements have been 
prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities under the LG 
Code. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose.  

Other Information 

The Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 includes other information in addition to 
the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Councillors are 
responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprise the general purpose financial statements and Special Schedules 
(the Schedules). 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. However, as required by the Local 
Government Act 1993, I have separately expressed an opinion on the general purpose financial 
statements and Special Schedule ‘Permissible income for general rates’.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact.  

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Councillors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
and for determining that the accounting policies, described in the Significant accounting policies note 
to the financial statements, are appropriate to meet the requirements in the LG Code. The Councillors’ 
responsibility also includes such internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 
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The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 
statements on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Daniel Mobilia 
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

9 December 2022 
SYDNEY 
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Cr Chris Bilkey 
Mayor 
Murray River Council 
PO Box 906 
MOAMA  NSW  2731 

 

8 December 2022 

Dear Mayor 

 

Report on the Conduct of the Audit 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Murray River Council 

 

I have audited the general purpose financial statements (GPFS) of the Murray River Council (the 
Council) for the year ended 30 June 2022 as required by section 415 of the Local Government Act 
1993 (the Act). 

I expressed a modified opinion on the Council’s GPFS. 

This Report on the Conduct of the Audit (the Report) for the Council for the year ended 30 June 2022 
is issued in accordance with section 417 of the Act. This Report should be read in conjunction with my 
audit opinion on the GPFS issued under section 417(2) of the Act. 

SIGNIFICANT AUDIT ISSUES AND OBSERVATIONS 

I identified the following significant audit issues and observations during my audit of the Council’s 
financial statements.  

Modification to the opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report  

Non-recognition of rural fire-fighting equipment 

The Council has not recognised rural fire-fighting equipment as assets within ‘Infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment’ in the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2022. In my opinion, these 
assets are controlled by the Council and should be recognised as assets in accordance with AASB 
116 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’. 

Australian Accounting Standards refers to control of an asset as being the ability to direct the use of, 
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the asset. Control includes the ability to 
prevent other entities from directing the use of, and obtaining the benefits from, an asset.  

Rural fire-fighting equipment is controlled by the Council as: 

• these assets are vested in the Council under section 119(2) of the Rural Fires Act 1997 (Rural 
Fires Act), giving the Council legal ownership 

• the Council has the ability, outside of emergency events as defined in section 44 of the Rural 
Fires Act, to prevent the NSW Rural Fire Service from directing the use of the rural fire-fighting 

Contact: Daniel Mobilia 

Phone no: (02) 9275 7379 

Our ref: D2226256/1763 
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equipment by either not entering into a service agreement, or cancelling the existing service 
agreement that was signed on 1 April 2012 

• the Council has specific responsibilities for fire mitigation and safety works and bush fire hazard 
reduction under Part 4 of the Rural Fires Act. The Council obtains economic benefits from the 
rural fire-fighting equipment as these assets are used to fulfil Council’s responsibilities 

• in the event of the loss of an asset, the insurance proceeds must be paid into the 
New South Wales Rural Fire Fighting Fund (section 119(4) of the Rural Fires Act) and be used 
to reacquire or build a similar asset, which is again vested in the Council as an asset provided 
free of charge.  

 

The Council has not undertaken procedures to confirm the completeness, accuracy, existence or 
condition of these assets. Nor has the Council performed procedures to identify the value of assets 
vested in it during the year. When these assets are vested, no financial consideration is required from 
the Council and as such these are assets provided to Council free-of-charge.  

Consequently, we were unable to determine the carrying values of rural firefighting equipment assets 
and related amounts that should be recorded and recognised in the council’s 30 June 2022 financial 
statements.  

This has resulted in the audit opinion on the Council’s 30 June 2022 GPFS to be modified. Refer to 
the Independent Auditor's report on the GPFS. 

INCOME STATEMENT 

Operating result 

 2022 2021 Variance 

 $m $m % 

Rates and annual charges 
revenue 17.8 18.0 

 

Grants and 
contributions revenue 37.1 37.2 

 

Operating result 
from continuing operations (3.4) 8.1 

 

Net operating result 
before capital grants and 
contributions 

(21.8) (11.1) 
 

 
 

Rates and annual charges revenue ($17.8 million) decreased by $0.2 million (1.1 per cent) in  
2021–22. The movement is driven by a decrease in annual charges and is not significant. 

Grants and contributions revenue ($37.1 million) decreased by $0.1 million (0.3 per cent) in 2021–22. 
The movement is not significant.  

The Council’s operating result from continuing operations (deficit of $3.4 million including depreciation 
and amortisation expense of $26.3 million) was $11.5 million lower than the 2020–21 result. The 
decrease was mainly due to a $6.4 million increase in depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
expense in 2020–21 as compared to the prior year. Council’s depreciation on road assets increased 
by $5.2 million to $13.9 million in 2021–22 which was a result of the revaluation of this asset class in 
2020–21. Council also recorded a $3.2 million revaluation decrement of IPPE through the income 
statement in 2021–22 (2020–21: $2.5 million). 

1.1 

0.2 

142.0 

96.4 

Page 101 of 129



 
 

3 

The net operating result before capital grants and contributions (deficit of $21.8 million) was 
$10.7 million lower than the 2020–21 result. The decrease was mainly due to increase in depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment expense (as noted in above commentary).  

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 Council’s cash and cash 
equivalents was $2.4 million at  
30 June 2022 ($1.9 million at  
30 June 2021). There was a net 
increase in cash and cash 
equivalents of $0.5 million during 
2021–22 financial year.  

 Net cash provided by operating 
activities has decreased by  
$11.2 million. The decrease is 
mainly due to the decrease in 
grants and contributions by 
$5.9 million and an increase in 
payments for materials and 
services by $3.9 million. 

 Net cash used in investing 
activities has decreased by  
$17.0 million. The decrease is 
mainly due to a decrease in 
purchases of investments by 
$12.9 million. 

 Net cash flows from financing 
activities have decreased by 
$0.9 million, to $0.8 million used 
in 2021–22 compared to 
$0.1 million received in 2020–21. 
The decrease is mainly due to  
$0.7 million proceeds from 
borrowings in 2020–21.  
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FINANCIAL POSITION 

Cash and investments 

Cash and investments 2022 2021 Commentary 

 $m $m  

Total cash, cash 
equivalents and 
investments 

 

48.3 

 

52.7 

• Externally restricted cash and investments are 
restricted in their use by externally imposed 
requirements. The externally restricted funds as at 
30 June 2022 has increased due to an increase in 
sewer fund restrictions by $1.1 million and increase 
in developer contributions – general by $0.6 million. 

• Internally restricted cash and investments have 
been restricted in their use by resolution or policy 
of Council to reflect identified programs of works 
and any forward plans identified by Council. The 
decrease of internally restricted funds of  
$7.6 million is primarily due to a decrease in 
prepaid financial assistance grant by $2.2 million, 
infrastructure replacement by $2 million, decrease 
in employees leave entitlement by $0.9 million, and 
decrease in industrial development by $1.2 million. 

• Unrestricted cash and investments have remained 
relatively consistent with the prior year. 

Restricted and allocated 
cash, cash equivalents 
and investments: 

  

• External restrictions 33.5 30.8 

• Internal allocations  

• Unrestricted 

12.5 

2.3 

20.1 

1.8 

 

Debt 

Council has $3.3 million of external borrowings ($3.8 million in 2021) which is secured over the 
revenue of Council. Council repaid $0.6 million of external borrowings and no new loans were entered 
during the year. Council also has a $0.7 million bank overdraft facility (2021: $0.7 million) which was 
undrawn as of 30 June 2022. 

  

  

50,000
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PERFORMANCE  

Performance measures 

The following section provides an overview of the Council’s performance against the performance 
measures and performance benchmarks set by the Office of Local Government (OLG) within the 
Department of Planning and Environment. 

Operating performance ratio 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period. 

The ‘operating performance ratio’ 
measures how well council contained 
operating expenditure within 
operating revenue (excluding capital 
grants and contributions, fair value 
adjustments, and reversal of 
revaluation decrements). The 
benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than zero per cent. 

The operating performance ratio 
decreased to -31.18 per cent  
(2021: -11.51 per cent) due to the 
increase in depreciation, amortisation 
and revaluation decrement expense 
by $6.4 million in 2021–22. 
  

 

Own source operating revenue ratio 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period. 

The ‘own source operating revenue 
ratio’ measures council’s fiscal 
flexibility and the degree to which it 
relies on external funding sources 
such as operating grants and 
contributions. The benchmark set by 
OLG is greater than 60 per cent.  

The own source operating revenue 
ratio of 42.90 per cent is relatively 
consistent with the prior year  
(43.7 per cent).  
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Unrestricted current ratio 

The Council exceeded the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period. 

The ‘unrestricted current ratio’ is 
specific to local government and 
represents council’s ability to meet its 
short-term obligations as they fall due. 
The benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than 1.5 times.  

The unrestricted current ratio of 
2.87 per cent is relatively consistent 
with the prior year (3.53 per cent).  
 

 
 

Debt service cover ratio 

The Council exceeded the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period.  

The ‘debt service cover ratio’ 
measures the operating cash to 
service debt including interest, 
principal and lease payments. The 
benchmark set by OLG is greater 
than two times.  

Council’s debt service cover ratio 
decreased to 8.58 times  
(2021: 16.39 times) due to no new 
loans being entered during the year. 
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Rates and annual charges outstanding percentage 

The Council did not meet the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period.  

The ‘rates and annual charges 
outstanding percentage’ assesses the 
impact of uncollected rates and 
annual charges on council’s liquidity 
and the adequacy of debt recovery 
efforts. The benchmark set by OLG is 
less than 10 per cent for regional and 
rural councils.  

The Council’s rates and annual 
charges outstanding percentage has 
increased due to the increase in rates 
and annual charges outstanding in 
2021–22.  

 
 

Cash expense cover ratio 

The Council exceeded the OLG 
benchmark for the current reporting 
period.  

This liquidity ratio indicates the 
number of months the council can 
continue paying for its immediate 
expenses without additional cash 
inflow. The benchmark set by OLG is 
greater than three months.  

The cash expense cover ratio has 
decreased due to decrease in cash 
and cash equivalent and investments 
by $4.3 million. 

 
 

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment renewals 

The Council renewed $15.1 million of assets in the 2021–22 financial year, compared to $12.5 million 
of assets in the 2020–21 financial year. The increase is largely due to increase in renewals on roads 
and bridges.  
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OTHER MATTERS 

Legislative compliance 

My audit procedures identified a material deficiency in the Council’s financial statements that will be 
reported in the Management Letter. Rural fire-fighting equipment was not recognised in the financial 
statements. 

Except for the matter outlined above, the Council’s: 

• accounting records were maintained in a manner and form that facilitated the preparation and 
the effective audit of the GPFS 

• staff provided all accounting records and information relevant to the audit.  

 
 

 

 

 

Daniel Mobilia 
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

cc: Mr Terry Dodds, General Manager 
Mr Richard Ham, Audit, Risk and Improvement Committee Chair 
Mr Stephen Fernando, Director of Corporate Services 
Mr Kris Kershaw, Finance Manager 
Mr Michael Cassel, Secretary of the Department of Planning and Environment 
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Note – Significant Accounting Policies      

Auditor's Report on Special Purpose Financial Statements      

(1) Community Land revalued at 30 June 2022 and resulted in a change from Level 3 to Level 2 observable inputs.

(2) Buildings Specialised revalued at 30 June 2022 and resulted in a predominate change from Level 2 to Level 3 observable inputs.

i. These Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared for the use by both Council and the Office of Local
Government in fulfilling their requirements under National Competition Policy.

ii. The principle of competitive neutrality is based on the concept of a ‘level playing field’ between persons/entities competing
in a market place, particularly between private and public sector competitors.

Essentially, the principle is that government businesses, whether Commonwealth, state or local, should operate without
net competitive advantages over other businesses as a result of their public ownership.

iii. For Council, the principle of competitive neutrality and public reporting applies only to declared business activities.

These include (a) those activities classified by the Australian Bureau of Statistics as business activities being water
supply, sewerage services, abattoirs, gas production and reticulation, and (b) those activities with a turnover of more
than $2 million that Council has formally declared as a business activity (defined as Category 1 activities).

iv. In preparing these financial statements for Council’s self-classified Category 1 businesses and ABS-defined activities,
councils must (a) adopt a corporatisation model and (b) apply full cost attribution including tax-equivalent regime
payments and debt guarantee fees (where the business benefits from Council's borrowing position by comparison with
commercial rates).

Background

Murray River Council

Special Purpose Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Murray River Council | Income Statement of water supply business activity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

$ '000 2022 2021

Income from continuing operations
Access charges 2,373 2,863
User charges 2,413 2,081
Fees 183 61
Interest and investment income 44 82
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes 713 402
Other income 188 161
Total income from continuing operations 5,914 5,650

§Subnote§

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs 1,839 1,748
Materials and services 1,373 1,674
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 1,252 1,231
Water purchase charges 160 152
Net loss from the disposal of assets 328 23
Calculated taxation equivalents 55 46
Total expenses from continuing operations 5,007 4,874

Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts 907 776

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes 646 1,057
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts 1,553 1,833

Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax 1,553 1,833

Less: corporate taxation equivalent (25%) [based on result before capital] (227) (202)
Surplus (deficit) after tax 1,326 1,631

Plus accumulated surplus 51,969 50,137
Plus/less: prior period adjustments (1) (1)
Plus adjustments for amounts unpaid:
– Corporate taxation equivalent 227 202
Closing accumulated surplus 53,521 51,969

Return on capital % 1.5% 1.6%
Subsidy from Council 1,246 –

Calculation of dividend payable:
Surplus (deficit) after tax 1,326 1,631
Less: capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions) (646) (1,057)
Surplus for dividend calculation purposes 680 574

Potential dividend calculated from surplus 340 287

Murray River Council

Income Statement of water supply business activity
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Murray River Council | Income Statement of sewerage business activity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

$ '000 2022 2021

Income from continuing operations
Access charges 2,454 2,628
User charges 51 120
Liquid trade waste charges 267 212
Fees 2 7
Interest and investment income 37 105
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes 627 479
Other income 111 241
Total income from continuing operations 3,549 3,792

§Subnote§

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs 775 822
Materials and services 742 1,197
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 969 970
Net loss from the disposal of assets 249 4
Calculated taxation equivalents 12 21
Total expenses from continuing operations 2,747 3,014

Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts 802 778

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes 290 361
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts 1,092 1,139

Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax 1,092 1,139

Less: corporate taxation equivalent (25%) [based on result before capital] (201) (202)
Surplus (deficit) after tax 891 937

Plus accumulated surplus 40,465 39,326
Plus/less: prior period adjustments 1 –
Plus adjustments for amounts unpaid:
– Corporate taxation equivalent 201 202
Closing accumulated surplus 41,558 40,465

Return on capital % 1.7% 1.9%
Subsidy from Council 968 –

Calculation of dividend payable:
Surplus (deficit) after tax 892 937
Less: capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions) (290) (361)
Surplus for dividend calculation purposes 602 576

Potential dividend calculated from surplus 301 288

Murray River Council

Income Statement of sewerage business activity
for the year ended 30 June 2022
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Murray River Council | Statement of Financial Position of water supply business activity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

$ '000 2022 2021

ASSETS

§Subnote§

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 539 623
Investments 7,788 7,788
Receivables 2,386 1,148
Total current assets 10,713 9,559

Non-current assets
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 58,818 47,157
Intangible assets 2,428 1,800
Total non-current assets 61,246 48,957

Total assets 71,959 58,516

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables 168 378
Income received in advance 82 30
Total current liabilities 250 408

Total liabilities 250 408

Net assets 71,709 58,108

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 53,521 51,969
Revaluation reserves 18,188 6,139
Total equity 71,709 58,108

Murray River Council

Statement of Financial Position of water supply business activity
as at 30 June 2022
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Murray River Council | Statement of Financial Position of sewerage business activity | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

$ '000 2022 2021

ASSETS

§Subnote§

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,827 401
Investments 12,210 12,210
Receivables 509 363
Total current assets 14,546 12,974

Non-current assets
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 48,356 39,995
Total non-current assets 48,356 39,995

Total assets 62,902 52,969

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables 36 105
Total current liabilities 36 105

Total liabilities 36 105

Net assets 62,866 52,864

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 41,558 40,465
Revaluation reserves 21,308 12,399
Total equity 62,866 52,864

Murray River Council

Statement of Financial Position of sewerage business activity
as at 30 June 2022
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§Note/Subtotal§

A statement summarising the supplemental accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the special purpose financial
statements (SPFS) for National Competition Policy (NCP) reporting purposes follows.

These financial statements are SPFS prepared for use by Council and the Office of Local Government. For the purposes of
these statements, the Council is a non-reporting not-for-profit entity.

The figures presented in these special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition
and measurement criteria of relevant Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and Australian Accounting Interpretations.

The disclosures in these special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government
Act 1993 (Act), the Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 (Regulation) and the Local Government Code of Accounting
Practice and Financial Reporting.

The statements are prepared on an accruals basis. They are based on historic costs and do not take into account changing
money values or, except where specifically stated, fair value of non-current assets. Certain taxes and other costs, appropriately
described, have been imputed for the purposes of the National Competition Policy.

§TocItem§§TocItem§
§Subnote§

The Statement of Financial Position includes notional assets/liabilities receivable from/payable to Council's general fund. These
balances reflect a notional intra-entity funding arrangement with the declared business activities.

Council has adopted the principle of ‘competitive neutrality’ in its business activities as part of the National Competition Policy
which is being applied throughout Australia at all levels of government. The framework for its application is set out in the June
1996 NSW Government Policy statement titled 'Application of National Competition Policy to Local Government'. The Pricing
and Costing for Council Businesses – A Guide to Competitive Neutrality issued by the Office of Local Government in July
1997 has also been adopted.

National Competition Policy

The pricing and costing guidelines outline the process for identifying and allocating costs to activities and provide a standard
for disclosure requirements. These disclosures are reflected in Council’s pricing and/or financial reporting systems and include
taxation equivalents, Council subsidies, and returns on investments (rate of return and dividends paid).

In accordance with Pricing and Costing for Council Businesses – A Guide to Competitive Neutrality, Council has declared that
the following are to be considered as business activities:

Declared business activities

Category 1
(where gross operating turnover is over $2 million)

a. Water Supply
Provision and distribution of water to the towns within the boundaries of the Council.

b. Sewerage
Treatment of wastewater to the towns within the boundaries of the Council.

Category 2
(where gross operating turnover is less than $2 million)

Council has no Category 2 Businesses.

Council is liable to pay various taxes and financial duties. Where this is the case, they are disclosed as a cost of operations
just like all other costs.

Taxation equivalent charges

However, where Council does not pay some taxes which are generally paid by private sector businesses, such as income
tax, these equivalent tax payments have been applied to all Council-nominated business activities and are reflected in Special
Purpose Finanncial Statements.

For the purposes of disclosing comparative information relevant to the private sector equivalent, the following taxation
equivalents have been applied to all Council-nominated business activities (this does not include Council’s non-business
activities):

Notional rate applied (%)

continued on next page ... 

Note – Significant Accounting Policies
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Corporate income tax rate – 25%

Land tax – the first $822,000 of combined land values attracts 0%. For the combined land values in excess of $822,000 up
to $5,026,000 the rate is $100 + 1.6%. For the remaining combined land value that exceeds $5,026,000 a premium marginal
rate of 2.0% applies.

Payroll tax – 4.85% on the value of taxable salaries and wages in excess of $1,200,000.

In accordance with Crown Lands and Water (CLAW), a payment for the amount calculated as the annual tax equivalent charges
(excluding income tax) must be paid from water supply and sewerage business activities.

The payment of taxation equivalent charges, referred to in the NSW Office of Water Guidelines to as a ‘dividend for taxation
equivalent’, may be applied for any purpose allowed under the Local Government Act, 1993.

Achievement of substantial compliance to the NSW Office of Water Guidelines is not a prerequisite for the payment of the tax
equivalent charges, however the payment must not exceed $3 per assessment.

An income tax equivalent has been applied on the profits of the business activities.

Income tax

Whilst income tax is not a specific cost for the purpose of pricing a good or service, it needs to be taken into account in terms
of assessing the rate of return required on capital invested.

Accordingly, the return on capital invested is set at a pre-tax level - gain/(loss) from ordinary activities before capital amounts,
as would be applied by a private sector competitor. That is, it should include a provision equivalent to the corporate income
tax rate, currently 25% (2020/21 26%).

Income tax is only applied where a gain/ (loss) from ordinary activities before capital amounts has been achieved.

Since the taxation equivalent is notional – that is, it is payable to Council as the ‘owner’ of business operations - it represents
an internal payment and has no effect on the operations of the Council. Accordingly, there is no need for disclosure of internal
charges in the SPFS.

The rate applied of 25% is the equivalent company tax rate prevalent at reporting date. No adjustments have been made for
variations that have occurred during the year.

A calculation of the equivalent rates and charges for all Category 1 businesses has been applied to all assets owned, or
exclusively used by the business activity.

Local government rates and charges

The debt guarantee fee is designed to ensure that council business activities face ‘true’ commercial borrowing costs in line
with private sector competitors.

Loan and debt guarantee fees

In order to calculate a debt guarantee fee, Council has determined what the differential borrowing rate would have been
between the commercial rate and Council’s borrowing rate for its business activities.

Government policy requires that subsidies provided to customers, and the funding of those subsidies, must be explicitly
disclosed. Subsidies occur where Council provides services on a less than cost recovery basis. This option is exercised on a
range of services in order for Council to meet its community service obligations. The overall effect of subsidies is contained
within the Income Statements of business activities.

(i) Subsidies

The NCP policy statement requires that councils with Category 1 businesses ‘would be expected to generate a return on capital
funds employed that is comparable to rates of return for private businesses operating in a similar field’.

(ii) Return on investments (rate of return)

Funds are subsequently available for meeting commitments or financing future investment strategies. The rate of return is
disclosed for each of Council’s business activities on the Income Statement.

continued on next page ... 
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The rate of return is calculated as follows:

Operating result before capital income + interest expense

Written down value of I,PP&E as at 30 June

As a minimum, business activities should generate a return equal to the Commonwealth 10 year bond rate which is 3.66%
at 30/6/22.

Council is not required to pay dividends to either itself (as owner of a range of businesses) or to any external entities.

(iii) Dividends

Local government water supply and sewerage businesses are permitted to pay an annual dividend from its water supply or
sewerage business surplus.

Each dividend must be calculated and approved in accordance with the Department of Industry – Water guidelines and must
not exceed:

• 50% of this surplus in any one year, or
• the number of water supply or sewerage assessments at 30 June 2022 multiplied by $30 (less the payment for tax

equivalent charges, not exceeding $3 per assessment).

In accordance with the Department of Industry – Water guidelines a Dividend Payment form, Statement of Compliance,
Unqualified Independent Financial Audit Report and Compliance Audit Report are required to be submitted to the Department
of Industry – Water.

Note – Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Report on the special purpose financial statements 

Murray River Council 

 

To the Councillors of Murray River Council 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements (the financial statements) of 
Murray River Council’s (the Council) Declared Business Activities, which comprise the Statement by 
Councillors and Management, the Income Statement of each Declared Business Activity for the year 
ended 30 June 2022, the Statement of Financial Position of each Declared Business Activity as at 
30 June 2022 and the Significant accounting policies note. 

The Declared Business Activities of the Council are: 

• Water Supply Business Activity 

• Sewerage Business Activity.  
 

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Council’s Declared Business Activities as at 30 June 2022, and their financial performance for the 
year then ended, in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards described in the Significant 
accounting policies note and the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial 
Reporting 2021–22 (LG Code). 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards  

• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110). 

 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as the auditor of councils 

• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.  

  

Page 118 of 129



 
 

 

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting  

Without modifying my opinion, I draw attention to the Significant accounting policies note to the 
financial statements which describes the basis of accounting. The financial statements have been 
prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities under the LG 
Code. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose.  

Other Information 

The Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 includes other information in addition to 
the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Councillors are 
responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other 
information I have received comprise the general purpose financial statements and Special Schedules 
(the Schedules). 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. However, as required by the Local 
Government Act 1993, I have separately expressed an opinion on the general purpose financial 
statements and Special Schedule ‘Permissible income for general rates’.  

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact.  

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Councillors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
and for determining that the accounting policies, described in the Significant accounting policies note 
to the financial statements, are appropriate to meet the requirements in the LG Code. The Councillors’ 
responsibility also includes such internal control as the Councillors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

Page 119 of 129



 
 

 

The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 
statements on any website where they may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Daniel Mobilia 
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

9 December 2022 
SYDNEY 
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Murray River Council | Permissible income for general rates | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Calculation Calculation
$ '000 Notes 2021/22 2022/23

Notional general income calculation   1

Last year notional general income yield a 11,046 11,438
Plus or minus adjustments   2 b 172 161
Notional general income c = a + b 11,218 11,599

§Subnote§

Permissible income calculation
Or rate peg percentage e 2.00% 2.00%

Or plus rate peg amount i = e x (c + g) 224 232
Sub-total k = (c + g + h + i + j) 11,442 11,831

Plus (or minus) last year’s carry forward total l 1 5
Sub-total n = (l + m) 1 5

Total permissible income o = k + n 11,443 11,836

Less notional general income yield p 11,438 11,832
Catch-up or (excess) result q = o – p 5 4

Carry forward to next year   6 t = q + r + s 5 4

Notes

(1) The notional general income will not reconcile with rate income in the financial statements in the corresponding year. The statements are
reported on an accrual accounting basis which include amounts that relate to prior years’ rates income.

(2) Adjustments account for changes in the number of assessments and any increase or decrease in land value occurring during the year.
The adjustments are called ‘supplementary valuations’ as defined in the Valuation of Land Act 1916 (NSW).

(6) Carry-forward amounts which are in excess (an amount that exceeds the permissible income) require Ministerial approval by order
published in the NSW Government Gazette in accordance with section 512 of the Act. The OLG will extract these amounts from
Council’s Permissible income for general rates Statement in the financial data return (FDR) to administer this process.

Murray River Council

Permissible income for general rates
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Special Schedule – Permissible income for general rates 

Murray River Council 

 

To the Councillors of Murray River Council 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying Special Schedule – Permissible income for general rates (the 
Schedule) of Murray River Council (the Council) for the year ending 30 June 2023. 

In my opinion, the Schedule is prepared, in all material respects in accordance with the requirements 
of the Local Government Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting 2021–22 (LG Code) 
and is in accordance with the books and records of the Council.  

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Schedule’ section of my 
report.  

I am independent of the Council in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 

• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110). 

 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of councils 

• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting  

Without modifying my opinion, I draw attention to the special purpose framework used to prepare the 
Schedule. The Schedule has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Council’s reporting 
obligations under the LG Code. As a result, the Schedule may not be suitable for another purpose.  
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Other Information 

The Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 includes other information in addition to 
the Schedule and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Councillors are responsible for the 
other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have 
received comprise the general purpose financial statements, special purpose financial statements and 
Special Schedule ‘Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022’. 

My opinion on the Schedule does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion on the other information. However, as required by the Local 
Government Act 1993, I have separately expressed an opinion on the general purpose financial 
statements and the special purpose financial statements. 

In connection with my audit of the Schedule, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Schedule or my 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Councillors’ Responsibilities for the Schedule  

The Councillors are responsible for the preparation of the Schedule in accordance with the LG Code. 
The Councillors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the Councillors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the Schedule that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Schedule, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the Council’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Schedule  

My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance whether the Schedule as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the Schedule. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the Schedule is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar8.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report.  
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The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance: 

• that the Council carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  

• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited Schedule on any 
website where it may be presented 

• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the Schedule. 
 

 

 

 

Daniel Mobilia 
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales 

9 December 2022 
SYDNEY 
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Murray River Council | Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022 | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Asset Class Asset Category

Estimated cost
to bring assets
to satisfactory 

standard

Estimated cost
to bring to the 

agreed level of 
service set by 

Council

2021/22 
Required 

maintenance   a

2021/22
Actual

maintenance
Net carrying 

amount

Gross 
replacement 

cost (GRC)

Assets in condition as a percentage of 
gross replacement cost

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 1 2 3 4 5

Buildings 2,149 2,149 840 526 54,695 79,024 36.0% 51.0% 10.0% 0.0% 3.0%
Buildings – non-specialised – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Buildings – specialised – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Other – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Buildings

Sub-total 2,149 2,149 840 526 54,695 79,024 36.0% 51.0% 10.0% 0.0% 3.0%

§Subnote§

Other structures 1,208 1,208 419 357 15,355 21,790 34.0% 44.0% 16.0% 6.0% 0.0%
Other – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Other 
structures

Sub-total 1,208 1,208 419 357 15,355 21,790 34.0% 44.0% 16.0% 6.0% 0.0%

Roads – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Sealed roads 17,472 17,472 2,763 2,352 296,071 421,830 43.0% 36.0% 17.0% 4.0% 0.0%
Unsealed roads 175 175 1,403 1,841 29,308 52,320 6.0% 66.0% 28.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Bridges 975 975 538 42 57,910 76,910 54.0% 37.0% 8.0% 1.0% 0.0%
Footpaths 954 954 109 74 8,381 15,517 11.0% 50.0% 33.0% 6.0% 0.0%
Other road assets – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Bulk earthworks – – – – 207,812 207,812 100.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Other – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Other road assets (incl. bulk earth 
works) – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Roads

Sub-total 19,576 19,576 4,813 4,309 599,482 774,389 56.2% 28.7% 12.6% 2.4% 0.0%

Water supply network 4,087 4,087 923 1,799 56,064 77,537 44.0% 43.0% 7.0% 5.0% 1.0%
Other – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Water supply 
network

Sub-total 4,087 4,087 923 1,799 56,064 77,537 44.0% 43.0% 7.0% 5.0% 1.0%

Sewerage network 3,286 3,286 586 820 45,198 66,860 33.0% 47.0% 15.0% 5.0% 0.0%
Other – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Sewerage 
network

Sub-total 3,286 3,286 586 820 45,198 66,860 33.0% 47.0% 15.0% 5.0% 0.0%

Stormwater drainage 346 346 377 18 39,613 53,796 56.0% 26.0% 17.0% 1.0% 0.0%
Other – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Stormwater 
drainage

Sub-total 346 346 377 18 39,613 53,796 56.0% 26.0% 17.0% 1.0% 0.0%

continued on next page ... 
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Asset Class Asset Category

Estimated cost
to bring assets
to satisfactory 

standard

Estimated cost
to bring to the 

agreed level of 
service set by 

Council

2021/22 
Required 

maintenance   a

2021/22
Actual

maintenance
Net carrying 

amount

Gross 
replacement 

cost (GRC)

Assets in condition as a percentage of 
gross replacement cost

$ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 $ '000 1 2 3 4 5

Swimming pools 550 550 4 – – 550 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0%
Other – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Open space / 
recreational 
assets Sub-total 550 550 4 – – 550 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0%

Other – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%Other 
infrastructure 
assets Sub-total – – – – – – 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

  Total – all assets 31,202 31,202 7,962 7,829 810,407 1,073,946 51.9% 32.7% 12.4% 2.6% 0.3%

(a) Required maintenance is the amount identified in Council’s asset management plans.

Infrastructure asset condition assessment ‘key’

# Condition Integrated planning and reporting (IP&R) description
1 Excellent/very good No work required (normal maintenance)
2 Good Only minor maintenance work required
3 Satisfactory Maintenance work required
4 Poor Renewal required
5 Very poor Urgent renewal/upgrading required
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Murray River Council | Report on infrastructure assets as at 30 June 2022 | for the year ended 30 June 2022

§Note/Subtotal§

Infrastructure asset performance indicators (consolidated)   *

 Amounts Indicator Indicators Benchmark
$ '000 2022 2022 2021 2020  

Buildings and infrastructure renewals ratio
Asset renewals   1 8,763
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 21,851 40.10% 70.16% 136.06% >= 100.00%

Infrastructure backlog ratio
Estimated cost to bring assets to a satisfactory 
standard 31,202
Net carrying amount of infrastructure assets 820,444

3.80% 5.88% 2.60% < 2.00%

Asset maintenance ratio
Actual asset maintenance 7,829
Required asset maintenance 7,962

98.33% 117.19% 100.00% > 100.00%

Cost to bring assets to agreed service level
Estimated cost to bring assets to
an agreed service level set by Council 31,202
Gross replacement cost 1,073,946

2.91% 4.51% 1.97%

(*) All asset performance indicators are calculated using classes identified in the previous table.

(1) Asset renewals represent the replacement and/or refurbishment of existing assets to an equivalent capacity/performance as opposed to 
the acquisition of new assets (or the refurbishment of old assets) that increases capacity/performance.
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